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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (THE “GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, include particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

ERBERSMARAB (BT ])GEM( GEM ) &

GEMHYVESR > DARPPEAFRE—ELETHNTS - REQXTHLBREMERIA ETHARDTERSRERR - HER
ENMATETHBRENZSQVVWELERR  YEKSBEEEAFNZBRASHEHRERE -

HAGEMLEHAREERF/NELNT  EGEMEENESRTHEENBRXMERNEE RS EAZIRANTH RS AR -
BRELRBEGEMEENISSESRBENTS -

EER G RGETERAFIREEH ARG ERA AT A REZABTHTRE -~ H RIS TN TR K (7 #
9 - AR - BT AR E 2 B TR0 A B M E L A REZ S AT 5/ (AR AR

A& T EBIRE B A& X BHTGEME S LR ([ GEM_E TR ) 894 E Mttt BT BRI R BERL 7([ XL A))
HIEH e ARFIEEF([EF)BERAHEHKFARNESEEZAEE  LREL — R EEHE - BRI BEFIRARE
15 KERETREFHESBEA T B ERRTHE BRI - RIER TR M FERHE R EETE
BRI G ELRE



CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEIEF

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERWE

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B RO

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R g RERHSE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EXLSREREREE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWmE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE RS

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REZMGRE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ARE R REM 2 E a7

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE BRI E

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ERmEEX

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B2

Creative China Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2021

Pages
BH

19

34

75

79

113

120

121

123

124

126

227



REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN PRC

Room 1901, 19/F

Yulin Building

No. 5A Xiangjun Nanli 2nd Alley

Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

23/F, Yue Thai Commercial Building
128 Connaught Road Central
Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Philip Jian Yang (Chairman)
Ms. Yang Jianping

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yang Shiyuan

Mr. Ge Xuyu

Mr. Wang Yong

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Fu Yuehong

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen

Mr. Tan Song Kwang

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Philip Jian Yang
Ms. Kwan Wing Man

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Philip Jian Yang

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Kwan Wing Man

MEMBERS OF AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (Chairman)

Ms. Fu Yuehong

Mr. Tan Song Kwang

TSR

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEATR T EE XL

PRI RFGR
B g R2B 55
AR
191901 =

ERTESEME
e

IR

FaEEHR 12858
B EARE231E

BITES
BRITE(EE)
Bt

FHUITES
BiEELE
BBFRE
EBEE

BIFHITES
B+
ERRIR S
BRARSE e

REAER
BRIKE
L=l et

BREE
BRIKE

DNRAME
L=l e

BEREEERE
ERRIRSE A (%)
BRI+
BRARSE e

PEAIRZERERAR

Corporate Inform

A7

T —FEE®RE

2




orate Information
&1t

MEMBERS OF REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Ms. Fu Yuehong (Chairman)

Mr. Tan Song Kwang

Ms. Yang Jianping

MEMBERS OF NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Philip Jian Yang (Chairman)

Ms. Fu Yuehong

Mr. Tan Song Kwang

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen

Mr. Ge Xuyu

LEGAL ADVISER

Hong Kong Laws:

Stevenson, Wong & Co.

PRC Laws:

Jingtian & Gongcheng Attorneys at Law
Cayman Islands Laws:

Conyers Dill & Pearman

AUDITOR

CL Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
China Minsheng Bank

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 54

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
www.ntmediabj.com

STOCK CODE
8368

Creative China Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2021

FHESERE
BRI (FE)
BRARSE e
Bt

REZEERE
BRIFE(EE)
BRI+
BRARSE e
ERRIR ST
BBFRE

R

BEERE

PR EERMERAT
HETEE -

Bl iE: S N/N e
FHEHS EE -
FR{ERR RN = ISR

BB

ST ERAR
B

EE A I35 R R

FEEREBIT
RBBITRMBER DA
REHRITARRAA

PR TERITRNARAR
hERARTT

MEREROBFETAE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

BEEROBFELIE
BEBESFELRARAA
B
ERKRER1835
RISV

541

NGIE
www.ntmediabj.com
R

8368



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Creative
China Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2021.

REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (“Year 2021”), the
Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB59.3
million. Revenue increased by 29.9% over approximately
RMB45.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
(“Year 2020”). The Group recorded profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately RMB23.6 million,
representing an increase of approximately 17.8% as
comparing to approximately RMB20.0 million in Year 2020.
Program production, mobile application development and
operation and artist management segments recorded
reportable segment profit. The significant increase for
Year 2021 was primarily attributable to (1) sales of script
copyrights (including movies and online drama); (2) online
advertising; (3) customised development of entertainment
Internet mobile application and overall solutions for
customer; and (4) relevant business derived from artist
management.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s equity attributable
to owners of the Company amounted to approximately
RMB95.7 million (as at 31 December 2020: approximately
RMB67.5 million).

Looking back on 2021, the global novel coronavirus
disease (“COVID-19”) continued to spread and mutate,
the pandemic resulting in slowly recovering of the
macroeconomic environment. The Group has leveraged
its own production experience and related resources
to expand the program production segment to original
creation, adaptation, production, publishing and related
services, and successfully sold several script copyrights of
film.
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Although the pandemic continues to engulf the world, with
the relaxation of the social gathering restrictions in Mainland
China ahead to the rest of the world, market segments
such as the economy and market of film industry have
begun to recover in 2020, and the 2021 Spring Festival box
office hit a record high. The Group entered into cooperation
with Truth Pictures (Hong Kong) Limited (“Truth Pictures”)
and Yuanxin Pictures (Beijing) Limited (“Yuanxin Pictures”)
to carry out the distribution for six imported movies in
Mainland China. Truth Pictures and Yuanxin Pictures
have the expertise, experience and well-established
business networks within the industry, in particular their
founding team’s in-depth cooperation with Sony Pictures,
Paramount Pictures, DreamWorks Animation, Warner Bros.
Movies, Maoyan entertainment (J#ER %2 %), Alibaba Pictures
(PTE R %), Tencent Pictures (B2 %), Iqiyi Pictures (B &
272 China Film and Huaxia Film Distribution GEE & &)
as well as its landmark projects including, among others,
“Transformers: Age of Extinction (B2l 4 : BIFELE)”,
“Mission: Impossible — Rogue Nation (AR5 5: fBFUEE)”,
“Spectre (007 : YFE )", “Terminator: Genisys (4245% : &l
tH42)”, “Angry Birds (EZZH)/NG)”, “XXX: Return of Xander
Cage (IRPR#F T3 : #X45R[E§7)”, “Baby Driver (1 28 B518)”,
“Peter Rabbit (£t 15 %#)”, “The Current War (& 7 2 8)
and “Dance with Me (B2 Bk#%)”. The Group believes that
leveraging on the existing capabilities of the Group and the
combination of the strengths of the Group, Truth Pictures
and Yuanxin Pictures together, the Cooperation would
enable the Group to expand its arm into the film industry,
diversify its production and operation promotion business,
scale up its market share and reinforce its position in the
film industry, and broaden program production segment’s
income stream, thereby enhancing the Shareholders’ return
and maximizing the Shareholders’ interests in the long
term.

The Group has been providing planning, hosting,
organising and/or managing events services, including
expanding organising numerous celebrity concerts in Hong
Kong, Taipei, Bangkok and other Southeast Asian regions
for artists including Wilber Pan (% ¥ 1 ), BTOB (Born to
Beat), SEVENTEEN, NU’EST W, APINK, Jessica Jung,
Lee Joon-gi, NU’EST, and Jay Park. Due to the pandemic,
numerous concerts that had been forced to postpone,
leading to a decrease in the Group’s revenue from the
event organisation segment. Subject to the recovery of the
pandemic and the social gathering restrictions, under the
control of the actual pandemic situation, the management
will use its best endeavor to reschedule the contracted
concerts in Hong Kong, Taiwan and Southeast Asia.
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Over the years, the Group has dedicated efforts towards
the mobile application development and operation segment,
the Group generated revenue from developing customized
applications for customers during the period. The Group
entered into a cooperation framework agreement (the
“Cooperation Framework Agreement”) with Beijing Shu
Cai Cultural Media Limited* (“Shu Cai”) on 4 October
2021, on the aspects of creating and managing the official
pages for over 30 exclusive artists of Shu Cai on “Aiwoo”
(personalized mobile-based social networking platform of
the Group). The Group is optimistic about the prospects of
China’s mobile live broadcast and e-commerce industry,
especially live streaming e-commerce. A formal agreement
for this cooperation is still under negotiation, and if
materialise, will create new revenue stream under mobile
application development and operation segment such as
(a) fee paid by fan to enjoy exclusive information; and (b)
livestream e-commerce.

The Group started its artist management segment in
2018, has introduced world champion athletes, renowned
artists and trainees to join the Group. During the year,
we successfully arranged engagements including
commercial contracts, endorsements, and promaotions for
our contracted world champion athletes and renowned
artists, which generated considerable revenue for the
Group. Moreover, when the formal agreement with Shu
Cai is materialised, the Group will introduce and promote
endorsements to over 30 exclusive artists of Shu Cai and
generate more revenue under artist management segment.

OUTLOOK

With consistent strategy execution, based on the
integrated sales model, the Group leverages its own
wealth of experience and resources in content creation,
promotion, planning, contracted artists and internet mobile-
end applications, continues to strive to explore business
opportunities to expand operations and further develop
sustainable businesses, including (1) production and
distribution of movies, serial programs, online drama, variety
programs; (2) develop original film and television content
in collaboration with various film and television production
companies and studios; (3) distribution of imported movies;
and (4) expand of more athletes and artists resources.

*

For identification purpose only
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The Group has launched its mobile live broadcast business
which provides content production and marketing
promotion services, enlarging the revenue sources such
as advertising and planning and promotion income. We
have extensive live broadcasting experience in branding
and product strategy formulation. The COVID-19 epidemic
has accelerated the development of the stay-at-home
economy, further cultivated consumers’ online shopping
habits, and enhancing of new forms of live-streaming
shopping which gradually shaping users’ consumption
patterns. The Group will further explore the cooperation
opportunities of live broadcast promotion with celebrities
and key opinion leader on different e-commerce platforms
(including our own Great Star and Aiwoo), in order to bring
more diversified revenue.

With the development of computer 3D graphics, artificial
intelligence, extended reality and other technologies,
the application of virtual technology in the cultural and
entertainment industry continues to mature. In recent
years, virtual idols have emerged in the market of many
countries, and many virtual idols have also received high
attention in Mainland China. Virtual idol is a virtual image
displayed through technology, with a persona, which can
hold concerts, live broadcasts, endorsements and even
play roles in film and television dramas. The commercial
application of virtual idols has become increasingly mature,
and the market size is gradually increasing.

The Group’s mission is to pursue innovation to create
greater value. The development of virtual idols will
help to enhance the Group’s image in the cultural and
entertainment industry and may create new intellectual
property in the future. The Group will explore and research
various types of virtual idols (including those created based
on the avatars of real artists) to setup virtual businesses
for the artists management segment. The Group has a
rich experienced team with managing artists experiences,
operation experiences and various resources, and expects
to combine our artist management experience with
technology to systematically create and develop the virtual
artist business.

Creative China Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2021
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In early 2022, there were two more world-class badminton
athletes joined the Group. They have each won
championships and awards in a number of international
badminton competitions. The Group will continue to
arrange more commercial activities for our contracted
artists and athletes to generate more revenue.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our
appreciation to the Group’s employees for their hard work
and contributions during the past year.

Under the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, 2022 will
be an even more challenging year. With a solid business
foundation and through the efforts of our entire staff,
| believe that the Group will overcome these tough times,
working even harder to create greater shareholder value
and revenue.

Philip Jian Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Unless otherwise specified, the figures stated in the
following review are extracted from the audited financial
figures of the continuing operations of the Group:

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (“Year 20217),
the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB59.3
million, representing an increase of approximately 29.9%
over approximately RMB45.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 (“Year 2020”). The increase in revenue
was mainly due to several sales of script copyrights under
the program production and related services segment.

Gross profit

For Year 2021, the Group recorded gross profit of
RMB42.1 million, representing an increase of approximately
6.5% over RMB39.6 million recorded in Year 2020. The
increase in gross profit was mainly due to several sales of
script copyrights and revenue from developing custom APP
for customer.

Other income

Other income of the Group decreased from approximately
RMBO0.4 million in Year 2020 to approximately RMBO0.2
million in Year 2021, mainly due to much less government
subsidy being obtained for the year.

Expenses

For Year 2021, selling and distribution costs amounted
to approximately RMB1.8 million, as comparing to
approximately RMB1.0 million (increased by approximately
79.2%) from Year 2020, mainly due to increase in
development and maintenance costs. For Year 2021,
administrative expenses amounted to approximately
RMB13.9 million, which was similar to approximately
RMB13.2 million in 2020.
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Income tax expenses

The Group’s income tax expenses amounted to
approximately RMB1.9 million for Year 2021, and
approximately RMB76,000 for Year 2020. Income tax
expenses for Year 2021 were due to profits arising from
the sale of several script copyrights and revenue from
developing custom APP for customer. The provision
of profit tax made for Hong Kong profits tax and PRC
enterprise income tax in Year 2021 were RMB1.5 million
and RMBO0.4 million respectively. PRC enterprise income
tax for subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC is calculated
at 25% on assessable profits during the year. Hong Kong
profit tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of
the estimated assessable profit and 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit above HK$2 million during the year. The
income tax expenses recognised in the relevant periods are
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the
year

The Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB23.6 million, while for
Year 2020 the Group’s profit attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately RMB20.0 million. The
increase in profit attributable to owners of the Company
was mainly attributable to sales of script copyrights and
revenue from developing custom APP for customer.
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Financial resources, liquidity and capital structure

For Year 2021, the Group continued to finance its working
capital through cash flows generated from operating
activities, shareholders’ loan and shareholders’ equity. As
at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current assets
of approximately RMB87.3 million (as at 31 December
2020: approximately RMB109.3 million) including cash
and cash equivalents of approximately RMB6.1 million
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB11.4
million). The decrease in net current assets was due to
the reclassification of non-current trade payable to current
trade payable. The current ratio, calculated as the ratio
of current assets to current liabilities, was approximately
1.59 times as at 31 December 2021 (as at 31 December
2020: approximately 2.03 times). The capital of the
Group comprises solely of ordinary shares. Total equity
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB95.7 million as at 31 December 2021
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB67.5 million).
The gearing ratio for Year 2021 was 20.68%, increased
from 16.35% in Year 2020. It was mainly due to the
increase in net debt (For details, please refer to note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements).

Use of proceeds

Disposal of 19.25% of equity interest of Capital Land
Digital Entertainment Co. Ltd

On 28 August 2019, the Group entered into equity
transfer agreements with three different purchasers for the
disposal of 19.25% of equity interest of Capital Land Digital
Entertainment Co. Ltd., and the disposal was completed
on 31 December 2019 (“Disposal”). The total consideration
in cash was RMB15,400,000 and the net proceeds was
amounted to RMB14,735,000.

As at 31 December 2021, the net proceeds from Disposal
has been fully utilized as follows:

- approximately RMB6,635,000 has been utilised to
finance the production of TV serial programmes

- approximately RMB3,149,000 has been utilised to
pay for concert organisation expenses

- approximately RMB4,951,000 has been utilised for
repayment of shareholders’ loan
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Consideration shares

(1)

Cooperation Agreement involving the issue of
consideration shares under general mandate

On 20 October 2021, the Company, CCH Film
Production Limited, Truth Pictures (Hong Kong)
Limited (“Truth Pictures”), Yuanxin Pictures (Beijing)
Limited* (“Yuanxin”), (Truth Pictures and Yuanxin,
collectively as “Cooperation Partners”) and Mr.
Liang Long Fei, as the Guarantor, entered into a
cooperation agreement (“Cooperation Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Group and Cooperation
Partners have conditionally agreed to carry out
the cooperation in the distribution of the 6 foreign
imported films (“Target Films”) in the PRC at the
consideration of RMB30,000,000, which will be
settled by the allotment and issue of the consideration
shares by the Company to the Cooperation Partners
or their nominee(s) at the Issue Price on the
completion date.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, the
parties propose to carry out the distribution through
cinemas, television station and/or the New Media
(as the case may be) on an income sharing basis,
whereby the Group is entitled to () 82% of the Total
Net Income for the Target Film imported from Taiwan;
and (i) 100% of the Total Net Income for each of
the remaining Target Films respectively within the
Licensing Period. The actual income shall not be less
than RMB35 million (the “Guaranteed Income”), failing
which the Cooperation Partners shall compensate
the Group for the amount equivalent to the shortfall,
being the difference between the Guaranteed Income
and the actual income, in cash (the “Compensation”),
provided that the amount of the Compensation shall
not exceed the Guaranteed Income in any event.

As of the date of this report, the transaction has
not been completed and none of the consideration
shares have been issued. Details can be referred to
the Company’s announcements dated 6 September
2021, 20 October 2021 and 28 December 2021.

*  For identification purpose only
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Acaquisition of Mobile APP involving the issue of
consideration shares under general mandate

Pursuant to an agreement entered into between Idol
Entertainment Limited (the “ Vendor”), the Company
and Beijing Yiju Creative Technology Limited, a
company established under the laws of the PRC
and an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company (“Yiju Creative”) under GEM Listing
Rules on 27 May 2021 (the “Agreement”), Yiju
Creative had conditionally agreed to acquire, and
the Vendor had conditionally agreed to sell all assets
pertinent to Aiwoo (a mobile APP) including, among
others, its business, ownership, operating rights
and intellectual property rights at the consideration
of RMB14,000,000 in which the amount of
RMB4,000,000 out of the consideration was set off
against the deposit in the amount of RMB4,000,000
which had been paid by Yiju Creative to the Vendor
under an operation agreement, and the amount
of RMB10,000,000 out of the consideration was
satisfied by the allotment and issue of the 75,000,000
consideration shares (equivalent to 15,000,000
consideration shares post share consolidation being
duly passed by the shareholders of the Company by
way of poll at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 13 July 2021) at the issue price
of HK$0.16 per consideration share by the Company
to the Vendor. The acquisition was completed on 17
June 2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of
(i) program production, film and television program pre-
production, distribution and related services, (ii) concert
and event organisation, (i) mobile application development
and operation; and (iv) artist management.

Program production and related services

The Group’s revenue from program production and related
services amounted to approximately RMB40.4 million for
Year 2021 and approximately RMB18.3 million for the
corresponding period last year. The increase was mainly
due to several sales of script copyrights.

The Group has entered into the cooperation agreement
(for details can be referred to the section headed
“Consideration Shares” under this report and the
Company’s announcements dated 6 September 2021,
20 October 2021 and 28 December 2021) to distribute 6
foreign imported films in Mainland China. The Group, upon
completion of the transaction, believes that leveraging on
the existing capabilities of the Group and the combination
of the Group’s and the Cooperation Partners’ experience
and expertise, the cooperation would enable the Group to
expand its arm into the film industry, diversify its production
and operation promotion business, expand its market share
and reinforce its position in the film industry, and broaden
its income stream.

The Group actively collaborates with more film and
television production companies in the PRC engaging in
the creation of film and television intellectual property, in
order to obtain more potential resources and reserves
of television programs, online dramas and movies. The
Group continues to leverage its own production experience
and related resources to expand the program production
segment to original script creation, adaptation, production,
licensing, and related services, in order to create more self-
developed film and serial program script copyrights.
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Concert and event organisation

Revenue from the event organisation segment decreased
from approximately RMB1.2 million to approximately
RMBO0.3 million for Year 2021 (approximately 77.1%).
The decrease was mainly due to the global suspension of
concerts under the novel coronavirus outbreak.

The Group has entered into agreements to organise over
23 concerts (including K-pop artists and a renowned
top singer from the PRC), which are expected to be
rescheduled once the pandemic is under control.
As “K-pop” remains popular, we have been building
relationships with agencies for renowned Korean artists,
and we hope to re-introduce the Korean wave into
Mainland China at the appropriate time. We believe that the
business opportunities in the Mainland China market for
Korean artists (including fan meetings, concerts and other
commercial activities) will contribute additional income
sources for the Group at various levels, including but not
limited to ticketing sales, advertising sponsorships, internet
content promotion and sales of peripheral merchandise.

The Group anticipates that concerts to be organised will
achieve positive results in future.

Mobile application development and operation

Revenue from the mobile application development and
operation segment amounted to approximately RMB13.6
million for Year 2021, similar to revenue being recorded
for the Year 2020. The revenue was mainly due to online
advertising and developing custom APP for customer.
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Over the years, the Group has dedicated efforts towards
the mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce segment
and has established dedicated information technology
and promotional planning teams, each responsible for
technical support such as research and development,
planning, operations and maintenance, design, products
and provide internet platform promotional planning
services. The mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce
segment possesses smart mobile application development
capacity, and has successfully developed its own mobile
video live broadcasting technology, online transaction
payment technology and technology for simultaneously
playing video and completing payment without page
redirection, which has been applied in “Great Star”, the
Group’s self-developed mobile end application, and the
mobile application “ Aiwoo” being acquired in Year 2021
(an application providing online fans and celebrities with
online tools for engagement and interaction). The Group is
committed to the development of customized applications
and internet platform promotional planning.

Based on the above, the Board decided to change the
segment from “mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce”
to “mobile application development and operation”.

On 4 October 2021, Beijing Yiju Creative Technology
Limited (“Yiju Creative”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a cooperation
framework agreement (the “Cooperation Framework
Agreement”) with Beijing Shu Cai Cultural Media Limited*
(“Shu Cai”), which shall be valid for five years with automatic
extension of five years indefinitely if no party disagrees
when it expires.

According to the Cooperation Framework Agreement,
Yiju Creative and Shu Cai have agreed to establish a
cooperation on the aspects of creating and managing
the official pages for over 30 exclusive artists of Shu Cai
on the personalized mobile-based social networking
platform named “Aiwoo” (“Mobile APP”) owned by Yiju
Creative (the “Potential Cooperation”). The Potential
Cooperation is subject to the terms and conditions of the
formal agreement(s) based on each project (the “Formal
Agreement(s)”).

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group expects, upon the signing of the Formal
Agreement(s), the Cooperation Framework Agreement
will enable the Group to create synergy across its mobile
web application and operating business and its artist
management business. With China’s current effort to
regulate the entertainment business and provide proper
guidance to celebrity fan culture, a brand-new and healthy
development model will bring about unprecedented
changes and opportunities for the massive fan economy.
By providing a platform for personalized fan pages to be
established and private traffic to be managed, the Potential
Cooperation will provide tailored advertising services and
marketing solutions to commercial customers, and at
the same time, create more business opportunities and
revenue for the Group.

By implementing new elements to mobile application
development and operation and artist management
segments, the Group expects these mobile applications
will bring more peripheral revenue (including advertising,
product endorsements, etc.), while also increase revenue
derives from customized mobile applications and internet
platform promotional planning revenue.

Artist management

Revenue amounted to approximately RMB5.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021 and approximately
RMB12.6 million for the corresponding period last year.
The decrease was mainly due to less jobs being arranged
during the Olympics.

The Group will continue to work on the development
of mobile application and the expansion planning; and
introduce more artists proactively in order to promote the
online fans and stars to participate and interact through
“Aiwoo” (an APP to provide online fans and stars with the
tools necessary to engagement and interaction) in order to
generate more revenue to the Group.

Despite various external challenges facing the Group’s
businesses, the Group is confident that under the
leadership of our experienced management and the strong
teams formed by the seasoned staff, the Group will be able
to overcome any and all challenges. With various business
opportunities that the Group is currently exploring, the
Group believes that our business will continue to improve.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 26
employees (2020: 28). The decrease was mainly due staff
resignations in the fourth quarter while suitable candidates
for replacements have yet to be found. The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and the prevailing market situation. Their
remuneration packages are normally renewed on an annual
basis, based on performance appraisals and other relevant
factors. The Group may pay discretionary bonuses to its
employees based on individual performance.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS

Regular sales and purchases of the Group are mainly
conducted in RMB. The Group will review and monitor the
risk relating to foreign exchanges.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group paid approximately RMB42,000 for the addition
of property, plant and equipment during Year 2021 (Year
2020: approximately RMB37,000).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had capital
commitments of RMB25.3 million (Year 2020: RMB52.3
million) (Note 37).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There were no significant investments held as at 31
December 2021 (as at 31 December 2020: share
subscription) nor material acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries or affiliated companies made by the
Group during Year 2021 (Year 2020: equity disposal of
Beijing Octagons Impact Communications Co. Ltd.),
other than (i) the Cooperation Agreement involving the
issue of consideration shares under general mandate
and (i) acquisition of Mobile APP involving the issue of
consideration shares under general mandate, as disclosed
in the Management Discussion and Analysis under the
Consideration shares section, and (iii) acquisition of
shareholding interests in a subsidiary involving the issue of
consideration shares under specific mandate, as disclosed
in Events after the Reporting Period in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company are
committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company believes that
good corporate governance provides a framework that is
essential for effective management, successful business
growth and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to
the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

The Board has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. Continuous efforts are made to review
and enhance the Group’s risk management and internal
controls and procedures in light of changes in regulations
and developments in best practices. To us, maintaining
high standards of corporate governance practices is not
just complying with the provisions but also the intent of
the regulations to enhance corporate performance and
accountability.

The Board is pleased to report compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 December
2021, except where otherwise stated.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the directors (the “Required
Standard of Dealings”). The Company has confirmed,
having made specific enquiry of the directors, all the
directors have complied with the Required Standard of
Dealings throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises:

Executive directors:
Mr. Philip Jian Yang (Chairman)
Ms. Yang Jianping

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Yang Shiyuan

Mr. Ge Xuyu

Mr. Wang Yong

Independent non-executive directors:
Ms. Fu Yuehong

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen

Mr. Tan Song Kwang
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An updated list of directors and their role and functions is
maintained at the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange and the independent non-executive directors are
identified by name in all corporate communications.

Each independent non-executive director has given
an annual confirmation of his/her independence to the
Company, and the Company considers them to be
independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, five Board
meetings, one annual general meeting (“2021 AGM”) and
one extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) were held and
the attendance of each director is set out as follows:

Name of director

ESHR

Mr. Philip Jian Yang 5 &5t 4
Ms. Yang Jianping 572 1
Mr. Yang Shiyuan Stz 54
Mr. Ge Xuyu BEF 54

Mr. Wang Yong ;T B 5t

Ms. Fu Yuehong {84 2+
Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRIt %2 4
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen SRR %4

Ms. Fu Yuehong, an independent non-executive director of
the Company, was unavailable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 10 June 2021 due to
other business commitment.

Mr. Yang Shiyuan, a non-executive director of the
Company, was unavailable to attend the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 13 July 2021 due
to other business commitment.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

All the Directors (including the independent non-executive
directors) have acquired a proper understanding of the
Company’s operation and business and are fully aware
of his/her functions and responsibilities under statute
and common law, the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Every director
has given the Company the details on the number and
nature of offices held in other companies and significant
commitments at the time of his/her appointment.
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The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Group and be collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising the
Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on formulating the
Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating
performance; reviewing the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems; supervising
and managing management’s performance of the Group;
and setting the Group’s values and standards. Though
the Board delegates the day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Group to management,
all the directors continue to give sufficient time and
attention to the Company’s affairs. The delegated functions
are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure that they
accommodate the needs of the Group.

Apart from the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee (as defined below), an ESG
Committee was established to deal with environmental,
social and governance matters in 2021. The committee
comprising Mr. Philip Jian Yang, Mr. Fu Chung Yiu and
Ms Zhang Ying. The role and function of the committee
have been disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance report of this report. Save as disclosed above,
the Company did not set up any other board committees
for dealing with any matters during the year.

The Company has in force appropriate insurance coverage
on Director’s and officer’s liabilities arising from the Group’s
business. The Company reviews the extent of insurance
coverage on an annual basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions such as developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies, practices on corporate governance,
training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, etc. The Board has reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and legal
and regulatory compliance, as well as the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code.
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The Board holds meetings from time to time whenever
necessary. At least 14 days notice of regular Board
meetings would be given to all directors and they can
include matters for discussion in the agenda as they think
fit. The agenda accompanying Board papers would be
sent to all directors at least 3 days before the date of every
Board meeting in order to allow sufficient time for the
directors to review the documents. The Chairman would
also ensure that all directors are properly briefed on matters
arising at board meetings.

Minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to
all directors for their perusal and comments prior to
confirmation of the minutes. The duly signed minutes are
open for inspection by any director. The Board also ensures
that it is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary
information in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable
it to discharge its duties.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and
services of the company secretary with a view to ensuring
that Board procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. The Board members are enabled
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to assist them
to discharge their duties. They are also entitled to have full
access to Board papers and related materials so that they
are able to make an informed decision and to discharge
their duties and responsibilities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Philip Jian Yang is the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and is responsible
for the overall operations, management, business
development and strategy planning of the Group.

The Chairman also takes the lead to ensure that the
Board works effectively and acts in the best interest of the
Company by encouraging the directors to make active
contribution in Board’s affairs and promoting a culture of
openness and debate.

The Board is of the view that although Mr. Yang is both
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, the balance of
power and authority is ensured by the operation of the
Board, which comprises experienced individuals who
would meet from time to time to discuss issues affecting
operation of the Company. The Board will regularly review
the need to appoint different individuals to perform the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer separately.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The current Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”) provide that at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation and that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years.

The non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific
term but they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting in accordance with
the Articles. Each independent non-executive director is
required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if
there is any change that may affect his independence and
must provide an annual confirmation of his independence to
the Company. Up to the date of this report, no independent
non-executive director has served the Company more than
9 years.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist directors’ continuing professional development,
the Company recommends directors to attend relevant
seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programs such as external seminars
organised by qualified professionals, to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution
to the Board. Records of the training received by the
respective directors are kept and updated by the company
secretary of the Company.

The individual training record of each director received for
the year ended 31 December 2021 is summarised below:

Name of director

EEHR

Mr. Philip Jian Yang 15 &5t 4
Ms. Yang Jianping 52 2 1
Mr. Yang Shiyuan Stz 54
Mr. Ge Xuyu BBF £

Mr. Wang Yong ST B 54

Ms. Fu Yuehong & B4T 2+

Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRYAYE 5t 4E
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen BBIRR %4
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All directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to
participating any suitable training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) was established on 3 November 2015,
currently comprising 3 independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, Ms. Fu Yuehong and
Mr. Tan Song Kwang. Mr. Yau Yan Yuen is the chairman of
the Audit Committee. No member of the Audit Committee is
a member of the former or existing auditor of the Company.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
at the Company’s website and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems of the Company
and to provide recommendations and advices to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor as well as their terms of appointment.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of
the Audit Committee shall be held at least four times a year.

Five audit committee meetings were held for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The attendance of each
member is set out as follows:

Name of members of Audit Committee

BERREEREMR

Mr. Tan Song Kwang BEYAYE 74
Ms. Fu Yuehong f& 4T 2+
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen BBIRRE4
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At the audit committee meetings during the year, in
performing its duties in accordance with its terms of
reference, the work performed by the Audit Committee
includes:

(@ review and supervise the financial reporting process
and internal control system of the Company and its
subsidiaries;

(b) recommendation to the Board, for the approval
by shareholders, of the re-appointment of external
auditor and approval of their remuneration;

(c) determination of the nature and scope of the audit;
and

(d) review the financial statements for relevant periods
and discuss corporate governance practice.

Draft and final versions of the minutes of the Audit
Committee meetings will be sent to all committee members
for their comment and records within a reasonable time
after the meetings and the full minutes will be kept by the
company secretary who is also the secretary of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties and is enabled to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense, to discharge its responsibilities.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established on 3
November 2015, currently comprising three directors,
namely, Ms. Fu Yuehong, Mr. Tan Song Kwang and Ms.
Yang Jianping. Ms. Fu Yuehong is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available at the Company’s
website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include to make recommendation to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
directors and senior management of the Group, having
the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors of the
Group and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment, and making recommendations to the
Board of the remuneration of the non-executive directors.
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During the year, one remuneration committee meeting
was held and the remuneration of the directors and
senior management has been discussed. The members’
attendance is shown as follows:

Name of members of Remuneration Committee

FHEEEREMR

Ms. Fu Yuehong &4 2+
Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRYAYE %4
Ms. Yang Jianping #5222+

The emolument payable to directors depends on their
respective contractual terms under the service contracts
and the appointment letters, and as recommended by
the Remuneration Committee. Details of the directors’
emolument are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and is enabled to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to discharge its
responsibilities.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) was established on 3 November
2015, currently comprising the five directors, namely, Mr.
Philip Jian Yang, Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, Mr. Tan Song Kwang,
Ms. Fu Yuehong and Mr. Ge Xuyu. Mr. Philip Jian Yang
is currently the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available at the Company’s website and on the website of
the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board on regular basis, identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive directors
and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors. In considering
the nomination of new directors, the Board will take into
account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates,
especially their experience in program production and
event organisation and/or other professional areas and the
diversity criteria set out in the board diversity policy of the
Company.
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Under the nomination policy, the committee may search
for candidates for directors on an extensive scale in the
Company, its subsidiaries and the job market, gather
information of the preliminary candidates and then shall
submit to the board of directors its recommendations on
candidates for directors and relevant materials prior to the
election of new directors.

One nomination committee meeting was held during the
year ended 31 December 2021. No change has been
proposed to the structure, size and composition of the
Board during the meeting and the Nomination Committee
had also confirmed the independence of independent non-
executive director who would be retired and offer himself
for re-election at 2021 AGM and the diversity of the Board.

The attendance of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members of Nomination Committee

REZEERERR

Mr. Philip Jian Yang 15 &5t 4
Mr. Tan Song Kwang FR#2 ¢ 58 4
Mr. Ge Xuyu BBFL4E

Ms. Fu Yuehong f& 4T 2+

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen E[fUR %4

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and is enabled to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to discharge its
responsibilities.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also to enhance the
quality of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
directors. Two of them are women. Three of the directors
are independent non-executive directors and independent
of management, thereby promoting critical review and
control of the management process. The Board is also
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in
terms of professional background, gender and skills.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The management provides such explanation and
information to the Board and reports regularly to the Board
on financial position and prospects of the business of the
Company so as to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report) for preparing the
financial statements of the Group that give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Board was
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and the
Board has prepared the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. The responsibility of the external
auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on their
audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared
by the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders
of the Company. A statement by auditor about their
reporting responsibility is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.
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Risk Management and Internal Control systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk
management of the Group and endeavours to identify,
control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risks and the relevant measures have been disclosed in
the report of the directors on page 81 to 82 of this annual
report. The risk management and internal control systems
of the Company are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failures to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Each department of the Company would choose certain
material risk events in its field every year and assess and
grade the possibility of occurrence and influence of risk
events to determine the scope of material risk of the year
together with the management of the Company. Each
functional department prepares counteractions to deal with
material risks in its field and report the execution situation
regularly.

The Company does not have an internal audit function
and is currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group
in light of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s
business. It was decided that the Board would be directly
responsible for internal control of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and ensuring compliance
with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The situation
will be reviewed from time to time.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal
controls annually. The Board has conducted a review
of, and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2021 as well as the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function.

Creative China Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2021

EREERABEERSR

EZCEEFIEARRNEREEMAIBEITFIE - UK
Mﬁﬁﬁﬁm&ﬂ EECEEALERE RAREER
BAHBRIERR « 1EHIE R 2 R AR B A R E R
BN E h ﬁ@ﬂﬁ&hmaﬁ$iﬁ%&i&52§

EHREFEE - ARAIZEBREERAIPEIEHEE T
EEMNEERAENEEREMEAMKERR - R
M ERNERRASRIBA TR S RESEMIEBRE R

23
g °

ARRARFEFPFINBFHE AL RIERE TERNER
= YR EREAOBREAREREZEELFGELD
B NUMEARFREEERAZFIEARRNEEE - &
EBLAE I P I @ st R IR 48 Y B AR EEEYH AR
EMREBEONTER

AEEY EABBLNELARRERNARERE 2R
B M RAEEN - BANRRASERNR AN DEX
Wt - ARBEATERHEETSARAKE 2 AREEY

ERIE B iﬁﬂﬂﬁf%%iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ
€ HERFAELHES £ﬁ%k1ﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬂ¢®%ﬁ
PR - LA&E%E{% SPEAAR AR EIRE o BN

H‘IZ_E‘J' TT*‘% B

ExeeFRIEREERANTEENE BE-_F——
FHoA=+T—RHLFE EFeCRAREERAR
ERFIERRR - WRERTENEE - BTHERRE
B ﬁW#ﬁ&$ IS TEE LM B REREE - AWm
AR



With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Company has formulated its guidelines,
with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure
obligation of the inside information.

Dividend Policy

The Board has approved and adopted a policy for the
Company’s dividend distribution (the “Dividend Policy”).

The Company targets to provide sustainable returns to our
shareholders with maintaining the flexibility of resources
to meet the financial and business requirements of the
Company. The Board shall consider the Group’s financial
results, cash flow status, investment and operational
requirements, prospects and other factors to decide
whether to propose a dividend and determine dividend
payout ratio.

The distribution of dividend is also subject to compliance
with applicable laws and regulations including the law of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association.
Furthermore, the Company shall consider any banking or
other funding covenants by which the Company is bound
from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy
pursuant to the Group’s financial and operational status
from time to time and there can be no assurance that a
dividend will be proposed or declared in any given year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the fees for the

services provided by to the Company’s auditor are set out
as follows:
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, no non-audit
service provided by the Company’s auditor during the year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Kwan Wing Man was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 30 July 2021. The selection,
appointment or dismissal of the company secretary is
approved by the Board. Ms. Kwan is an employee of
the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. The biographical details of Ms. Kwan
are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management”.

For the year under review, Ms. Kwan has confirmed
that she has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for communication between the shareholders
and the Board. An annual general meeting of the Company
shall be held in each year and at the place as may be
determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than
an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary
general meeting (‘EGM”).

Right to convene EGM

Any one or more members holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition sent to the Company’s
principal office as set out in the manner below, to require
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
23/F, Yue Thai Commercial Building, 128 Connaught Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong, and such may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists.
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The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation
that the request is proper and in order, the company
secretary of the Company will ask the Board to convene
an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all the registered members. On
the contrary, if the request which has been verified is not in
order, the shareholders will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.
If within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed by the Company to the requisitionist(s).

The notice period to be given to all the registered
members for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according to
the nature of the proposal, as follows:

(@  Atleast 14 clear days’ notice in writing (@and not less
than 10 business days) if the proposal constitutes an
ordinary resolution of the Company;

(b) At least 21 clear days’ notice in writing (and not
less than 20 business days) if calling for an annual
general meeting or the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in EGM.

But if permitted by the rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange, a general meeting may be called by shorter
notice.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
for the attention of the company secretary.
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Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to purpose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law (2011 Revision). However,
shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the
Company’s Articles for including a resolution at an EGM.
The requirements and procedures are set out above.
Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles, no person other than
a director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the directors for election, be eligible for election as a
director at any general meeting unless a notice signed by
a member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election and also a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office or at the registration office
provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least 7 days and
that (if the notices are submitted after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election)
the period for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence
on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
7 days prior to the date of such general meeting. The
written notice must state that person’s biographical details
as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules. The
procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company’s
website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders. These include the annual general
meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company’s website
at www.ntmediabj.com.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there had been
no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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INTRODUCTION

Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We”) is engaged in the
businesses of program production and related services,
concert and event organisation and related service, mobile
application development and operation related services
and artist management.

BOARD STATEMENT

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has
overall responsibility for the effectiveness of the Company’s
ESG strategy and reporting, in order to ensure the Group
is operating its program production, mobile application
development and operation related services, concert and
event organisation and artist management businesses in a
responsible and sustainable manner.

ESG related matters are incorporated in the agenda of
Board meetings. The Board will review the progress made
towards achieving the ESG-related goals related to the
Group’s businesses as well as the effectiveness of the
management approach and strategy based on the report
submitted by the ESG Committee.

The Board is also responsible for reviewing the material
ESG issues and the ESG risk register to ensure appropriate
risk mitigation plans and control measures are in place.
Goals and targets are derived from ESG issues which
have material impact on the business. All sustainability
disclosures and internal policies are reviewed and endorsed
by the Board, while targets and performance are assessed
on a timely basis.

REPORTING PERIOD

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report cover the ESG
activities, challenges and measures taken by the Group for
reporting period during the year ended 31 December 2021
(the “Reporting Period” or “Year 2021”) in the Group’s
business operation in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

This ESG Report mainly covers the Group’s major
operating revenue activities under direct management
control, including its provision of program production and
related services, concert and event organisation and related
services, mobile application development and operation
related services and artist management. Compared with
the reporting boundary of ESG Report 2020, there is no
significant change.

APPROACH TO ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (“ESG”)

Governance Structure

The Group conducts a top-down management approach in
regards to ESG issues. The Board oversees and approves
strategy proposed by the ESG Committee of the Company
(“ESG Committee”). The Group assigns ESG Committee to
guide the sustainability directions and priorities.

The ESG Committee is responsible for (a) identifying
ESG related risks and issues in relation to the Group’s
businesses and making recommendations to the Board
on setting ESG related goals in relation to the Group’s
businesses as well as management approach and strategy;
(b) overseeing the formulation and implementation of action
plans; and (c) monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness
of action plans and ensuring their execution by respective
teams in order to achieve the ESG-related goals set by the
Board related to the Group’s businesses by reviewing the
key performance indicators of each action plan. The ESG
Committee will report to the Board periodically.

REPORTING STRATEGY AND FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in the Appendix 20
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”).
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During the preparation for the ESG Report, the Group
has applied the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG
Reporting Guide as the following:

° “Materiality” — The materiality assessment detailed
under the section headed “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment” have ensured the ESG
Report addresses the most material ESG topics
pertaining to our businesses.

° “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added
along with quantitative data disclosed in the ESG
Report to explain any standards, methodologies,
and source of conversion factors used during the
calculation of emissions and energy consumption.

° “Consistency” — Whenever deemed material, the ESG
Report details the standards, tools, assumptions
and/or source of conversion factors used, as well
as explanations of any inconsistencies to previous
reports.

For the Group’s corporate governance practices, please
refer to page 19 to page 33 for the “Corporate Governance
Report” contained in this annual report.

As the entertainment orgainser and content provider,
the Group is committed to managing sustainability as
an integral part of our business strategy. We focus on
four main aspects to establish a sustainability strategy
framework to help us operate responsibly across all aspects
of our business, namely: Innovative and Creative Content,
Talents, Conduct and Compliance.

When we formulate our approach towards the four aspects,
we seek to embed relevant materiality through assessment
into the process.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their views relating
to its businesses and ESG issues. In order to understand
and address stakeholders’ concerns, the Group
communicates with its key stakeholders, including but not
limited to: investors and shareholders, governmental and
regulatory authorities, suppliers, employees, customers,
peers and industry chamber of commerce, societies, non-
governmental organisation (“NGOs”) and communities via
through different channels such as conferences, electronic
platforms and financial reporting etc. In formulating
operational strategies and ESG measures, the Group takes
into account the stakeholders’ expectations and strives
to improve its performance through mutual cooperation
with the stakeholders, resulting in creating greater value
for the community. The following table indicates the
relevant stakeholders of the Group and the communication
channels between the Group and its stakeholders:
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Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations
HiE BERE HiE
Investors and shareholders o Annual general meeting ° Publish the latest corporate
TEERBER AR RAF R E information
e Financial reports MEAHTESRIER
B HRE e Financial results
e Announcements and circulars iR
N IR o Corporate sustainable development
e Investor meetings TEIFEER
wEESE

Governmental and regulatory
authorities

BN B

Suppliers
fHrem
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Regular working meetings
THTIFE#

Regular performance reporting
EHIERAR

Written response to public
consultation

EHEEARBS

Suppliers’ management meetings
and events
HEBEEERENEE

On-site inspections

i E R
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Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations

B RBEARER

Corporate social responsibility
TtELHERER

Fair competition

NFEF

Business ethics and reputation
[SESEEIEES

Win-win oooperatlon

{/E/ N
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Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations
BHE BERE Ul
Employees ° Employee opinion survey ° Health and safety
(== EEBRAE fEEET R
° Channels for employees to express Equal opportunity
their opinions (forms, opinion box TEe
and etc.) o Remuneration and benefits
REXERANEE(RE  BERME e Ryl
%) e Career development
e Regular management R
communication and performance
evaluations
EHIR B IR WA TR IR A%
° Employee communication and
broadcasting
B BmAERE
Customers o Customer satisfaction survey o Perform product and service
B EPREERE responsibilities
e Company’s website BITERMRBEEE
NaEA8uh e Customer Information and Privacy
Protection
B EERILEIRE
Societies, NGOs and communities Community investment ° Giving back to society
A - FEBUTHE SR8 HEIRE Bl &
° ESG reports ° Environmental protection
BB g RERmE RIBIRE
o Compliance operations
BRKE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT EEGRT

The management and employees who are responsible
for the key functions of the Group have participated in
preparing the ESG Report, assisted the Group in reviewing
its operation, identifying relevant ESG issues and assessing
the importance of these relevant issues to our businesses
and stakeholders. We compiled a questionnaire in
reference to the identified material ESG issues to collect
data from relevant departments and business units of the
Group.
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To determine the materiality of the selected ESG topics, the
Group collected, analysed the feedback of the stakeholder
groups, and mapped out the outcome in the materiality

matrix below to reflect their level of significance.

onmental, Social and Governance Report

RTHEEMERE HEMERTIENEEN AEEW
KU TPIEN DAL A EARE  UNA TEEN
MR - UARMES2E -

Stakeholder Engagement Materiality Matrix
MEAEEENSEE R SR

I EBNER T

vl
[=]

Importance to External Stakeholders ¥f5

16 14
® [ ]

o 2t . 12
oo e e 22— o3
4
o , o3
" 18
25
20/.01.9\17

[
10

Y

Importance to the Group ¥/ A& [ER)E 214

Environment 818

1 Air and Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions
BREAERE (DRERE] ) HM

Employment and Labor Practices {EfE &% % T H iR —

8 Relevant Law #BREEIR
9 Diversity and Equal-opportunity % tit & FE ke
10 Remuneration and benefits 7l E24% F|

2 Waste Treat t N

asie treaimen %Wf EE 11 Career development B 3=
3 Energy Consumption REJESH#E o
4 Water Management FI7KE 2 12 Anti-discrimination 2 I54%

i P 13 Occupational Health and Safety B ¥ f2FEAMZ 2

5 Waste recycling E& ¥ 1&¥= 7 A - R
6 Clmate ch SR 14 Technology and Training F24i7 K& 1531
N lr,na EC” Tgeu;ﬁ%vi;@ 15 Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour

oise Pollution 753 .

o B E T RIS T

[ [
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Operating Practices &E1&{|

16 Environmental and Social Risk Management of
Supply Chain
HEEIRE Mt SRR E 2

17 Fair competition and Business ethics and reputation
NEREREFEEREE

18 Quality and Safety of Services JRIGHNE &L 5

19 Intellectual Property (“IP”) Management and Privacy
HERE ([MEERE]) BB KEL

20 Social Moral Standards 1+ & & =12 %

21 Contributions to Society & 22§

[

CONTACT US

Your comments and suggestions on this ESG Report or
towards the Group’s performance in respect of sustainable
development through the following methods are welcome:

Mail address: 23/F, Yue Thai Commercial Building,

128 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
Phone: (852) 2153 1221

Fax: (852) 2153 3936

B HERES

Governance &34

22 Legal compliance & 5418

23 Prevention of Corruption, Fraud and anti-money laundering
1B - BRI

24 Ethics and integrity =M H{E

25 Risk management [&f& & 1R

ERFRFIR A%
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SAKREEAREERTANKREHESEALRES

WAL - BB LR T HIEBET 128 B R mE A= 231E
EiE ¢ (852) 2153 1221
{HH : (852) 2153 3936
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A. ENVIRONMENT
A1. Emissions

The Group is committed to ensuring the sustainable
development in our environment and community and
recognises the Group’s responsibilities towards the
potential environmental impacts associated with business
operations. We integrate environmental consideration
factors into our decision-making processes.

As a company in the media and entertainment industry,
the core businesses of the Group, mainly rely on electronic
and internet technology and related equipment and do
not involve any manufacturing processes in the course
of business. Therefore, during the Reporting Period,
the Group generated air emission only included the air
pollutants from fuel consumption of motor vehicles, GHG
emissions and non-hazardous waste generated by our
offices during operation and petrol consumption from
vehicles.

The Group recognises that the threat of global warming
and climate changes are the major environmental issues to
the world. Within our environmental policy framework, we
continually look for different opportunities to pursue less
carbon emission operation, environmentally friendly media
production, reducing energy use and recycle of materials
used in daily operation.

Steps taken

The Group has complied with relevant environmental
laws and regulations, including but not limited to “Air
Pollution Control Ordinance”, “Water Pollution Control
Ordinance”, “Waste Disposal Ordinance” of Hong
Kong as well as “Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric
Pollution”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste” of Mainland China. During the
Reporting Period, the Group has not identified any
material non-compliance of environmental laws and
regulations relating to the air and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would
have a significant impact on the Group.
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Air Emissions

The Group is principally engaged in media and
entertainment and does not involve any direct
manufacturing processes in the course of business.
Therefore, the air emissions are generated from use
of vehicles. The Group is committed to minimizing the
emissions generated during business operations as much
as possible. Air emissions and intensity were increased
in 2021 when comparing to 2020, mainly due to the
growing use of petrol for vehicles for business opportunities
during the Reporting Period and less employees as at 31
December 2021.

Steps taken

The Group’s air emissions are primarily attributable
to vehicle emissions, so we have implemented
the below measures to reduce the air emissions
generated from vehicle emissions:

° Optimise the operation procedure to improve
the laden ratio of motor vehicles and lower the
vacancy rate;

° Perform regular maintenance on vehicles to
effectively reduce fuel consumption, thereby
reducing the carbon emission and air emission;
and

° Eliminate substandard trucks in accordance
with the regulations of National Emission Policy
(National Standard 1V) to purchase regular
diesel and gasoline for vehicles and conduct
annual inspection to ensure the National
Emission Standards are met.

GHG Emissions
The consumption of petrol (Scope 1), electricity at the

offices (Scope 2) and paper at the offices (Scope 3) are the
largest sources of GHG emissions of the Group.
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During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emission of the
Group increased approximately 10.9% from approximately
43.27 tonnes CO,e in 2020 to approximately 47.99 tonnes
CO,e in 2021. The increase in total GHG Emissions (Scope
1, 2 and 3) and intensity were mainly due to the growing use
of petrol for vehicles for business opportunities during the
Reporting Period. A summary of emissions is as follows:
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RBERE - ARERNEERENAER S -_ZTFY
43 27— S bR E S MEL10.9%E =T = —FE 4914
MEA7 QE—F(LIRES - AT EHR(BE - 2&
NRETMERA LA TERNREHEENS KA ER
SMERELTVRAEMATE - AEREHEREBMELT ¢

Intensity Intensity
(Unit amount/ (Unit amount/
Key Performance Amount in employee?) Amount in employee?)
Emission Category Indicator (KPI) Unit 2021 in 2021 2020 in 2020
—8z- ZEIEE
HERE BE
“E--F (BEfigE/ “ECEE (BfiBE/
HHER BRENES Bfy fE =0 HE =0
Air Emissions from Vehicles SO, Kg 72.02 2.77 56.02 2.00
BRMNREE ety 7
NOx Kg 0.17 0.01 0.14 0.01
REln 7
PM Kg 6.71 0.26 522 0.19
k) 7
GHG Emissions Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) Tomnes CO¢ 27.59 1.06 2325 0.83
BERBHM — petrol consumption B-gltixgg
EFREREHN(EET)
— AR
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2)° Tomnes CO¢ 19.22 0.74 18.86 0.67
~ electricity consumption B-gltixEg
R REREHR(5E)°
—-FRR
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 3) Tomnes CO¢ 1.18 0.05 1.16 0.04
— paper consumption B-gltixgg
iR ERBHR(EE)
—HRER
Total GHG emission (Scope 1, 2 and 3)* Tomnes CO¢ 47.99 1.85 4327 1.55
RERBHHAE(EE1  2R3) =1 (4745
Notes: 2
1. GHG emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide 1. RERBHNEURTIREBE I MEMO AR ERER

equivalent and was in reference to “How to prepare an
ESG Report? — Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the HKEX.

2. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 26
employees; as of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total
of 28 employees. This data will be also used for calculating
other intensity data.
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3. 2020 Indirect Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 2) -
electricity consumption data has been updated based on
the emission factor of “How to prepare an ESG Report
Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
from 21.52 to 18.86. The main reason for the update is
that the emission factor being used in last year was based
on the 2019 emission factor in the Hong Kong Electric
Sustainability Report 2020.

4. Total GHG emission (Scope 1, 2 and 3) of 2020 has been
updated from 45.93 to 43.27 due to the update of Indirect
GHG emission (Scope 2). Please refer to note 3 for detail.

Steps taken

In addition to the vehicle energy saving measures
mentioned in the section “Air Emissions” at this level,
we have actively adopted the following measures
to mitigate the GHG emissions in our operations. At
the office operation, we promote everyone to turn off
the air-conditioning system at night or when leaving
office, keeping the office temperature at 25°C in
summer and promote using LED lights or energy-
saving light in the office, etc.

The Group will also issue environmental-related
memorandum to its staff to raise their awareness of
environmental preservation. Moreover, notices and
posters relating to the environmental information
have been placed in the offices to promote the best
practice of the environmental management. During
the year, we have ensured teleconference or video
conference facilities are equipped in the offices that
reduce business travel and meetings needed so as to
reduce carbon emissions.

Waste Treatment

The Group adheres to waste management principle and
strives to properly manage and dispose wastes produced
by our business activities. Our waste management practice
has been complied with relevant laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection.

Due to the Group’s business nature, we did not generate
significant amount of hazardous waste. Despite the
foregoing, the Group must appoint a qualified chemical
waste collector to manage the wastes if any hazardous
wastes are generated, in order to comply with the
environmental-related laws and regulations.

The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group’s
operations mainly consist of paper, toner cartridges and ink
cartridges.
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During the Reporting Period, the total non-hazardous waste
emission of the Group decreased approximately 4% from
approximately 270.75 kg in 2020 to approximately 260.20
kg in Year 2021. The total non-hazardous waste emission
was decreased mainly due to reduction of color printing
and the Group did not use ink printer for the Reporting
Period. The increase of total non-hazardous waste emission
intensity from last year of 9.67 to the Reporting Period of
10.01 was mainly due to more documentation material in
relation to new business opportunities during the Reporting
Period. A summary of non-hazardous waste emission is as
follows:
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RREEE - ASBENEESEVRENER S _SF4
270.75F LR A 84% 2 —F — —FF 426020 T 7 - £
ZEMHERAERONEZRASNRE BB TR
il R N 62 B A0 4455 PR IE 2R 4T i - =RV EERE R E
B ATV MEREHR10.01 - TE2HA R ETE
TEH AR S ERHE TR - EEEMIERKRIAME
o

Intensity Intensity

(Unit amount/ (Unit amount/

Amount in employee?) Amount in employee?)

Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Unit 2021 in 2021 2020 in 2020

—EC-F —E-BF

—B--F (BRgE/ —E-TF  (BuHES

BRENER By #E =0 yE (=0

Paper Kg 245.00 9.42 240.95 8.61
R T

Toner cartridge® Kg 15.20 0.58 28.8 1.08
R Ess T

Ink cartridge® Kg - - 1.00 0.04
BEo T

Total non-hazardous waste emission  Kg 260.20 10.01 270.75 9.67
BEEDHEE T

Notes: Bt -

5. The weight for one toner cartridge is approximately 0.8 kg.

6. The weight for one ink cartridge is approximately 0.2 kg.
Steps taken

We regularly monitor the consumption volume of
paper, toner cartridges and ink cartridges and have
implemented a number of reduction measures. We
also encourage our staff to sort and recycle the
wastes to achieve the objectives in mitigating wastes,
reusing and recycling in its operations. The Group
maintains high standard in waste reduction, educates
its employees the significance of sustainable
development and provides relevant support in order
to enhance their skills and knowledge in sustainable
development.
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Moreover, we also encourage employees to
participate in daily waste reduction management,
including:

° Promote green information and electronic
communication, such as e-mail and electronic
workflows, to implement “paperless system”
concept;

° Place “Green Message” reminders on office
equipment;

o Reuse old envelopes and use double-side
printing, while paper for single-side printing
would be only adopted when handling official
documents and confidential documents when
necessary; and

° Recommend the use of recycled paper.
A2. Use of Resources

The Group strives to optimise resource usage in business
operations, and continues with initiatives to introduce
resource efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the
Group’s operations. The Group has established policies
and measures in governing the efficient use of resources,
aiming to achieve higher energy efficiency and reduce
unnecessary use of materials. All offices have implemented
effective energy conservation measures to reduce
emissions and resource consumption.

Energy Consumption

Due to the business nature of the Group, the volume of
energy consumption, electricity consumption and water
consumption are considered as relatively low, in particular
water consumption is very limited. As mentioned in
the section A1, the Group has formulated policies and
procedures relating to the environmental management,
including energy management. Office electricity
consumption and vehicle petrol consumption account for
the major energy consumption for the Group.
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During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption
of the Group increased approximately 23.4% from
approximately 113,761.66 kWh in 2020 to approximately
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RBEHHE  AEBNRFREREER _S_TF
#9113,761.66 T L I 4)284% E — T — —F F 4

140,381.45T Fbs - EREMBRERERERAE L =

140,381.45 kWh in 2021. The increase in total energy EENMENHBNS K ERSMEREZ R EHAT
consumption and intensity were mainly due to the growing H e RHHEEMEEEMENT ¢
use of petrol for vehicles for business opportunities during
the Reporting Period. A summary of consumption in petrol
and electricity is as follows:
Intensity Intensity
(Unit amount/ (Unit amount/
Amount in employee?) Amount in employee?)
Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Unit 2021 in 2021 2020 in 2020
—EC—-F —E-BF
—B--F (B gE/ —E-TF  (BuHES
BRENER By gE =0 yE (=0
Petrol’ kWh 113,311.45 4,358.13 87,199.66 3,114.27
pac: FRE
Electricity kWh 27,070 1,041.15 26,562.00 948.64
EW) FRE
Total energy consumption kWh 140,381.45 5,399.29 113,761.66 4,062.92
BEREREEE F R
Note: &t -

7. The actual petrol consumption in 2021 and 2020 was
approximately 11,629.20 litres and 9,852.38 litres,
respectively.

Steps taken

On top of the measures of mitigating the energy
consumption mentioned above and under section Air
Emission in relation to relevant steps taken to reduce
air emissions generated from vehicle emission, the
Group strives to utilise telephone or video conference
to minimise face-to-face meeting in order to reduce
petrol consumption in traveling and unnecessary
business trips. The Group encourages resources
saving in daily office operation and proactively
fosters a low-carbon corporate culture, which further
increases our employees’ awareness in energy
conservation.
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Water Management

The Group does not consume significant water in
our business activities. Regardless of limited water
consumption, we still promote behavioral changes at office
and encourage water conservation. Pantry and toilets are
posted with environmental messages to remind employees
of water conservation, which results in enhancing our
employees’ awareness in water conservation. Due to the
geographical location of the Group’s operation and nature
of business, there is no issue in sourcing water.

As the water used in the Hong Kong office is managed
by the property, the relevant actual water consumption is
not recorded and the total water consumption includes
only the Beijing office. During the Reporting Period, the
total water consumption was approximately 105.00 cubic
meters, which was similar to that of 2020, but the intensity
of total water consumption of cubic meters per employee
was increased by 6.7% from approximately 3.79 cubic
meters in 2020 to approximately 4.04 cubic meters in
2020. The increased was mainly due to the significant
change in hygiene habit and disinfection procedures that
had been influenced by the pandemic. A summary of water
consumption (equivalent to wastewater discharge) is as
follows:
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HKEE

REBEXBETETIEAEBAK - #ARKERR - 8
BIPULHEB R AENTTAE - SBETKIAZK o ZROKE &
AFHEBMARRALR  REREHOAK  AFREST
BEMEKER - ERELLE U EREBEE - KN
SEDR AT KEUE AR ERREE -

HRBEBNAEZ A/KAYEESE @ HEEREKEWSR
Brotr  AL@FEKERBIEILRRAT - HIkE B -
BFEKEL105.00 F KBS _ZFIFE - HERES
R FHEFEKERELINL6.7% AT -FF#3.79
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Intensity Intensity

(Unit amount/ (Unit amount/

Amount in employee? Amount in employee?)

Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Unit 2021 in 2021 2020 in 2020

—EC-F —E-BF

—B--F (B gE/ —E-%F (BuEES

BRENER By #E =0 Y& (=0

Total water consumption Cubic meters 105.00 4.04 106.00 3.79
HBIEKE SR

Steps taken FEE i

The Group controls the consumption of water by
strengthening the water conservation education
work for all staff and conducting leakage test and
maintenance work regularly.

Use of Packing Material

Due to our business nature, the Group did not have
significant physical products for sale and therefore did not
involve any use of packaging materials. Therefore, this
disclosure is not applicable to the Group.
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Target

Given the business nature and development strategy amid
the current economic situation during the pandemic, the
Group believes that it is more appropriate to set a longer
targets after the economy has fully recovered to implement
a more environmentally friendly model. The Group has
set emission targets to maintained at the level of the
Reporting Period for Year 2022 in relation to the total GHG
emission, non-hazardous waste and use of resources. We
will continue to adopt the measures in this ESG Report to
achieve the targets.

A3. Environment and Natural Resources
Environmental Impact Management

The Group recognises the responsibility in minimising the
negative environmental impact of our business operations,
in order to achieve sustainable development for creating
long-term values to our stakeholders and community as
a whole. The Group pursues the best practices in the
environment protection and focuses on the impact of
the Group’s businesses to the environment and natural
resources. In addition to complying with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations as well as to protect
the environment, the Group has integrated the concept of
environmental protection into its internal management and
daily operations, with the aim of achieving environmental
sustainability.

Noise Pollution

Most of the Group’s production are conducted in the
studios with good soundproof facilities. However, we strive
to continuously monitor if the business operations incur
any potential impact to the environment, necessary noise
pollution practices are implemented during our program
production and concert and event organisation activities
to minimises such impact to the environment. The Group
regularly reviews its environmental protection policies and
has adopted the necessary precautionary measures and
actions to reduce significant impact on the environment
and natural resources, and ensure that the Group complies
with relevant laws and regulations.

Outdoor Lightings

The Group strives to minimise any unnecessary interference
to the natural landscape and animal habitat in the
process of programs production and concert and event
organisation, in order to maintain the natural beauty of
the environment. During outdoor production and concert
and event organisation, the lightings are adjusted to avoid
disturbing neighborhood whenever possible. Most of the
programs are also shot in the indoor area.
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A4. Climate Change

The Group believes that climate change is affecting
societies and economies around the world and therefore it
also impacts upon our business. The Group has identified
the potential financial or strategic impact on our business
are set out below.

Transition Risks
1. Policy and Legal Risk

The Group acknowledge the recent update of the
Exchange’s ESG Guide in respect to significant climate-
related impact disclosures of an issuer. As no concert and
events were being held during the year, we are not aware
of any current specific regulatory requirements related to
carbon emissions that present immediate or significant risk
to the Group’s operations.

2. Market Risk

Consumers appetite for entertainment content has
increased significantly. This demand will lead to an
intensive competition among competitors. The products
and services such as original script creation and adaptation
are continuously shaping to fit the market demand. As an
entertainment content provider, we are committed to work
closely with our partners and understand the needs of our
customers through communications.

Steps taken

The Group actively collaborates with film and
television production companies engaging in the
creation of film and television intellectual property, in
order to obtain more potential resources and reserves
to enhance our content attractiveness, relevance and
competitiveness.

Physical Risks
Acute Risk

Most of the acute physical risks which the Group is
exposed to are tied to the potential impact that climate
change may have on the risks of extreme events
(eg, floods, storms, pandemics). If these physical risks
materialise, it may pose risks to the Group’s concert and
event organisation segment resulting in incurring extra cost
due to cancelation of concerts and event.
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Chronic Risk

Gradual changes in mean temperature has the potential
to reduce outdoor daytime activities. Such as outdoor
concerts during the day and outdoor day jobs of our
artistes.

While the quantification of these risks and the timing
remains challenging, the Group is of the view that these
risks and opportunities have already impacted its business
decision-making process and have led to a number of
new initiatives and mitigations. The segment being heavily
impacted is the postpone of certain concerts. More
updates are available in Management Decision and Analysis
of the Annual Report.

Steps Taken

The Group has either entered into an extension
agreement or obtained mutual understanding with
artists to reschedule concerts once the social
gathering limitation being uplift accordingly.

B. SOCIETY
B1. Employment

For our industry, human resources are regarded as the
Group’s the largest and most valuable assets and the
foundation in supporting the development of the Group.
They provide the driving force for continuous innovation
to the Group. The Group established relevant policies
to support our human assets. These policies covering
recruitment, compensation, promotion, working hours and
holidays, diversity and equal opportunity, etc. The Group’s
Staff Handbook contains polices in regards to recruitment,
promotion, discipline, working hours and leave. The human
resources department has been responsible for ensuring
all employees have fully understood the contents of the
handbook.
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The Group has complied with all laws and regulations on
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare,
including but not limited to the “Companies Ordinance”,
the “Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance”,
“Minimum Wages Ordinance”, the “Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance” of Hong Kong and the “Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Regulations on
Labour Security Supervision” of Mainland China. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance incident with local employment-related laws
and regulations in that would have a significant impact on
the Group.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group has actively implemented the strategy of
strengthening enterprise through talents, established
and been continuously improving the talent recruitment
and selection system. In the recruitment process, the
Group has standardised the recruitment process and
principle, adhered to the employment principles of morality,
knowledge, ability, experience and fitness applicable
to job positions as well as the principles of openness,
fairness, competitiveness and on a selective basis, so as to
continuously attract and recruit talents.

The Group conducts classified management for employees,
specifies the basis and process of management for staff
promotion, transfer and demotion, regulates the departure
and dismissal process, and protects the interests of both
employees and the Group.

In addition, unreasonable dismissal of staff under any
circumstances is not allowed in the Group. The dismissal
process will only be conducted on a reasonable basis and
will ensure that adequate communication has been made
prior to the formal dismissal. During the Reporting Period,
the total employee turnover rate of the Group was 26.9%.
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As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 26 Hz—%
g

—H£+-A=1t—H KAEEHFAH26%E

employees, which are divided as follows: 8 HEowT:
Age group FEe
Unit: Number of employees
B EEAH™
Aged
Aged 30 between Aged 51
or below 30 to 50 or above Total
Gender 4 5l 30EBAT 30-505% S51m=mEA L e
Male Bk - 7 3 10
Female g 4 10 2 16
Total et 4 17 5 26
Position Bl
Unit: Number of employees
B EEAY
General staff Management Total
Gender Bl —RIEE EEE ey
Male B4 7 3 10
Female peg 15 1 16
Total @E 22 4 26
Employment type PR
Unit: Number of employees
B EEBAH
Total
mE
Full time 2% 26
Part Time RO -
Total 1A ER 26
Geographical location 1% 2 77
Unit: Number of employees
By EEAY
Total
Locations g e
PRC A A 20
Hong Kong BA 6
Total BE 26
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The following tables below show the employee turnover
rate by gender, age group and geographical region in Year
2021 :

Employee turnover by category
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BIEF &) 7 1B B i K F

Unit: Number of employees

B EEBAH
Age group
Fir
Aged
Aged 30 between Aged 51

or below 30 to 50 or above Total

Gender T Bl 30E R T 30-505%  51mEE L mE

Male 51 - 2 - 2

Employee turnover rate (%) BEMAKE(%) % 28.6% % 20.0%

Female 2 2 3 - 5

Employee turnover rate (%) BEMAKE(%) 50.0% 30.0% % 31.3%

Total B 2 5 - 7

Total employee turnover rate (%)  #21& 875K & (%) 50.0% 29.4% % 26.9%

Geographical location Hh [z &) 77
Unit: Number of employees
B EEAY

Employee
Employee turnover
turnover rate (%)
Locations i) BERK BERKE
PRC A 7 35.0%
Hong Kong B - -%

The turnover data in headcount was obtained from the
Group’s human resources department based on the
employment contracts entered into between the Group and
its employees. Turnover rate was calculated by dividing
the number of employees who resigned in FY2021 by the
number of employees in FY2021.
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Remuneration and Benefit

The management regularly reviews the Group’s
remuneration and benefits policies in reference to the
market standards and is committed to safeguarding the
rights and interests of the staff. Remuneration and benefits
have been adjusted on an annual basis in accordance
with the employees’ individual performance, contribution
and market conditions. The Group has established KPIs
for performance evaluation. Based on the result, the
Group offers rewards to employees in encouraging their
achievement.

The Group earnestly safeguards the legitimate rights and
interests of labour, in accordance with the requirements
of the laws and regulations of the “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China” of Mainland China and the
“Employment Ordinance” of Hong Kong, respects the
rights of employees to rest and take leave, and regulates
the working hours and their rights for various types of rest
times and holidays. We implements the paid annual leave
system for employees and overtime wage is paid for labour
exceeding statutory working hours in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the “Regulation on Paid
Annual Leave for Employees”.

Diversity, Equal-opportunity and Anti-discrimination

The Group strictly complies with various national and local
government laws and regulations by adopting a fair, just
and open recruitment process and developing relevant
system files to eliminate discrimination in the recruitment
process, whose employees faces no discrimination
regardless of race, social status, religion, nationality,
disability, age, marital status, gender, pregnancy, sexual
orientation, membership of the union, political connection
and etc., and thus allowing employees to enjoy fair
treatment in every aspect including hiring, salary, training,
promotion, determination of labour contract, retirement or
other aspects related to employment, with an endeavour to
attract professionals with diverse backgrounds to join the
Group. We strive to provide equal opportunities in every
aspects, committed to maintaining the employee diversity
and strongly prohibit any unfair treatment.
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B2. Health and Safety
Occupational Health and Safety

The Group highly values the health and safety of employees
and strive to provide a healthy, safe and comfortable
working environment for employees. We have been trying
to eliminate potential health and safety hazards in the
working environment and conduct safety management in
every aspect to secure the personal safety and health of
employees during work. The human resources department
is responsible for setting up an occupational health and
safety management system and well-stocked first-aid kits
to provide a safe working environment for employees. The
objective of the system is for monitoring and reviewing the
safety and health of employee periodically, and performing
regular checking in the office to ensure the safety of
working environment. The Group has established an
office security, safety and other standards to identify and
minimize potential risks in the workplace. In response to
COVID-19, the Group has established a safety protocol
and guidelines to uplift a safe working environment for our
employees and working partners.

The Group has complied with all laws and regulations
related to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards, including
but not limited to, the “Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance” and “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
of Hong Kong and “Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases”, the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety” of
Mainland China. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any non-compliance incident with local
health and safety related laws and regulations in that would
have a significant impact on the Group.

The Group prioritises its staff and working partners at all
times.

There were no work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the Reporting Period. There
was no lost days due to work injury in the Reporting Period.
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B3. Development and Training

The Group places great emphasis on the establishment
of the enterprise’s internal management training and
development system, employees are regarded as the
Group’s largest and most valuable assets and the core of
the competitive advantage. We provide staff with training
courses for upgrading skills, knowledge and development
as needed and meet the different needs of employees at all
levels.

The Group encourages and supports employees to
participate in personal and professional training. The Group
also encourages the culture of sharing of knowledge and
experience.

The continuous professional development of the Directors is
highly valued by the Group, which ensures the compliance
with relevant regulations and good corporate governance
practices. The Group utilised online resources and
provided training materials all Directors to ensure that they
understand the directors’ responsibilities and obligations
under the GEM Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The following tables below shows number of employees
and percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category and the average training hours
completed per employee:

Number of employees and percentage of employees
trained by gender and employee category
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Number of employees

BEAE
Senior Middle General

Management Management staff Total
Gender R BREERE HREERE —kES ok
Male Eil 3 1 1 5
Percentage being trained (%) ZHEE (%) 100.0% 100.0% 16.7% 50.0%
Female g3 1 3 5 9
Percentage being trained (%) ZFIEE (%) 100% 75.0% 45.5% 56.3%
Total being trained BE 4 4 6 14
Percentage being trained (%) XHlE B K E8(%) 100% 80.0% 35.3% 53.8%
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Average training hours completed per employee
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Unit: Number of hours
B B

Senior Middle General

Management Management staff Total
Gender Bl BREEE RREEE —RES Pk
Male B 9.0 1.1 0.2 2.91
Female g3 2.0 0.8 0.5 0.7
Total B 7.2 0.9 0.4 15
B4. Labour Standards B4.4 T %8|
Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour BriE BT RE#H% T

The Group strictly prohibits employing any child labour or
forced labour in its operations in Hong Kong and Mainland
China.

The Group has complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations related to the prevention of child labour or
forced labour including but not limited to, the “Employment
Ordinance” of Hong Kong and the “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, “Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labour” of Mainland China.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with child and forced labour-
related laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group.

Steps taken

The Group has established a well-defined recruitment
process which examines the background of
candidates and a formal reporting procedure for
handling any exception. During the recruitment
process, the age of the applicant is verified against
the identity documents of the applicant. In addition,
the Group conducts regular reviews and inspections
to prevent any child labour or forced labour in
operation.

In the meantime, the Group also avoids engaging
vendors and contractors which are already known
to be employing child labour or forced labour in their
operations.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Environmental and Social Risk Management of
Supply Chain

The Group understands the importance of supply chain
management in mitigating the indirect environmental and
social risks. We are aware of the environmental and social
practices of the suppliers, and try to engage suppliers with
responsible acts to the society in view of green supply chain
management. The Group has established and implemented
the Supplier Management Policy in order to strengthen the
selection of suppliers. We welcome qualified, competent
and high-quality suppliers to join.

The Group’s procurement department is responsible for
organising the supplier evaluation work in two ways which
include the ongoing project evaluation and the annual
assessment. The evaluation results will serve as the basis
of supplier management. Suppliers need to quickly respond
to the assessment result, and adopt effective measures
to improve the services provided within prescribed period.
The Group has the rights to terminate the cooperation with
service providers who violate the rules or do not meet the
targets.

The Group has formulated Supplier Selection Policy
and preserve a Supplier Registration. In the selection
of new suppliers, the Group considers their operational
and compliance records as well as their commitment
level on top of cost consideration. Prior to conducting
business with suppliers, we carry out annual reviews and
evaluations in various aspects including occupational health
and safety, employee rights protection, environmental
protection and corporate social responsibility. This ensures
that our operations comply with national standards or
relevant regulations and that we have no child or forced
labour issues. The assessment results will be used
as a benchmark for the continuation or termination of
cooperation in the future.

The Group considers the principle of environmental
protection. For example, in the course of selecting
suppliers for each project, we assess whether the materials
used by the suppliers in the activities are hazardous to the
environment and whether they can effectively conserve
energy and minimise carbon emissions.
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The Group maintains close liaison with its suppliers to
monitor its performance to ensure that it is consistent with
its service commitment. During the Reporting Period, the
Group worked with 9 suppliers, of which 1 located in Hong
Kong, 1 located in Taiwan and 7 located in the PRC.

B6. Product Responsibility

We have always maintained communication with customers
to ensure that we understand and satisfy customers’
needs and expectations, and hope to understand
customers’ satisfaction to continuously improve our
production quality. We strictly comply with relevant laws
and regulations, including but not limited to, the “Trade
Descriptions Ordinance” of Hong Kong as well as the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests”, the “Advertising Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Interim Measures
for Administration of Internet Advertising”, the “Product
Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China” of Mainland
China and other laws and regulations relevant to consumer
rights. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any significant matters that violated the laws and
regulations relevant to product and service quality.

Quality and Safety of Services

As a media and event producer, we define quality of
the production content as the key to improve customer
satisfaction. The Group pays high attention to both quality
and safety of the service. The Group has established
relevant quality and safety inspection policies for different
projects, communicates with our customers and confirms
their project expectation and direction prior to launching
any project, and actively coordinates projects with
customers in the process of providing services.

During the Reporting Period, there were no services or
products being recalled for safety and health reasons, and
no services or products related complaints being received.
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IP Management and Privacy

The Group’s daily operations involve the use of the
IP owned by customers, suppliers or the Group itself.
Therefore, the protection of IP rights is an extremely
important task for the Group. When the Group engages
with its customers or suppliers, it will include the protection
of IP in the contractual terms. The Group will also review all
the contracts in operation and ensure that the contractual
terms protect both parties’ IP rights. The Group also
requires technical professionals to sign strict confidentiality
agreements. Confidential information of our customers is
only accessible to employees who are responsible for the
corresponding project.

The Group has established data privacy policy to handle
various data and information to ensure the compliance with
local laws and regulations. Confidential personal data is
stored at security server with access control.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complies with
relevant laws governing the confidentiality of data and
IP, including but not limited to “Trade Marks Ordinance”,
“Copyright Ordinance”, “Patents Ordinance” of Hong Kong
as well as “Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China” of
Mainland China.

Social Moral Standards

Media and broadcasting companies have social
responsibilities on its content propagated to the public as
its huge impact to the vast amount of audience. Based
on the nature of the business, most of the content on the
internet channel is online live broadcast or produced by
different Internet users. According to the relevant laws and
regulations such as “Beijing Self-Discipline Convention
on Network Performance (Live Broadcasting)” and other
standards, the Group has established strict rules on these
contents.

In order to ensure the compliance with the national
regulations, the Group regularly checks the content of
its broadcasts and program production activities. The
Group is committed to providing positive messages for the
community.
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The Group has complied with all relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the “Provisions
on the Administration of Online Publishing Services”
circulated by the State Administration of Press, Publication,
Radio, Film and Television and the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology, the “Regulation on Internet
Information Services of the People’s Republic of China”
promulgated by the State Council. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations.

B7. Anti-corruption

The Group strives to achieve high standards of ethics in our
business operations. Fraudulent events such as corruption,
bribery, and collusion are strictly prohibited. The Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations related to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including
but not limited to, “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” of
Hong Kong and the “Corruption Ordinance of the People’s
Republic of China” of Mainland China. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
incident with local prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering relevant laws and regulations, nor
any concluded corruption cases.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has provided
anti-money laundering training to staff and the Executive
Directors.

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud

The Group has implemented the Prevention of Commercial
Bribery Management Policy, strengthened its internal
control mechanism, anti-corruption and anti-bribery work
S0 as to achieve the business philosophy of “abiding by the
law, integrity and quality service”. For projects with higher
monetary value, the Group shall consider when fit on an
open bidding invitation to at least three suppliers. Different
level of approval and authorisation is required according to
the size of the tender agreement.

The policy also includes the establishment of an inspection
team and the establishment of a channel for evaluation
the cases. It is strictly forbidden to use the business
opportunities or powers to obtain personal interests or
benefits. Employees should comply with the rules stated in
the Staff Handbook in performing business activities.
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The Group has established Whistleblowing Policy and
procedures for all levels and operations. Staff can raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties
such as misconduct and malpractice in any matter related
to the Group. The Group also encourages employees
and all persons with whom the Group does business,
including customers and suppliers, to report the suspected
misconduct within the Group voluntarily.

B8. Community Investment
Contributions to Society

The Group encourages employees to participate in charity
events, volunteer works, and environmental protection
activities in order to make contributions to our society. We
believe that our employee could build up positive value
and to be socially responsible through participate in those
activities.

The Group enhances the quality of life of community
through arts and culture activities. As the culture
development, the community can gain a deeper
understanding of history and culture and enjoy higher
appreciation of the present and future cultural activities and
to a greater level of enjoyment.

As a moral and responsible enterprise, the content of
the broadcasts and organised events are produced
in accordance with the Group’s policy of considering
community interests and fully complied with the national
regulations and rules, which further promotes positive
news to the community and restricts any negative content,
including rendering violence, pornography, hatred,
superstition, gambling, to be broadcasted.

The Group will consider from time to time to make

donations to charities when the Group records after-tax
profits and has sufficient funds.
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THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

LIMITED’S ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

Aspects ESG Indicators
=) ESGIERE

Environmental, Social and Governance R

B HEREA

ERBMERZMARAANCRE  HERELEREE
SRR RS

Description Page/Remark
i pud i

A. Environmental
AR

A1: Emissions General Disclosure

Al By

—RIKE

KPI'A1.1

PSR AE IR 1RAL A

Information on: 41
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

Note: Air emissions include NO,, SO,, and other
pollutants regulated under national laws
and regulations. Greenhouse gases include
carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and
sulphur hexafluoride. Hazardous wastes
are those defined by national regulations.

BRBRRIAEREBIN - MKRLHH
s AEREBEEEEVMNELSH

(@ BEK: &

b ETHETABEATENERER
KRPIER -

i BREREEAAMLY WA EEM
HEZOERRBPIRENTRY  AER
REf 8tk Pt SER - EF
e - 2HECBRESFLR - BEE
EMEBERROIMAES -

The types of emissions and respective 43
emissions data.
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
EE ESGIEE it B
KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 43
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
RS EIEIRAT .2 B (FGEN) kA (BE2) R ERE
HEpE (PANEGH 8 K (2@ ) & 8 (A E
EREA - BERBTE) -
KPI'A1.3 Due to the Group’s business nature,
we did not generate significant amount
of hazardous waste, total hazardous
waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
RS ENIEIRA1.3 HARAREENEBTE - AEEWEES
REBZREY MELEEEEDES
(BB R (ER ) ZmE(WABES
Bf - FIERMEAE) o
KPI'A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in 45
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
RSB MUIEIRA1 .4 FrEEEEREEYE S (UANEETE) R (40
HA)EE(WNASES SN - BIERET
H)o
KPI'A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and 41, 42, 44, 49
steps taken to achieve them.
RS ENIEIRA15 AR LR E B IS R AERELE
ZFTERER A AP ©
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- 44, 45, 49

RS NIEIZA1.6
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hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.
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B HERES

Description Page/Remark

Eipus B

A2: Use of Resources

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI'A2.1

RABHAE BUEIRA2.1

KPI'A2.2

RABHEIEIRA2.2

KPI' A2.3

FABHAEIEIRA2.3

KPI A2.4

RABHERIEIRA2.4

Policies on the efficient use of resources, 46
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

Note: Resources may be used in production,
in storage, transportation, in buildings,
electronic equipment, etc..

BAE AR (BIER - KR EEN
H) B -

#: DREUANEE - B &6 BT B

T -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption 47
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total

(kWh in "000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of

production volume, per facility).

RERE D ER R REEER(NE -
R BREE(UTETRRAE) REE
(MASEEEN - BARMEE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

@
2

BFOKE REE (A SES R -
o) -

15

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) 44, 47, 48, 49
set and steps taken to achieve them.

AL FTRT SLROBEIRE AR B AR A&
B L B AP ERENA 2P 5R. -

Description of whether there is any issue in 48, 49
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water

efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to

achieve them.

F i SKERE A KR LRI A EAERE - LAK

FrE]SZ e A7k B IR R A EEE L B 1R
PEREREY 28R -
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e R BRI

Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
EE ESGIEE it B
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished 48
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.
BB MIEIRA2.5 BT A B RN 88 (CANEGHE) &
(WER)BEEEMEE -
A3: The Environment and  General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s 49
Natural Resources significant impacts on the environment and
3 BERXAEZR natural resources.
— MR EE IR EIT ARIRIE RRAEREKERF
EHHER
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of 49
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.
RS AE MUIETRAS HAEBRHEHRBRARARERNERF
EREENEREMTENITE -
A4: Climate Change General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of 50, 51
A4 FIREE significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
— MR BEE BRI EH R KA HBEITAELEY
ENERRIFEEEENEE
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related 50, 51

RABEAE N FEIZEAS A
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issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

RMBEERAREEHETAELETENE
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Aspects ESG Indicators
EE ESGiE1Z

Environmental, Social and Governance R
B e RER

Description

P

Page/Remark
B

B. Social
B.iE

Employment and Labour
Practices

BREBIESR

B1: Employment
B1 : £

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPIB1.1

RABEAE N FE1EBT .1

KPIB1.2

FASHAIE1RB1.2

Information on:
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

BT R E - BIERE - TIFR
2B FERE - 2ol REBRN
KB A B LA -

(@ BK: &

b) ETHETABEATENERER
KPIER -

Total workforce by gender, employment
type (for example, full- or part-time), age
group and geographical region.

RIER - BIRERE (2B FRE) - Fik
MR iR EI D H R E A -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age
group and geographical region.

RIER -~ Fid R RIEE D HEEIRA
Ho o

PEAIRZERERAR
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
=) ESGIE1Z it Hif
B2: Health and Safety General Disclosure Information on: 56
B2 : BEE LS
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
— MR BEE BRERHEL 2 TIERE LRIEE BB 5
FILEEN
@ BE: K
b) BTFHETABEATENEBER
KR DI EHS -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities 56
occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.
RS IR IRB2.1 BEZF(BEERFE)BFRICTHEN
ABUR R o
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 56
RS E M IEIRB2.2 EIGEAIIERS -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and 56
safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
RS E M IEIRB2.3 PR AR BB SR e R 2 FE i - A
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Environmental, Social and Governance R

B HERES

Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
B ESGIER Eii:pud B
B3: Development and General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ 57

Training
B3 : BRI

B4: Labour Standards
B4 @ TR

—RIKE

KPI' B3.1

BA%EAE IE1RB3.A

KPI B3.2

RASAE IE1RB3.2

General Disclosure

—RIKE

knowledge and skills for discharging duties
at work. Description of training activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may
include internal and external courses paid
by the employer.

BRARIE BB TIERU R O M8 S d B
FIER © HAIFFIES o

i BRI TRERREEINENR
HNERERAE -

The percentage of employees trained by 57
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

RERIREERM(NSRERE  PRE
EE)ENNEIREBDL

The average training hours completed 58
per employee by gender and employee
category.

AR ERFEAIE S - SREE TS
e TR -

d
X

Information on: 58
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.
R IEE TR H S TH)
(@ B X

b) BTHBEITABEAZENMERER
KBRPIE R -
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
=) ESGIER&E it B
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review 58
employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.
RS R IRBA. 1 Fat ‘*“T?BE%’E‘WIJE’U%ﬁ‘ﬁ%’ﬁ%il&%ﬁ
BT o
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such 58
practices when discovered.
RS E M E1RB4.2 MM REIR BRI NG BIE PR
EH) P ER -
B5: Supply Chain General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and 59
Management social risks of the supply chain.
B5 @ REHEEE
—MRBEE ERHEENRIE R GRREE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical 60
region.
RS R 1RBS. 1 i@ Bl DB EE A o
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging 59
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
RSB E1RB5.2 HAEREAHEEENED  mERTE
FIERRRENEE - ARMBERITRE
BHE e
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify 59
environmental and social risks along
the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
RSB M IEIRBS.3 A AR R B AR A AR IE Rt
RENES - URBBERITRERTE -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 59
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environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
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Environmental, Social and Governance R

RE - HgkEn

Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
=) ESGIER&E Ht B
B6: Product Responsibility ~ General Disclosure Information on: 60
B6 : E@ET
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods
of redress.
—MRBEE BRFTRMERNRBHRERZ S - &
EHRFLEEE AR ER
@ HBE: K
(o) BTFHETABEATENEBER
KR DI E*S -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or 60
shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.
RS R 1RB6. 1 EERDEXEMART HAL 2 EERE
mimZARKE B DL o
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related 60
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.
RS E R E1RB6.2 BB E o M RTGHVIR AR B B DA R e
Tk e
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing 61
and protecting intellectual property rights.
RS AE M IE1RB6.3 it B 4 AR AR E G BRI IE ] o
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process 60

RSB IR 12B6.4

and recall procedures.
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
=) ESGIER&E it B
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection 61
and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
RS E1RB6.5 HIUEE EERHRIE RALEBR - AR
BT REER % -
B7: Anti-corruption General Disclosure Information on: 62
B7 : RES
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
— MR BRI IEARRE ~ 3R - BGFROE R ¢
(@ BEK: &
(o) BFHBETABEATENEBER
KRB E*S -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding 62
corrupt practices brought against the issuer
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.
RS R IRBT .1 RERAAHETARHEERBTEE
REEOBESRARMHBIE RFAER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and 63
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
RS E IEIRBT .2 P S b MR EAR T - A RAERETT
MEEERTTIE
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training 62
provided to directors and staff.
RS EMIEIRBT.3 HmMESRRESRENRESEI -
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RE - HgkEn

Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
B ESGIER&E it ¢
Community

#HE

B8: Community Investment General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to 63

B8 @ #HERE

—RIKE

KPI B8.1

A% W IE15B8 1

KPI B8.2

RSB 1513B8.2

understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

BRI RS ER TR ELFﬁZ‘Eﬁilﬂ:ﬂﬁﬁg
FMEEREXFEE G E BALR MR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 63
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).

EIERBBE(NHE - REEE L1E
koo R b - BE) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) 63
to the focus area.

EFIRBMPMER(NSENKER) -

TEHAZERERAR T FFERE 74



75

KRR EIRE R

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Philip Jian Yang, aged 59, is an Executive Director
and the President and Chief Executive Officer of our Group.
Mr. Yang is the son of the founders of the Group. Mr. Yang
has been primarily responsible for the overall operations,
management, business development and strategic planning
of our Group. Prior to joining our Group, he was appointed
as the general manager of Beijing Zhonglu Intelligence
Cultural Development Co., Ltd. in November 1994. Mr.
Yang graduated from the Business Institute of Beijing
(currently Beijing Technology and Business University)
with a bachelor’s degree in business administration and
commerce in July 1983.

Ms. Yang Jianping, aged 67, is an Executive Director and
a Deputy Chief Executive Officer of our Group. Ms. Yang
graduated from Beijing Open University with a bachelor’s
degree in finance and accounting in July 1988. She
attained the qualification of an intermediary accountant in
December 1992.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Shiyuan, aged 46, is a Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Yang has been responsible
for supervising the Group’s business in large-scale
performance events, such as awards ceremonies and
movie premieres. He joined the Group in October 2002 as
a project assistant and was promoted to the position of
project manager in August 2004. From October 2009 to
the date of re-designation as a non-executive director, he
served as a project director in the Group.
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aphical Details of Directors and Senior Management

BITES

BRIKE 5958  RAKERTEERERRITREE
BRIFERAEBRMAZR T - BEETEREAEE
MEELE B  EBEREKREBEHRE - MAXEHE
Al R —NANEFE+— ABRZERIERPEHEZ %
RAERDBNELE - HEER-NAN=ZFLAFERL
REASRCREIERTEASR)  EIHERELEEM -

BREYzL 675 AAKEWTEZTRATHAER - 15
TER—NNNFLAZERIEREEERAL - BGS
MEFBELEM - BREIN - NANAF+ - ARBHRE
FHEMERS

FHTES

BESLE - 4658 RAKEFRRUTEST - BAREETE
BREEAKEARIRHEBHERTY - fIInRRARKRE
TEHRE - R -_TT_FTANAKREE - ZEBEEY
2 YR -_FENFNAEHAEBLE - B -FTTNF
TAZERERIFNTERZ 2B - BRAEEEEER HE -



Mr. Ge Xuyu, aged 55, was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director of our Group on 21 April 2015. Mr. Ge has been
primarily responsible for seeking investment and acquisition
opportunities and managing the investment project of the
Group. Mr. Ge has been serving as the general manager
of Mongolian Desert Resources LLC since December
2010. He is currently certified as a senior accountant in
the PRC. During May 1983 to February 2002, he worked
at China Construction 4th Engineering Bureau 6th Corp.
Limited holding financial positions and was promoted to
senior accountant in August 2001. From February 2003 to
December 2010, he served as a deputy general manager of
Shenzhen Dongrunda Investments Development Co., Ltd..
Mr. Ge graduated from Anhui Open University majoring in
financial accounting in 1990. He obtained the qualification
as an accountant in October 1994.

Mr. Wang Yong, aged 53, was appointed as a Non-
Executive Director of our Group on 21 April 2015. Mr.
Wang has been primarily responsible for supervising our
Group’s overall management and strategic planning. Mr.
Wang has been working as a deputy managing director at
Beijing Tianyi Jinxiu Co., Ltd. since 2003.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Fu Yuehong, aged 60, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of our Group on 10
July 2019. She is the president of Beijing Commercial
Association. Ms. Fu graduated from the Beijing Institute
of Business (now known as Beijing Technology and
Business University) with a bachelor’s degree in business
and economics in 1983. She is a senior economist and
also holds a bachelor’s degree in law in China University
of Political Science and Law. She had been the deputy
minister of finance and minister of Marketing of Beijing New
Yansha Group*, and was the chairman of Beijing Capital
Retailing Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600723), a company
listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, from February 2015 to
June 2018. She has extensive experience in management,
finance and marketing.

*  For identification purpose only

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Manage
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Mr. Tan Song Kwang, aged 54, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of our Group on
3 November 2015. Mr. Tan has been a director of the
Financial Advisory Department of Stratus Capital Pte Ltd.
since 2005 and an independent director, chairman of the
nomination committee and member of the remuneration
and audit committees of Oriental Group Ltd. (SGX: 5FI)
from February 2004 to December 2016. From May 2012 to
January 2014, he served as an independent non-executive
director, chairman of the remuneration committee, member
of the nomination and audit committees of China Paper
Holdings Ltd (SGX: C71). Mr. Tan graduated from National
University of Singapore with a bachelor’s degree in arts,
majoring in economics and sociology, in 1991.

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, aged 34, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Group on 18
July 2018. Mr. Yau has been appointed as chief financial
officer of Hope Life International Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1683), on 22 October 2021. Mr. Yau had
been the chief financial officer and company secretary
of Wai Hung Group Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3321), since its listing in April 2019 to May 2021. Mr. Yau
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with
a bachelor’s degree of business administration (Honours)
in professional accountancy in October 2011. He has
been a certified public accountant registered with the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
January 2018. Mr. Yau worked in the audit and assurance
department at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu since September
2011 and he left Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as an audit
manager in February 2018.

Note: Each of the Directors does not have any relationship
with any other Directors and any member of our senior
management.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Fu Chung Yiu, aged 46, was appointed as chief
financial controller of the Group on 3 April 2018. Mr. Fu
holds a bachelor’s degree of science in actuarial science
from London School of Economics and Political Science.
Mr. Fu has over 17 years’ experience in financial, merger
& acquisition, risk and investment management. He
previously worked in Chevalier Asset Management Limited
(a wholly own subsidiary of Chevalier International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 025)) and UBS Group AG as assistant
manager and associate director respectively. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Fu was a director of an advisory
company.

Ms. Kwan Wing Man, aged 26, was appointed as
company secretary of the Group on 30 July 2021. Ms.
Kwan has been a certified public accountant registered with
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since May 2021. Ms. Kwan holds a bachelor’s degree of
business administration in accounting and finance from the
University of Hong Kong. Ms. Kwan joined the Company
in July 2021 as a finance manager. Ms. Kwan has over
3 years of experience in auditing. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. Kwan worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
an international professional services firm in Hong Kong.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Manage
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The board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”)
is pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s financial performance for the year ended 31
December 2021 is set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 120 of this annual report and the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are set out in the
consolidated statement of financial position on page 121 of
this annual report.

The financial position of the Company as at 31 December
2021 is set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
dividend policy of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on page 19 to 33
to this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
in page 123 and note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31

December 2021 was approximately RMB40.4 million (as at
31 December 2020: RMB39.3 million).
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did
not made any charitable contributions (2020: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 17
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development
are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to
18 of this annual report.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Disposal of 19.25% of equity interest of Capital Land
Digital Entertainment Co. Ltd

On 28 August 2019, the Group entered into equity
transfer agreements with three different purchasers for the
disposal of 19.25% of equity interest of Capital Land Digital
Entertainment Co. Ltd., and the disposal was completed
on 31 December 2019 (“Disposal”). The total consideration
in cash was RMB15,400,000 and the net proceeds was
amounted to RMB14,735,000. As at 31 December 2021,
the net proceeds from Disposal has been fully utilized as
follows:

- approximately RMB6,635,000 has been utilised to
finance the production of TV serial programmes

- approximately RMB3,149,000 has been utilised to
pay for concert organisation expenses

- approximately RMB4,951,000 has been utilised for
repayment of shareholders’ loan

The details of the Disposal can be referred to the circular of
the Company dated 24 September 2019.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business
operations of the Group, major risks are summarised
below.

Reliance on limited number of customers

The Group derived a significant portion of our revenue
from a limited number of customers. For the year ended
31 December 2021, the five largest customers of the
Group contributed 88.6% of total revenue to the Group.
There is a risk that these significant customers to cancel
or early terminate the contract and no assurance that
these significant customers will continue their business
relationship with the Group or that the revenue generated
from the customers will increase or be maintained in the
future. The Group will continue to expand the customer
base to mitigate the risk.

Intense competition

The television broadcasting content production market
is highly fragmented. New players are entering into the
market, while existing big players are growing. The Group
is facing pricing pressure from the television station
customers which have the sole decision making to which
program to be played. The Group also faces threat of
substitution by films, television series and competition
programs which take up higher proportions of audience
rating compared to television broadcasting contents such
as variety shows.

The robust sector in the event organisation is very
competitive. Apart from competition with other event
organisers, television stations, online video networks and
film distributors with high backward integration ability, many
corporations setup their own in-house public relations,
which have the ability to organise their own events such as
annual parties. Further, companies that are well-established
in other related fields such as public relations agencies,
also are the potential competitors of the event organisation
segment of the Group.
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Uncertainties of market demand of recently
developed business

The Group had made material investment in the mobile
application development and operation business. The
Group believes this business has huge potential under
the fast growing internet platform and the huge demand
in the pan-entertainment sector. However, the instability
in determining reliable estimates on the fast changing
users’ behaviors make no assurance that our optimistic
expectation on these businesses can be realized. Further,
its regulatory control are not fully sophisticated. The
Group’s operations of “entertainment contents + social
media + e-commerce” of mobile application development
and operation business require quick reaction to the
rapid market changes, therefore the Group has not yet
been affirmed that the value of this business model will be
realized in the short term.

Mobile application development and operation is not
necessities, the demand of these businesses may fall
significantly if the economy in the PRC faces material
downturn with the decrease in purchasing power of
potential consumers. In addition, the consumption trend
and demand of the internet and pan-entertainment can
be changed quickly, the Group may require to deploy
resources continuously to attract and retain the customers’
loyalty. The management of the Group will closely monitor
the operation and the market changes of this segment.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Discussions on the Group’s relationships with its
employees, customers and suppliers is contained in the
section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 34 to 74 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies is
contained in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 34 to 74 of this annual
report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong Kong while
the Company itself is listed on GEM. The establishment
and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the
year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
report, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last 5 financial years is set out on page

228 of this annual report.

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Philip Jian Yang (Chairman)
Ms. Yang Jianping

Non-executive directors
Mr. Yang Shiyuan

Mr. Ge Xuyu
Mr. Wang Yong
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Independent non-executive directors

Ms. Fu Yuehong
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen
Mr. Tan Song Kwang

One-third of the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the Articles, providing
that every director shall be retired at least once every three
years.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Philip Jian Yang has entered into directors’ service
contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from 18 November 2015 (the “Listing
Date”) renewable automatically until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other expiring at the end of the initial term or any
time thereafter.

Ms. Yang Jianping has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from 6 April 2017 renewable automatically
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other expiring at the
end of the initial term or any time thereafter.

The non-executive directors of the Company were not
appointed for a specific term but their respective terms
of office are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The rotation clause sets up
a mechanism to ensure that all Directors of the Company
shall retire at least once every three years and be eligible
for re-election.

Each of our independent non-executive directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company.
Each letter of appointment is for an initial term commencing
on the date of the letter of appointment and shall continue
thereafter subject to a maximum of three years unless
terminated by either party giving at least one month’s
notice in writing.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the directors has or
is proposed to enter into a service contract/letter of
appointment with the Company or any of the subsidiaries of
the Company (other than contracts expiring or determinable
by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal controls and the audited annual
results of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2021 and has provided advice and comments thereon.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that Directors and officers of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty. Directors and officers liability
insurance is arranged to cover the Directors and officers
of the Company against any potential costs and liabilities
arising from claims brought against them.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Directors of the Company had a material beneficial
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

Save as disclosed under the heading “Continuing
connected transactions” and “Connected transaction”
below and “Related party transactions” in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements, there is no contract
of significance to the business of the Group between
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, or a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, to which the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a part, during the year. During
the year, no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries was made.
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Save as the continued connected transactions and
connected transactions disclosed in this report, the related
party transactions of the Group constituted fully exempted
connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and
the senior management of the Group are set out on page
75 to 78 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interest and short position
of the Directors of the Company and chief executive of the
Group in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQ”)), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors
of listed issuers as referred to in Rules 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules were as follows:

() Long positions in ordinary shares of the
Company
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Note: The entire issued share capital of Goldbless is owned
by Mr. Wang Yong. Under the SFO, Mr. Wang Yong
is deemed to be interested in all the shares registered
in the name of Goldbless. Share consolidation
of the Company on the basis that every five (5)
issued existing shares be consolidated into one (1)
consolidated share became effective on 15 July
2021.

(i) Long positions in ordinary shares of US$1.00
each in Youth Success Holdings Limited (“Youth

et XRMEMPEBTRADIBRLERES © RIFFES
AP  EBEEERE RN A ERRBLH
FRARM P HEARER - ARBIREHE)IRZEET
BABRMEHAE—(WRZatthkh2EE BB
Kyadt FMABA—T-_—F A THAB -

(i) FAYouth Success Holdings Limited ([ Youth Success )
BREE1.00XTEERNEE

Success”)

Number of Percentage of
Name of Director shares shareholding
EERE RHEE REB DL
Mr. Philip Jian Yang et 7 1,273 12.73
MRl e 2 ez
Ms. Yang Jianping 2 150 1.50
BT g 2
Mr. Yang Shiyuan ™3 148 1.48
TSt 3 2k A (Wizs)
Notes: T -

1. Mr. Philip Jian Yang holds the shares of Youth
Success through Ever Ring Holdings Limited which is
wholly-owned by him.

2. Ms. Yang Jianping holds the shares of Youth Success
through Rich Promise Investments Limited which is
wholly-owned by her.

3. Mr. Yang Shiyuan holds the shares through State
Trade Global Limited which is wholly-owned by him.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none
of the directors and chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors
of listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other than
a Director of the Company or chief executive of the Group)
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company
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Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
capital
EAEARE BT
BABDL

Youth Success

Guang Rui Investments Limited
(“Guang Rui”)
RImRERRAT(Him])

Mr. Yang Shaogian (“Mr. Yang”)

L HBELED

Ms. Mu Sufang (“Ms Mu”)

eEFaL((frt))

Mr. Wu Jian
REfAE

Beneficial owner ™ 7: deemed interest
under shareholders voting
agreement o 7

EnE AT REBERERERZ R A
A 2 e

Beneficial owner; interest in controlled
corporation ™ 7; deemed interest under
shareholders voting agreement (Mt

BB A NI EBER) ;1B
AR RIE E R AR A A e ()

Interest in controlled Corporation M ;
interest of spouse ™*2; deemed interest
under shareholders voting
agreement o 7

MEPEE R FiBiEa )
IRIRAR IR e i AR /3 /G o (1)

Interest in controlled Corporation M ;
interest of spouse ™*2; deemed interest
under shareholders voting
agreement M7

KSR  RBIERS e ;
IRIRAR IR R i AR /3 T G o (1)

Beneficial owner
EnHEEA

173,373,600

175,968,000

175,968,000

175,968,000

31,612,903
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53.11

53.11
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Notes:

1. Youth Success and Guang Rui owns 81,378,000 shares
and 2,594,400 shares respectively, representing 24.56%
and 0.78% of the issued share capital of the Company (as
at 31 December 2021). The issued share capital of Youth
Success is legally and beneficially owned as to 83.54%
by Guang Rui. Under the SFO, Guang Rui is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares registered in the name of
Youth Success. The entire issued share capital of Guang
Rui is legally and beneficially owned as to 60% by Mr.
Yang and 40% by Ms. Mu. By virtue of the shareholders
voting agreement entered into by Mr. Yang, Ms. Mu, Youth
Success, Mr. Li Lin, Alpha Master Global Limited (“Alpha
Master”), Ms. Yang Qi, Qiao Tian Limited (“Qiao Tian”), Mr.
Wang Yong and Goldbless, Youth Success is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Alpha Master, Qiao Tian
and Goldbless in aggregate by virtue of the SFO.

2. Ms. Mu is the spouse of Mr. Yang, therefore she is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Yang is
deemed to be interested, and vice versa.

3. Share consolidation of the Company on the basis that every
five (5) issued existing shares be consolidated into one (1)
consolidated share became effective on 15 July 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no
other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme on 3
November 2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from the date of its adoption and enables the
Company to grant share options to the eligible persons
(including any executive director, non-executive director
and independent non-executive director, advisor and
consultant of the Group) (the “Eligible Person(s)”) as
incentives or rewards for their contributions to the Group.
No share option was granted, exercised, expired or
lapsed since its adoption by the Company and there is no
outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.
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The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon the exercise of all share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Group from time to time
(the “Other Schemes”) must not, in aggregate, exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue of as at the Listing
Date, the date which the Company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) provided
that the share options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Shares Option Scheme or Other Schemes will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit. On the basis of 1,200,000,000 Shares in
issue on the Listing Date, the Scheme Mandate Limit will
be equivalent to 120,000,000 Shares, representing 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date and on 15 July
2021, share consolidation of the Company on the basis
that every five (5) issued existing shares be consolidated
into one (1) consolidated share became effective. The
Scheme Mandate Limit now equivalent to 24,000,000
Shares, representing 7.12% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of this report.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the share options granted to
each Eligible Person under the Share Option Scheme and
Other Schemes (including both exercised and outstanding
Options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to time, and
provided that if approved by shareholders of the Company
in general meeting with such Eligible Person and his
associates abstaining from voting, the Company may make
a further grant of share options to such Eligible Person (the
“Further Grant”) notwithstanding that the Further Grant
would result in the shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all share options granted and
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and Other
Schemes to such Eligible Person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of the Further Grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

Upon acceptance of the share option, the Eligible Person
under the Share Option Scheme shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant. The share
option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 28
days from the date on which the share option is granted.
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The subscription price for the shares of the Company
subject to the Share Options Scheme will be a price
determined by the Board and notified to each Eligible
Person and shall be the highest of (i) the closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the share options, which must be a trading day of the
Stock Exchange; (i) the average closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five trading days of the Stock
Exchange immediately preceding the date of grant of the
share options; and (i) the nominal value of a share of the
Company.

An share option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a
period to be determined and notified by the Board to each
Eligible Person provided that the period within which the
share option must be exercised shall not be more than 10
years from the date of the grant of share option.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2021
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole and
any part of the Company’s business were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, for the
continuing operations, revenue from the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 88.6% of
total revenue and sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to approximately 23.9% of total
revenue. The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 94.0% of total direct costs during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 66.3%
of total direct costs.
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None of the Directors or any of their close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any of the
shareholders of the Company (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s five largest customers or its five largest
suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2021.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENTS

A Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF Scheme”) has
been set up for employees in Hong Kong, in accordance
to the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. All employees
in Hong Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme and
the employees and its employer are each required to
contribute 5% of their gross earnings with a current ceiling
of HK$1,500 per month to the MPF scheme. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF scheme
is to make required contribution under the scheme. No
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future. The contribution charged to the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents the contribution payable to the funds by
the Group.

Employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement
schemes operated by local municipal governments.
Contributions are made to the schemes in accordance to
certain percentage to the applicable employee payroll.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors, the controlling shareholders of the Company and
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) as at 31 December 2021 had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group or any
other conflicts of interest with the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was
held by the public as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on
page 19 to 33 of this annual report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Beijing Emphasis Media Co., Ltd.* (“Emphasis Media”),
Starry Knight Entertainment Co., Ltd.* (“Starry Knight”),
Beijing Joy Star Production Co., Ltd.* (“Joy Star”), Beijing
New Image Media Co. Ltd.* (“New Image”) and Beijing
Great Wise Media Co., Ltd.” (“Great Wise”) (collectively
defined as the “PRC Contractual Entities”) are deemed to
be the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company pursuant
to the Contractual Arrangement.

Summary of the information in relation to the Contractual
Arrangement are as follows.

Information on the PRC Contractual Entities and their
Registered Owners

At the date of this report, Emphasis Media is owned as
to 10% by Mr. Yang and as to 65.33% by New Element,
with the remaining 24.67% equity interest is held as to
12% by Mr. Li Lin, 5% by Ms. Yang Qi, 4% by Mr. Sun Rui,
1.5% by Mr. Yang Shiyuan, 1.5% by Ms. Yang Jianping
and 0.67% by Mr. Wan Shuxing (collectively referred as
“Relevant Shareholders”).

Each of Starry Knight, New Image and Great Wise is
wholly-owned by Emphasis Media.

Joy Star is held as to 97% by Ms. Mu and 3% by Mr. Yang.
Business Overview of the PRC Contractual Entities
Emphasis Media, New Image and Great Wise are principally
engaged in the provision of program production services in
the PRC.

Starry Knight and Joy Star are principally engaged in the

provision of program production and event organisation
services and artist management in the PRC.

*  For identification purpose only
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The PRC Contractual Entities hold certain licences and
permits required for the operation of abovementioned
principal business (including The Permit to Produce and
Distribute Radio or Television Programs and operate as
a performance brokerage enterprise with the relevant
licence). According to the Guidance Catalogue of Industries
for Foreign Investment (2015 Version), radio and television
program production and operating companies falls within
the prohibited foreign-invested industry, and the production
of television programs (limited to Chinese-foreign
contractual joint ventures) and performance brokerage
fall within the restricted foreign-invested industry. The
principal activities of the Group are provision of program
production and event organisation services in the PRC, the
sectors where foreign investment is subject to significant
restrictions under PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly,
we cannot directly acquire any equity interest in the PRC
Contractual Entities, which hold certain licences and
permits required for the operation of the principal business
of the Group.

As a result, New Talent Media Company Limited* (“New
Talent Media”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has entered into a series of agreements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) narrowly tailored to provide
New Talent Media with control over the PRC Contractual
Entities and grant New Talent Media the right to acquire the
equity interests of the PRC Contractual Entities when and
to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.

Summary of the Major Terms under the Contractual
Arrangement

The Contractual Arrangements consist of: (a) the Business
Operating Agreements, (b) the Powers of Attorney, (c) the
Equity Interest Pledge Agreements, (d) the Exclusive Option
Agreements, (e) the Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements and (f) the Spouse Undertakings (in
the case that the Relevant Shareholder is a natural person).

* For identification purpose only
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Business Operating Agreements

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant
Shareholders entered into Business Operating Agreements
with New Talent Media on 18 May 2015 (the “Business
Operating Agreements”), pursuant to which at the request
of each of the PRC Contractual Entities, New Talent Media
may opt to serve as the performance guarantor for each
of the PRC Contractual Entities in any business operating
contracts, agreements or transactions that they entered into
with third parties. In such case, as a counter-guarantee,
each of the PRC Contractual Entities shall agree to pledge
all its operational account receivable and assets to New
Talent Media. If New Talent Media decides to serve as the
performance guarantor for any PRC Contractual Entities,
New Talent Media will enter into a written agreement with
the counterparties of such PRC Contractual Entities to
assume the guarantor’s responsibilities. As such, the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders will take
all necessary actions to implement the counter-guarantee
arrangement with New Talent Media.

Under the Business Operating Agreements, each of the
PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant Shareholders
agree that, without obtaining New Talent Media’s written
consent, each of the PRC Contractual Entities shall not
engage in any transaction which may materially affect its
asset, obligation, right or business operation, including but
not limit to:

(i) Borrowing or assuming any liabilities from any third
parties;

(i) Selling to or acquiring from any third parties any assets
or rights, including but not limited to any intellectual

property rights;

(i)  Providing real rights of securities in relation to assets
or intellectual property rights to any third parties;

(iv)  Transferring any operational agreements to any third
parties.
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Further, each of the PRC Contractual Entities
and its Relevant Shareholders agree to follow any
recommendations or guidance from New Talent Media
in relation to each of the PRC Contractual Entities’
employment matters, daily operations and management,
as well as financial management policies. Each of the PRC
Contractual Entities and its Relevant Shareholders agree
to appoint New Talent Media’s nominees as its board
directors, and each of the PRC Contractual Entities will
appoint the recommended New Talent Media’s staff as its
general manager, chief finance officer, and for other senior
management roles. If any of abovementioned staff leave
New Talent Media, whether voluntarily or not, their roles in
each of the PRC Contractual Entities will be terminated.

In addition, each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its
Relevant Parties agree to use New Talent Media as the
first resort for any performance guarantee or guarantees
for working capital borrowings. In such case, New Talent
Media has full discretion in deciding whether to provide
such guarantees, and the PRC Contractual Entities can
resort to other third parties if such request is turned down
by New Talent Media.

The relevant Business Operating Agreements have a
term of ten years and will be automatically renewed upon
expiration unless otherwise notified by New Talent Media.
The relevant Business Operating Agreements shall be
terminated prior to expiration when the business period of
either New Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities
expires or is terminated by any other reasons except that
all rights and obligations of New Talent Media or any PRC
Contractual Entities under such agreements have been
transferred. If any agreement between New Talent Media
and any PRC Contractual Entities is terminated or expired,
New Talent Media will have the right but not the obligation
to terminate all agreements between New Talent Media
and any PRC Contractual Entities, including but not limited
to the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements.
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Powers of Attorney

Each of the Relevant Shareholders entered into a power
of attorney on 18 May 2015 (the “Powers of Attorney”).
Pursuant to the Powers of Attorney, each of the Relevant
Shareholders irrevocably appoints designee(s) of our
Company, being the Directors or officers of the Company
who are not related to the shareholders of the PRC
Contractual Entities or his/her successor to act as his/her/
its attorney on his/her/its own behalf to exercise all rights
in connection with matters concerning his/her/its rights
as shareholder of the PRC Contractual Entities, including
but not limited to (i) selling or transferring all or part of his/
her/its equity interests; (i) exercising shareholders’ voting
rights, including nomination and election of director and
nomination and appointment of general manager; (iii)
signing meeting minutes and resolutions; (iv) approving
filing documents with the relevant companies registry and/
or other government authorities in relation to the business
operations of the PRC Contractual Entities; and (v) other
matters decided or executed by the shareholders.

Further, the Powers of Attorney shall remain effective for

ten years from the execution date or it can be terminated
upon the termination of the Business Operating Agreement.
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Equity Interest Pledge Agreements

The Relevant Shareholders and New Talent Media entered
into equity interest pledge agreements on 18 May 2015
(the “Equity Interest Pledge Agreements”). Under the Equity
Interest Pledge Agreements, the Relevant Shareholders
agreed to pledge all their respective equity interests in the
PRC Contractual Entities to New Talent Media, as a security
interest, to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debts of the
Relevant Shareholders and the PRC Contractual Entities
under the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements, Business Operating Agreements and such
other agreements to be entered into under the Contractual
Arrangements. The pledge in respect of a PRC Contractual
Entity takes effect upon the completion of registration
with the competent SAIC and shall remain valid until one
year after all the contractual obligations of the Relevant
Shareholders and such PRC Contractual Entity under
the relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully
performed and all the outstanding debts of the Relevant
Shareholders and such PRC Contractual Entity under the
relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully paid.
During the valid period of the pledge, absent prior written
consent of New Talent Media, the Relevant Shareholders
shall not create or agree to create any new pledge or
any other security on the equity interests of the PRC
Contractual Entities, nor assign or transfer any of the equity
interests of the PRC Contractual Entities or any rights or
obligations under this agreement.

The Equity Interest Pledge Agreements will be terminated
after one year upon fulfilment of all contractual obligations
of the Relevant Shareholders and such PRC Contractual
Entity under the relevant Contractual Arrangements.
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Exclusive Option Agreements

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant
Shareholders entered into exclusive option agreements
with New Talent Media on 18 May 2015 (the “Exclusive
Option Agreements”), pursuant to which the Relevant
Shareholders irrevocably, exclusively and unconditionally
grant exclusive options to New Talent Media which entitles
New Talent Media to elect to purchase, when permitted
by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the
equity interests of the PRC Contractual Entities from the
Relevant Shareholders and/or all or any of assets of the
PRC Contractual Entities by itself or through its designee(s).
In the event that any of the options is exercised by New
Talent Media, the transfer price of the relevant equity
interests and assets shall be the legal minimum price
under the then-applicable PRC law. Any of such transfer
is subject to approval and registration with government
authorities. Subject to applicable PRC laws, each of the
Relevant Shareholders shall transfer all the consideration
he/her/it receives in relation to such sale of equity interest
in the PRC Contractual Entities at nil consideration as a
gift to New Talent Media or the designee(s) of New Talent
Media after receiving such consideration, after deduction of
applicable taxes and governmental fees.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreements, the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders shall not
sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any other manner the
legal or beneficial interest in any assets, business or income
of the PRC Contractual Entities. The PRC Contractual
Entities and the Relevant Shareholders undertake to
maintain the asset value of the PRC Contractual Entities
and not to take any action which may affect their business
operations or asset value. Absent prior written consent
of New Talent Media, the PRC Contractual Entities and
the Relevant Shareholders shall not (i) in any manner
supplement, change or amend the articles of association
of the PRC Contractual Entities, increase or decrease their
registered capital or change their structure of registered
capital in any other manner; or (i) engage in transactions
that could materially affect the assets, liabilities, rights or
operations of the PRC Contractual Entities, including (a)
incur debts, except those incurred in the ordinary course
of business or disclosed to and consented by New Talent
Media; (b) execute any material contracts with a value
above RMB100,000, except those entered into in the
ordinary course of business; (c) provide loans or guarantee;
(d) merge or consolidate with, acquire or invest in any
entity; and (e) distribute dividends or profits to the Relevant
Shareholders.
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In addition, each of the Relevant Shareholders will take
appropriate measures to maintain its shareholding in the
PRC Contractual Entities, including (i) not to, sell, transfer,
pledge or dispose of in any other manner, or allow any
other security interest to be created on the legal or
beneficial equity interest in the PRC Contractual Entities
without the prior written consent of New Talent Media,
except for the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements, and
procure the shareholders’ meeting of the PRC Contractual
Entities not to approve such matters; (i) for each exercise
of the equity purchase option, to cause the shareholders’
meeting of the PRC Contractual Entities to vote on the
approval of the transfer of equity interests and any other
action requested by New Talent Media; and (i) to relinquish
the pre-emptive right (if any) the Relevant Shareholder is
entitled to in relation to the transfer of equity interest by any
other Relevant Shareholders to New Talent Media. Each
of the Relevant Shareholders will transfer to New Talent
Media or its designee(s), by way of gift, any profit, dividend,
transfer proceeds or any other interest arising from the
equity interests held by such Relevant Shareholder in the
PRC Contractual Entities. The PRC Contractual Entities
and the Relevant Shareholders shall, at the request of
New Talent Media, appoint any person nominated by New
Talent Media in its sole discretion as directors of the PRC
Contractual Entities. Each of the Relevant Shareholders
irrevocably undertakes that whenever requested by
New Talent Media, such shareholder will transfer,
unconditionally all of the equity interests held by him/her/it
in the PRC Contractual Entities to New Talent Media or its
designee(s) at a price equal to the price as determined in
the circumstances where New Talent Media exercises its
option under the Exclusive Option Agreements.

The relevant Exclusive Option Agreements have a term of
ten years and will be automatically renewed upon expiration
unless otherwise notified by New Talent Media. The
relevant Exclusive Option Agreements shall be terminated
prior to expiration when the business period of either New
Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities expires or is
terminated by any other reasons except that all rights and
obligations of New Talent Media under such agreements
have been transferred to a third party.
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Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements

New Talent Media entered into exclusive technology
consultation and service agreements with each of the
PRC Contractual Entities on 18 May 2015 (the “Exclusive
Technology Consultation and Service Agreements”),
pursuant to which each of the PRC Contractual Entities
agreed to engage New Talent Media as their exclusive
provider of technical and management consulting services
and other technology and consultancy services requested
by each of the PRC Contractual Entities from time to
time to the extent permitted under PRC laws in each of
exchange for service fees. In light of the services that New
Talent Media agreed to provide to the PRC Contractual
Entities pursuant to the Exclusive Technology Consultation
and Service Agreements, the service fees, subject to New
Talent Media’s adjustment, are equal to 100% of each
of the PRC Contractual Entities’ net profit after tax. In
addition, New Talent Media may at its absolute discretion
lower the service fees with reference to the operation cost
and financial budget relating to business development plan
of each of the PRC Contractual Entities. New Talent Media is
also entitled to make any other adjustments of the service
fees at the end of every quarter in accordance with the
quarterly revenue and profit of each of the PRC Contractual
Entities under HKFRSs.

In addition, absent the prior written consent of New
Talent Media, the PRC Contractual Entities shall not
assign or transfer any of the rights and/or obligations
under the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements to any third party. Unless otherwise required
by the applicable PRC laws, the PRC Contractual Entities
shall not be entitled to terminate the Exclusive Technology
Consultation and Service Agreements either.
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The Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements also provide that New Talent Media has
the exclusive proprietary rights to all intellectual property
rights developed or created during the performance
of the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements. The PRC Contractual Entities shall assign
their intellectual property rights to New Talent Media upon
request of New Talent Media. Our PRC Legal Adviser is of
the opinion that (i) it is legal for New Talent Media to hold
these intellectual property rights pursuant to the terms
of the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements; and (i) that New Talent Media and the PRC
Contractual Entities are not in violation of the requirements
of Patent Law of the PRC, Trade Mark Law of PRC and
Copyright Law of the PRC regarding the ownership of
intellectual property rights.

The relevant Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements have a term of ten years and will
be automatically renewed for consecutive terms of one
year upon expiry unless otherwise notified by New Talent
Media. The relevant Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements shall be terminated prior to expiration
in the event that (a) the business period of either New
Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities expires or is
terminated by any other reasons except that all right and
obligation of New Talent Media under such agreements
has been transferred to a third party (b) New Talent Media
unilaterally terminates such agreements by advance written
notice.

Spouse Undertakings

The spouse of each of the individual Relevant Shareholders,
if applicable, has signed an undertaking on 18 May
2015 (“Spouse Undertakings”). Pursuant to the Spouse
Undertakings, each of the spouses unconditionally and
irrevocably undertakes that:

()  the spouse has been made fully aware of the
Contractual Arrangements and consented that such
Relevant Shareholder is the sole beneficiary of all the
rights and interests and solely assumes obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements; further, he/she
does not and will not have any interests or rights
under the Contractual Arrangements, nor assumes
any obligations thereunder;
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(i)  all the equity interests held by such Relevant
Shareholder in the PRC Contractual Entities shall be
deemed as assets solely owned by such Relevant
Shareholder, not mutual assets jointly owned by him/
her and the related Relevant Shareholder;

@iy the spouse will not participate in the operation or
management of the PRC Contractual Entities, nor will
claim any interests or rights in the equities of the PRC
Contractual Entities;

(iv)  the spouse has confirmed that the performance and
further amendment or termination of the Contractual
Arrangements by such Relevant Shareholder do
not require his/her authorisation or consent; in the
event of divorce (as the case may be), such Relevant
Shareholder has sole discretion to decide how to
dispose of his/her interests in the PRC Contractual
Entities; and

(v) in the event that the spouse obtains any interests
in the PRC Contractual Entities, he/she will be
subject to and abide by the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements as if he/she was a signing party to
such Contractual Arrangements, and at the request
of New Talent Media he/she will sign any documents
in the form and substance consistent with the
Contractual Arrangements.

Revenue and Assets in relation to the Contractual
Arrangement

During the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue
attributable to the PRC Contractual Entities (i.e. the
Contractual Arrangement) was approximately RMB28.9
million. As at 31 December 2021, the total asset and net
asset attributable to the PRC Contractual Entities was
approximately RMB172.5 million and RMB64.0 million
respectively.

Risks Related to the Contractual Arrangement
We rely on the Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Contractual Entities for our operations in China, which may

not be as effective in providing operational control as direct
ownership.
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We have relied and expect to continue to rely on the
Contractual Arrangements with the PRC Contractual
Entities to operate our program production business
in China. The Contractual Arrangements may not be
as effective in providing us with control over the PRC
Contractual Entities as direct ownership. If we had direct
ownership of the PRC Contractual Entities, we would
be able to exercise our rights as a shareholder to effect
changes in the board of directors of those entities, which
in turn could effect changes, subject to any applicable
fiduciary obligations, at the management level. However,
under the Contractual Arrangements, we rely on the
performance by the PRC Contractual Entities and their
shareholders of their obligations under the contracts
to exercise control over the PRC Contractual Entities.
Therefore, the Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Contractual Entities may not be as effective in ensuring our
control over our operations in China as direct ownership
would be.

Any failure by the PRC Contractual Entities or their
respective shareholders to perform their obligations under
the Contractual Arrangements with them would have
a material adverse effect on our business and financial
conditions.

If a PRC Contractual Entity or its shareholders fail
to perform their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements, we may have to incur substantial costs and
resources to enforce our rights under the contracts, and
rely on legal remedies under PRC law, including seeking
specific performance or injunctive relief and claiming
damages, which may not be effective. For example, if the
shareholders of a PRC Contractual Entity were to refuse to
transfer their equity interest in such Contractual Entity to us
or our designee when we exercise the call option pursuant
to the Contractual Arrangements, or if they were otherwise
to act in bad faith toward us, then we may have to take
legal actions to compel them to perform their contractual
obligations.

We conduct a substantial portion of our business
operations in the PRC through the PRC Contractual Entities
by way of the Contractual Arrangements, but certain of
the terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.
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All of these Contractual Arrangements are governed
by PRC laws and provide for the resolution of disputes
through arbitration in China. Accordingly, these contracts
would be interpreted in accordance with PRC laws and any
disputes would be resolved in accordance with PRC legal
procedures. The legal system in China is not as developed
as in other jurisdictions. As a result, uncertainties in the
PRC legal system could limit our ability to enforce these
contractual arrangements. Under PRC law, rulings by
arbitrators are final, parties cannot appeal the arbitration
results in courts, and the prevailing parties may only
enforce the arbitration awards in PRC courts through
arbitration award recognition proceedings, which would
incur additional expenses and delay. In the event we are
unable to enforce these contractual arrangements, we
may not be able to exert effective control over our the PRC
Contractual Entities, and our ability to conduct our business
may be negatively affected.

The Contractual Arrangements contain provisions to the
effect that the arbitral body may award remedies over
the shares and/or assets of the PRC Contractual Entities,
injunctive relief and/or winding up of the PRC Contractual
Entities. These agreements also contain provisions to the
effect that courts of competent jurisdictions are empowered
to grant interim remedies in support of the arbitration
pending the formation of an arbitral tribunal. However,
under PRC laws, these terms may not be enforceable.
Under PRC laws, an arbitral body does not have the power
to grant directly injunctive relief or to issue a provisional or
final liquidation order for the purpose of protecting assets of
or equity interests in the PRC Contractual Entities in case of
disputes. In addition, interim remedies or enforcement order
granted by overseas courts such as Hong Kong and the
Cayman Islands may not be recognisable or enforceable in
China. Therefore, in the event of breach of any agreements
constituting the Contractual Arrangements by the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders, and if
we are unable to enforce the Contractual Arrangements,
we may not be able to exert effective control over the PRC
Contractual Entities, which could materially and adversely
affect our ability to conduct our business.

Material Change
Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, there

is no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted.
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Unwinding of Contractual Arrangements

As at the date of this report, there is no unwinding of any
of the Contractual Arrangement or failure to unwind when
the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Contractual
Arrangements are removed.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the transactions set out
below which will be regarded as continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules. Unless otherwise
defined, capitalised terms below has the same meanings as
those defined in the Prospectus.

As disclosed in the section headed “Contractual
Arrangement” in this report, the business operations of the
PRC Contractual Entities constitute a business prohibited
to foreign investment in the PRC, therefore, the Company
cannot directly acquire equity interests in the PRC
Contractual Entities. As a result, the Group has entered
into Contractual Arrangement to exercise and maintain
control over the operations of the PRC Contractual Entities,
obtain their entire economic benefits and prevent leakage
of the assets and values of the PRC Contractual Entities
to their shareholders in the PRC. Under the Contractual
Arrangements, the Group supervises and controls the
business operations of the PRC Contractual Entities and
derives economic benefit from the PRC Contractual Entities
through New Talent Media.

The transactions under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules and are subject
to the requirements of reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules following the Listing.
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The table below sets forth the connected persons of the
Company involved in the Contractual Arrangements and

the nature of their connection with the Group:

Name of connected person

BEALTHE

TRFINENLHMPNARBIBEAL REEARKER
BHEE ¢

Connected relationship

MERE

Mr. Yang
Bt

Ms. Mu
B2t

PRC Contractual Entities
FEAEHES

Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media
BEREDREEERE

Beijing New Element Consulting Co. Ltd.
(“New Element”)
RN EZAFRAGRAB(FHHTE]D
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Mr. Yang is the Controlling Shareholder of the Group and is therefore our
connected person pursuant to Rule 20.06 of the GEM Listing Rules.
BRERB MR - FUREGEM R BII520.061& 2 M1H)
BEAL -

Ms. Mu is the Controlling Shareholder of the Group and is therefore our
connected person pursuant to Rule 20.06 of the GEM Listing Rules.
BT REMHZERER - FUREGEM MR RI520.0616 R M1#H)
BEAL -

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities is indirectly controlled by the
Controlling Shareholders of the Group and is therefore an associate of
the controlling shareholders and the connected person of the Group,
among other factors, pursuant to Rule 20.10 of the GEM Listing Rules.
EHRRENE R AERRREEZES - B AR PIEIERAR R VBE A
KARIEGEM AR Bl 522010168 (R 245 ) B MRBRE AL -

The Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media are shareholders of
Emphasis Media and the Company, and directors of New Talent Media.
Therefore the Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media are the
connected persons under the GEM Listing Rules.
BRIOKNEERRAERNK LA R BNRRRBERULERES -
Eit, - EREIRABEIRRR BB MINGEM TR BIA THREAL -

New Element is owned as to 60% by Mr. Yang and 40% by Ms. Mu
respectively, and is therefore an associate of Mr. Yang and Ms. Mu, the
Controlling Shareholders and the connected person of the Group, among
other factors, pursuant to Rule 20.10 of the GEM Listing Rules.
MNTERGRERE LT D FIBEF60%K40% » Eitt (Hh 3% ) R
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The Directors believe that the Company’s structure whereby
PRC Contractual Entities’ financial results are consolidated
into the Company’s consolidated financial statements as
if they were wholly-owned subsidiaries and the flow of
economic benefits from their business to the Company,
places the Group in a special position in relation to the
connected transactions rules. Accordingly, notwithstanding
that the transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements technically constitute continuing connected
transactions for the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Directors consider that it would be
unduly burdensome and impracticable and would impose
unnecessary administrative costs on us to be subject to
strict compliance with the requirements set out under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of these
continuing connected transactions. Accordingly, the
Company has, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, applied
to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange
has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the
announcement requirements relating to these continuing
connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.
In addition, the Directors confirm that the Company has
complied and will continue to comply with the applicable
provisions under the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the services
provided by New Talent Media under Contractual
Arrangements to the PRC Contractual Entities (including
technical and management consulting services and other
technology and consultancy services requested by each of
the PRC Contractual Entities from time to time to the extent
permitted under PRC laws) amounted to an aggregate of
approximately RMB5.9 million (value-added tax included).
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Pursuant to Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Board engaged CL Partners CPA Limited, the auditor
of the Company to report on the continuing connected
transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
CL Partners CPA Limited has issued his unqualified letter
containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the
Group in accordance with Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed
the Contractual Arrangements, the above continuing
connected transactions and the report of the auditor. In the
opinion of the independent non-executive directors:

(i) the continuing connected transactions carried out
during the year are in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and have been entered
into in accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Contractual Arrangements so that the revenue
generated by PRC Contractual Entities and the
subsidiaries of the Company have been mainly
retained by the Group;

(i) the continuing connected transactions were entered
into either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b)
where there is no available comparison, on terms that
are no less favourable to the Group than terms to or
from independent third parties;

(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made
by PRC Contractual Entities to its shareholders; and

(ivy any new Contractual Arrangements entered into,
renewed or reproduced between PRC Contractual
Entities and the Company during the relevant financial
period are fair and reasonable, or advantageous,
so far as the Company are concerned and in the
interests of our shareholders as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 1 December 2021, Beijing Chuangju Shi Dai Cultural
Communication Limited* (1t R 81 B B XL EHE B R
A A]) (the “Vendor”), the Company and Beijing Emphasis
Media Company Limited* (3t RER IR EH AR A F])
(the “Purchaser”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement
(the “Equity Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell and the Purchaser
has conditionally agreed to acquire, 10% equity interests
of Beijing Yiju Creative Technology Limited* ( 1t 3% 5 2 £l
ERIEAR AT (“Yiu Creative”) (the “Acquisition”) at the
consideration of RMB2,112,900, which would be settled
by the allotment and issue of 5,671,467 new Shares (the
“Consideration Shares”) by the Company to the Vendor or
its nominee(s) at HK$0.456 per Consideration Shares.

The Board considers that the Acquisition is beneficial to
the Group due to its great development potential in add-
value services for the entertainment industry via mobile
application development and operation such as promotional
planning and online advertising and the potential synergy
across the mobile application business and the artist
management business, upon the cooperation agreement
between the Yiju Creative and Beijing Shu Cai Cultural
Media Limited* (“Shu Cai”) materialized. The Directors are
of the view that the terms of the Equity Transfer Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder are on
normal commercial terms or better, fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole, but not entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group.

Before the Acquisition, the Yiju Creative was an 80%
owned subsidiary of the Company, while the Vendor
is a substantial shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) of the Yiju Creative by holding 10% equity
interest of the Yiju Creative. Accordingly, the Vendor is a
connected person to the Company on the subsidiary level
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As such, the
Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Acquisition was approved by the Shareholders at an
extraordinary general meeting held on 28 January 2022.
The Acquisition was completed and the Consideration
Shares have been allotted and issued on 31 January 2022.
Upon completion, the Company now holds 90% of the Yiju
Creative and will remain as an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.
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On 15 March 2019, Mr. Philip Jian Yang, as the landlord,
and Emphasis Media, as the tenant, entered into a tenancy
agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Mr. Philip Jian Yang agreed to lease a property (the
“Property”) to Emphasis Media. Mr. Philip Jian Yang is an
executive Director and chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company. He is the son of Mr. Yang and Ms. Mu,
the controlling shareholders of the Company. Accordingly,
Mr. Philip Jian Yang is a connected person of the Company
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules). As the Property is
owned by Mr. Philip Jian Yang and he has material interest
in the transaction under the Tenancy Agreement, the
transaction contemplated under the Tenancy Agreement
constitute a connected transaction of the Company.
Pursuant to the Tenancy Agreement, the leasing period is 3
years from 15 March 2019 and the monthly rental payable
is RMB95,000. Emphasis Media is also required to pay
RMB190,000 to Mr. Philip Jian Yang as rental deposit.

The Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accounts
(the “HKFRS”) applicable to the Group include HKFRS
16 “Leases” which came into effect on 1 January 2019.
Under HKFRS 16, the Group, as the lessee, shall recognise
a lease as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group. The transaction contemplated under the Tenancy
Agreement will be regarded as an acquisition of asset under
the definition of transaction set out in GEM Listing Rules
19.04(1)(a). The right-of-use asset recognised under the
transaction contemplated under the Tenancy Agreement
shall be approximately to RMB2,938,000, which is the
present value of the lease payments payable by Emphasis
Media (discounted by the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate of 8%) under the terms of the Tenancy Agreement. The
amount of lease liability recognised under the transaction
contemplated under the Tenancy Agreement shall be same
as the amount of right-of-use asset recognised.
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The Property is used as the head office and principal
place of business of the Group in the PRC. The Directors
considers that the change of head office and principal
place of business in the PRC was aligned with the
Group’s current operational requirements and business
development. The terms and the rental of the Tenancy
Agreement were determined after arm’s length negotiation
between the parties thereto and with reference to, amongst
other things, the current market rental for properties similar
to the Property and of comparable utility. The Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) are
of the view that the Tenancy Agreement is entered into
on normal commercial terms in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group and that the terms of the
Tenancy Agreement are fair, reasonable and in line with the
market level and in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other transaction
which needs to be disclosed as connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction in accordance with
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited (“BDQO”) has resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 19 November 2021 and CL
Partners CPA Limited has been appointed as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 19 November 2021 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of BDO.

CL Partners CPA Limited will retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Philip Jian Yang

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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@CL Partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CREATIVE CHINA
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 120 to 226, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfiled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of serial program rights

We identified the impairment assessment of serial program
rights as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
carrying amount of serial program rights of the Group to
the consolidated financial statements and the judgment
and estimation uncertainty involved in the management’s
assessment of the net realisable value of serial program
rights.

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount
of serial program rights amounted to RMB111,854,000. In
determining whether impairment are required, the Group
takes into consideration of the distribution and licensing
agreements entered into by the Group and the current
market environment to estimate the selling price from
licensing of the broadcasting rights to television channels
and online media platforms in the ordinary business and
related selling expenses. No impairment is recognised in
profit or loss in the year in which the net realisable value is
higher than the carrying amount.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of serial program rights included:

- Understanding the process of how management
performs assessment of the net realisable value of
serial program rights;

- Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology
used by management and its expert in determining
the net realisable value of serial program rights;

- Assessing the competency, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuation
expert by considering its qualification, relevant
experience and relationships with the Group;

- Evaluating and challenging the reasonableness of
the assumptions and judgments used in the future
cash flow projection, evaluating the management’s
assessment on the expected revenue to be
generated by the serial program rights by checking
the budget summary to the contracted amounts of
the distribution and licensing agreements and the
estimated revenue with reference to historical trend
and recent market forecasts; and

- Performing the recalculation of the management’s
assessment of net realisable value of serial program
rights.

OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements on 29 March 2021.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does

not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

CL Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Wai Chi
Practising Certificate Number: PO7830

24 March 2022
Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive In
ERmEMEEEE

for the year ended 31 December 2

BE-_Z-_—H+-A=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—B-—-F —E-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiEE ARBT R AREEF T
Revenue WA 7 59,307 45,664
Direct costs BHEMAA (17,187) (6,104)
Gross profit EA 42,120 39,560
Other income HA 8 227 413
Other gains and losses Hfth i zs 2 E5 18 9 (675) 37
Impairment loss under expected TBHEEEBREE TRE
credit loss model, net of reversal E548 - FEA (433) (412)
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SR AR (1,753) 978)
Administrative expenses TER X (13,923) (13,230)
Finance costs BFTER AR 14 (138) (5,258)
Profit before income tax B TS BT & 10 25,425 20,132
Income tax expenses s 15 (1,929) (76)
Profit for the year FNmF 23,496 20,056
Other comprehensive income that may A TAIREEH KD ETEH >
be reclassified subsequently to profitor HhZmEUKE :
loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign &GN E TEHY
operations fEH =58 202 698
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEB TR 23,698 20,754
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:  FE{5 & s FI (B548) :
Owners of the Company KATHEBA 23,561 20,003
Non-controlling interests eI (65) 53
23,496 20,056
Total comprehensive income (expense) FE{LERZE K (BI)
for the year attributable to: EE
Owners of the Company KATREBA 23,759 20,694
Non-controlling interests FEPERR AR (61) 60
23,698 20,754
(Restated)
(&5)
Earnings per share attributable to owners QA F#H AELER
of the Company R 16
— Basic and Diluted (RMB cents) —HAREEARESD) 7.94 8.11

PEAIRZERERAR
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t 31 December 2021
R—Z-_—-F+=-A=+—8

olidated Statement of Financial Position

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
5T ARET T ARETIT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - R MR 17 215 612
Right-of-use assets EAEEE 30 457 1,890
Intangible asset B EE 18 7,516 -
Financial assets at fair value through BRAREFT ABZER
profit or loss TREE 20 - 5,000
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 8,188 7,502
Current assets REEE
Serial program rights EEBI N 19 111,854 111,976
Trade and other receivables E 5 K H b U GRIE 21 116,570 87,579
Amounts due from non-controlling interests ~ fEUWIEIRAS 25 7118 31(b) 1,747 4,639
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 6,126 11,379
Total current assets REBEEHAE 236,297 215,573
Total assets EEHAE 244,485 223,075
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables g S e IR 22 64,804 24,596
Other payables R ANE e 23 37,241 37,344
Contract liabilities aHBaE 24 14,195 15,369
Tax payables JERITRIR 6,318 4,426
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 540 2,124
Loans due to shareholders FER TR R E 5K 31(c) 22,690 21,237
Loans due to a director BT —RESHER 31(d) 3,189 1,178
Total current liabilities REEEHEE 148,977 106,274
Net current assets REBEEFE 87,320 109,299
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 95,508 116,801
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Trade payables =) AN S 22 - 48,900
Lease liabilities HEEE 30 - 501
Total non-current liabilities FRBABHEE - 49,401
Total liabilities I=REf b 148,977 155,675
NET ASSETS EEFE 95,508 67,400

Creative China Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2021




Consolidated Statement of Financial Po

ll‘/—.r\ = /\7.1-%&

as at 31 December 2
R-ZB-—-F+=A=t+-—-H

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —E-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiEE AREET T ARBTT
Capital and reserves BEARK #E

Share capital N 26 13,810 13,188
Reserves e 28 81,853 54,306

Equity attributable to owners of the RATEEANELER
Company 95,663 67,494
Non-controlling interests PG 27 (155) (94)
TOTAL EQUITY R 95,508 67,400

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 226
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 24 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf
by:

Philip Jian Yang

8 4
5 %

F120E226 AN A MBHREREN T __F= H Jr@
HEE=SHENRENE  YHA TESHREE

Yang Jianping
Bz
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olidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BREEER

the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

Reserves Equity
e attributable
Foreign to owners Non-
Share Share Other Merger  exchange Accumulated ofthe  controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses  Company interests Total
LN
2N

Bx  BfEE  AMERE  oHBR  EXRR  TIER  RGER  HERER it
RMBOOO  RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBIOOD  RWBIOO0  RWBI00
ARRTR  ARRTT ARBTR ARRTR ARMTR ARBTR ARRTR ARMTR ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2020 R=Z=FE-f-4

iftd 11,788 158,096 5,362 9,300 (24)  (146,204) 38,118 (154) 37,964
Proft for the year FRER - - - - - 20,003 20,003 5 20,05
Other comprehensiveincome  H e 2 A& - - - - 691 - 691 7 698
Totel comprehensiveincome.~~ ERZENGEE
for the year - - - - 691 20,003 20,694 60 20,754
lssue of shares under placing, ~ IRERERTRI -
net of ssuing expenses MREIEE
Inote 2603 (H:2260) 1400 728 - - - - e 1
Balance at 31 December 2020 W-E-EE+-f
and 1 January 2021 =t-BR-E=-%
—R-BH&H 13,188 165,378 5,362 9,300 467 (126,201) 67,494 (94) 67,400
Proft oss) for the year EREH (B8) - - - - - 03561 23561 b5 2349
Other comprehensiveincome~~ Bt 2EHE - - - - 198 - 198 4 202
Total comprehensive income~~~ FR2EME ()
(expensg) for the year ke - - - - 198 23,561 28,759 61) 23698
Issue of shares under RERBRAZTRG
consideration shares, net of MREIRE
issuing expenses ote 26(b)  (Hi260) 622 3788 - - - - 4410 - 4410
Balance at 31 December 2021 M=E-—F+-F
=+-HHisH 13,810 169,166 5,362 9,300 665 (102,640) 95,663 (155) 9,508
Nature and purpose of reserves are disclosed in note 28. AT LR STERM 28 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash
EIRER

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBETIT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHELERERE
Profit before income tax BRET1S T AT & FI 25,425 20,132
Adjustments for: FEETHE
Interest income FBUA ] ©)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEDE  BENREWRE
equipment (&) -
Finance costs B TSR AR 138 5,258
Impairment loss under expected credit loss ~ FBHAE B EBEL TRE
model, net of reversal 518 - HEE 433 412
Depreciation of property, plant and Yz - R REETE
equipment 439 822
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 1,419 1,524
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — B A E = - (34)
Amortisation of intangible asset ER A EEE 915 -
Operating profit before working BIEBEAREB P L&
capital changes gl 28,759 28,105
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K FoAth JFE U R IEE N (29,345) (34,930)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from FEURIE PR RS M 2 SR IER A (35 M)
non-controlling interests 2,813 (3,300)
Decrease in trade payables B 5 e F B (8,692) (17,643)
(Decrease) increase in other payables E R FIECRH )N (1,813) 3,275
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities AHBECRD) M (1,136) 1,300
Cash used in operations CEFARS (9,414) (23,193)
Income taxes paid B SR (15) (337)
Net cash used in operating activities LESEB TR SRR (9,429) (23,530)
FEABERERAT % FEERE

124



125

A E
HE //ILE?E
the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

olidated Statement of Cash Flows

2021 2020
s T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Cash flows from investing activities REFHELERERE
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERAREFABENEHEE
at fair value through profit and loss Fr{S3k3R 5,000
Interest received BFIE 7
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYZE WERKREEHIE
plant and equipment 3 -
Purchase of intangible asset BEERFEE (4,000) -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B E ¥ « HE L BE (42) (37)
Net proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary &~ B R T EZIE%E - 2,000
Net cash from investing activities WEREFISREFHE 968 1,972
Cash flows from financing activities RELTBEERERE
Loans from shareholders fREREF 2,000 26,856
Repayment of shareholders’ loans EERRER - (12,750)
Loans from a director EFEN 2,044 -
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERR (498) (1,072)
Proceeds from issue of shares under placing, 1EIE AL E 31T FT1SRIE
net of issuing expenses MEREITER - 8,682
Net cash from financing activities BB RS RS TR 3,546 21,716
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash ReERIBeEEWMORD)IEM
equivalents R (4,915) 158
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes GNEETE R B R 2 (338) (318)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REVHIRENESEEY
of the year 11,379 11,539
Cash and cash equivalents at end RERNRE RIS EEY —
of the year — represented ERRBITEHRLIES
by bank balances and cash only 6,126 11,379

Creative China Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2021




CORPORATE INFORMATION

Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 1 November 2013. The address
of its registered office is at the offices of Codan
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. Its principal place of
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
is located at Room 1901, 19/F, Yulin Building, No. 5A
Xiangjun Nanli 2nd Alley, Chaoyang District, Beijing,
the PRC, and its principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at 23/F, Yue Thai Commercial
Building, 128 Connaught Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong. Up to the date of approval of the
consolidation financial statements, Youth Success
Holdings Limited and Guang Rui Investments Limited
are its immediate and ultimate parent respectively.
Guang Rui Investments Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Yang Shaogian and his
spouse, Ms. Mu Sufang.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding while its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the provision of film and television program original
script creation, adaptation, production and licensing
and related services, concert and event organisation
services, mobile application development and
operation services and artist management. The
Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred
as the “Group” hereafter.

The World Health Organisation declared global health
emergency over new coronavirus outbreak on 30
January 2020. The following segments have been
affected:

° postponement of the negotiation of licensing
the broadcasting rights under the program
production segment;

° postponement of concert organisation.

The directors of the Company are continuing to
assess the implications of COVID-19 pandemic to the
business in which the Group operates. Depending
on the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and
continued negative impact on economic activity,
the Group might experience further negative results
in the concert and event organisation segment and
impairments on its assets in 2022. However, the
exact impact in the remainder of 2022 and thereafter
cannot be predicted.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

DEEHR

HREBIEZERERAG([ARF N IIRE—=4F
+T—A—BERSEESTMRINBERAGF ©
it #% == & #b 4t & Codan Trust Company (Cayman)
Limited, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands °
HepgE A\RHEMBE(THE]) 2 FE2EBMUA R
B R#5 R = 22 B RS M AR AE19/E 1901
= MAEBEEEBHIURNES LIRTHED128
R EMEARNE23E c BESESVBREMER
Hi » Youth Success Holdings Limited & Yt B 15 & AR
RAPDRAEEERERE AR - XIGEREBRA
AEGAREERARBEZST LT 2 ERERH
A e

ARRETERH/REZER  MEMBERR T2
ERUPEHN BRENREANE R - BUE -
TRBEAEY  REEREBERRYT  BBER
RFHORENELERERBAGLERE - ARA R
HB AR T X ml AsE ] -

HAFEABN _Z_TF-A=THEMHLE
REBRRNEEREFEZRNRE - ATRBK

L B2 48R .
-2

o ETBRUERBIA MR BT A TR

o RIEBEH|MTHY -

RRABESHETHCOVID-19E B REELESE
B2 Z & - 1 FCOVID-19%1E 2 FE R MM E 8B
APHNBEAEATE  AREIXN T __FNE
BEEBEMRRE - SRESEERXENNEE
EE-—FELRE HHR-_FT__FHTHHELK
Hig o EER B ATRA -

THARERERAT T FEERS
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the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE-Z--—F+-A=+—HLEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

- Phase 2

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of
the IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”)
of the International Accounting Standards Board
issued in June 2021 which clarified the costs an
entity should include as “estimated costs necessary
to make the sale” when determining the net realisable
value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the

related Amendments®

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)°
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies®

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction®

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

April 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined

Except as described below, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
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the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE-Z--—F+-A=+—HLEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)"

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be
affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within
12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the right
exists if the conditions are met at the end
of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later
date; and

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
“Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised
as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to
align the corresponding wordings with no change in
conclusion.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to
the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the consolidated financial
position or performance of the Group but may affect
the disclosures of the Group’s significant accounting
policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial
statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
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the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE-Z--—F+-A=+—HLEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of
Accounting Estimates”

The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting
policy may require items in financial statements to
be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may
require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must
instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the
objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing
accounting estimates involves the use of judgements
or assumptions based on the latest available, reliable
information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting
estimates in HKAS 8 is retained with additional
clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation to the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 167),
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS
36 “Impairment of Assets”.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
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3.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of
the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company and its major
subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and
assets is determined not to be a business and no
further assessment is needed.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group
identifies and recognises the individual identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquire and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the International Accounting Standards Committee’s
“Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements” (replaced by the “Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting” issued in
September 2010).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the
acquisition date;

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of
low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers in the
Group’s ordinary activities are recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to
the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred
over time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over
time, revenue is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or
service.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to
the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amounts
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method.

For contracts where the period between the payment
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is
one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Program production and related services

(i) Licensing of broadcasting rights of serial
programs

Revenue from licensing of broadcasting
rights of serial programs are recognised
at the point in time when the customer
obtains the physical possession of
master tape of the completed program.
Generally, the Group does not have
an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date until
when the master tape is delivered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
A SRR

for the year ended 31 December 2
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BREFBERGE)

(CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (continued) Wz ()
(a) Program production and related services (a) BTEHREREEBRE(E)
(continued)
(i) Provision of distribution agency service (i) FEHBITICEEARR
Income from the distribution agency BITRERBUAREER D EITTE
service is recognised when the serial RIAE A BT Ao 55
programs have been distributed to TV ERER —MME - AREEMEHR
channels or online media platforms and e 5 A RO R R 26 o

the amounts can be measured reliably,
which is generally at the point in time
when the Group is notified of its share of
profit entitlement.

(i) Production income (i) REHA
Production income is recognised at the BEIWARBFES TEEHENTTER
point in time when the customer obtains BrEERR c —MRIBAT F REBREE
the physical possession of master tape RATEIBRIAILETRAONR  BE
of the completed program. Generally, the BRAEE -

Group does not have an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed
to date until when the master tape is

delivered.

(iv)  Sale of script copyright and program (v) [HEEITIFEREH
Revenue from sale of script copyright and HEBRREREE 2ZWARMERLR
program is recognised at the point in time NBIZASEN B KRB A E B EED
when the script or program is delivered RAZER - —MIBERT  AEERE
and title of script or program has passed ERNITEERALEETEANETR B
to the customers. Generally, the Group EERMEIANKEE ©

does not have an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date until when the script or program is
delivered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

Concert and event organisation and
related services

The Group is responsible for organising
concerts and earns revenue from ticket sales.
Revenue from concert ticket sales is recognised
over the period when the relevant concerts
are held by the Group as the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance
of its performance obligations.

The Group is also responsible for private event
organisation and related services. Revenue
from service income is recognised over the
period when the relevant events are held by the
Group as the customers simultaneously receive
and consume the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance.

Revenue from sales of concert souvenirs are
recognised at point in time at time of payment
by customer, at which time control of goods
are transferred to the customer.

When another party is involved in providing
goods or services to its customer, the Group
determines whether it is a principal or an agent
in these transactions by evaluating the nature
of its promise to the customer. The Group is
a principal and records revenue on a gross
basis (i.e. for concerts primarily responsible
to conduct by the Group) if it controls the
promised goods or services before transferring
them to the customer. However, if the Group’s
role is only to arrange for another entity to
provide the goods or services, then the Group is
an agent (i.e. program production income) and
will need to record revenue at the net amount
that it retains for its agency services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BREFBERGE)

(CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (continued) Wz ()
(c) Mobile application development and (c) BEEFEFHFHZEFEELUREBRY
operation and related services
() Online program production services () A LEHRIERE
There was no income generated from RERN - HBEEHBRELREHEBK
online program production during A WASEBERAFEERE A L&
the year. If the Group has entered B 2ERRSEISLAE S L& BIIRA
into the same terms of contract with AR fE BE TR o

customers for online program production
during current year, revenue would be
recognised at point in time.

(i) E-commerce services () EEHRE

E-commerce services primarily comprised ETHERSETEEEMA:  ERER
commission, based on a fixed percentage HEPRAEEZENHB T A TRE
of the transaction amount, earned by the RHGHAEERINZZEENETEE
Group when transactions between buyers DHEF  AEBEREEGRTERR

and merchants are completed in the NETZEERTARREEENER
online platform operated by the Group. SR - PR BIESEREERIR
The Group is neither subject to inventory TEHIBAG -

risk nor primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the specified
good or service. The merchants has the
discretion in establishing the prices of
specified good or service.

Commission income from e-commerce EFHERBHASKREREAEEER
services is recognised when the Group ME P REWEASERRER - —
has a present right to receive the BAEBEREN PR SRR

commission from merchant, which
is generally the point in time when
the transactions between buyers and
merchants are completed.
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the year ended 31 December 2021
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) Mobile application development and
operation and related services (continued)

(i)

Mobile live broadcasting services

The Group operates self-developed live
broadcasting platform. The Group’s
platform is free to visit and watch.
Everyone is free to join the platform as a
broadcaster. Visitors can purchase credits
which are virtual currency for acquisition
of in-platform virtual items. Visitors can
show their support to live broadcasters
by transferring/gifting the ownership of
in-platform virtual items to broadcasters.
Upon the sales of credits or in-platform
virtual items, the Group typically has an
implied obligation to provide the services
which enable the credits or in-platform
virtual items to be displayed, used or
converted into other in-platform virtual
currencies/items in the platform. As a
result, the proceeds received from sales
of credits or in-platform virtual items are
initially recorded as contract liabilities or
receipt in advance in current liabilities
prior to initial application of HKFRS 15.
The attributable portion relating to values
of the credits consumed and in-platform
virtual items converted are able to be
reliably estimated. Broadcasters can sell
those in-platform virtual items back to the
Group at a pre-determined discount or
transferring/gifting those virtual items to
another broadcaster.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) Mobile application development and
operation and related services (continued)

(i)

(v)

v)

Mobile live broadcasting services
(continued)

There was no revenue generated from
mobile live broadcasting business during
the year. If there is any in-platform
virtual items sell back to the Group from
broadcasters, the Group would transfer
the monetary value of in-platform virtual
items net of the pre-determined discount
to the broadcasters, and recognise the
pre-determined discount as revenue at
the point of time redemption made by
broadcasters.

Online advertising and promotional
services

The Group’s mobile application “Aiwoo”
(an APP to provide online fans and
celebrities with the tools necessary to
engagement and interaction) allows
customers to place advertisements in
particular areas of Aiwoo at fixed prices.

Revenue from online advertising services
is recognised ratably over the period in
which the advertisement is agreed to be
displayed.

Sale of mobile application

The Group develops customized
entertainment mobile application and
provides overall solutions for customers.
Revenue from sales of customized mobile
application is recognized at the point in
time when the right to use the mobile
application is transferred to the customer,
generally upon the acceptance by the
customer.

=
=
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(d) Artist management income

When another party is involved in providing
services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or
to arrange for those services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the
specified good or service before that service
is transferred to a customer. The Group is an
agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified service by
another party. The Group applies judgment to
determine control under the principal-versus-
agent as well as which of the indicators are
more relevant depending on the facts and
circumstances of the specific transaction.

(e) Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis
on the principal outstanding at the applicable
interest rate.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from
the customer and assumes performance obligations
to transfer goods or provide services to the customer.
The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. The contract
is an asset and recognised as contract assets (if
any) at end of reporting period when the measure
of the remaining rights exceeds the measure of the
remaining performance obligations. Conversely,
the contract is a liability and recognised as contract
liabilities when the measure of the remaining
performance obligations exceeds the measure of the
remaining rights.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

The Group recognises the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer, within contract
assets (if any) if the Group expects to recover those
costs.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is
presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties
are classified as property, plant and equipment.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The
useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining
lives of the leases
but not exceeding

10 years
Office equipment 3-5 years
Computer equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Serial program rights

These represent (i) serial program rights investment
with legal and contractual rights held in respect of
serial programs under co-financing arrangements
entered into by the Group, and (ii) exclusive
adaptation right of serial program. These rights
are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value of serial program rights is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

The amount of serial program rights recognised as
direct costs for a given period is determined using
the revenue forecast computation method. Under
this method, the amortisation of serial program rights
and the accrual of participations and residuals are
based on the proportion of the revenue recognised
for such period for each individual drama series to the
estimated total revenue of that drama series (i.e. the
total revenue to be received throughout the life cycle
of the drama series).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses/revalued amounts, being their fair
value at the date of the revaluation less subsequent
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be
impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
(including property, plant and equipment) are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over
the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable and are recognised
as other revenue, rather than reducing the related
expense.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds
received and the fair value of the loan based on
prevailing market interest rates.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

(@) Financial assets

The Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

() Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies
its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. A
gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a
hedging relationship is recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised or impaired. Interest
income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method.
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the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

(@) Financial assets (continued)

(i) Debt instruments (continued)

Fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):
Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for
selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other
comprehensive income (“OCl”),
except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
revenue and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in “other gains
and losses”. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective
interest rate method.

Fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL"): Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss and
is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net in “other gains and
losses” in the period in which it
arises.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
(@) Financial assets (continued)
(i) Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all
equity investments at fair value. Where
the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss. The
amount accumulated in OCI remains in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred within equity. Dividends
from such investments continue to be
recognised in ‘other income’ when the
Group’s right to receive payments is
established. All other equity investments
are classified as FVPL, whereby changes
in fair value, dividend and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised in “other gains and losses”
as applicable.

(i) - Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the financial asset expire,
or it transfers the rights to receive the
contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset
are transferred or in which the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership
and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

=
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the year ended 31 December 2021
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

(@) Financial assets (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets

The group assesses on a forward looking
basis the expected credit loss (“ECL”)
associated with its debt instrument
carried at amortised cost and financial
assets at fair value through OCI. The
Group impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

The ECL is measured on either a
lifetime or a 12-month basis. Lifetime
ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the
expected life of the relevant instrument.
The maximum period considered
when estimating ECL is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

For trade receivables from third parties,
the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires a
lifetime ECL to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition
instead of on evidence of a financial asset
being credit-impaired at the reporting
date or an actual default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
IREBTERR

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BREFBERGE)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued) SWMITAE)

(a) Financial assets (continued) (a) ZHEEE)

(iv)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) (v) ZEEEEGE)

In assessing whether the credit risk on EFEEVEERAREMTAEER
a financial instrument has increased BB AIEIZINE - REBESHREE
significantly since initial recognition, the WERHSRTAEFFEORREHE
Group compares the risk of a default TR AHESR T AEEENRR -
occurring on the financial instrument EHR LT R - AREEEZE RSB R
as at the reporting date with the risk ENEUREMNER  BREBTER
of a default occurring on the financial FEF A H TN ERK A LS AT ER
instrument as at the date of initial SHIBTIEEER - IZEMAEEER
recognition. In making this assessment, BIERS BT R HE (45 )&
the Group considers both quantitative BHNEBRASEEGEHEALEMETEN
and qualitative information that is RIRFIE - A REAREEZ OB
reasonable and supportable, including B R N T8 ORI AS O R & TE SN 2ROR
historical experience and forward-looking HZEE o

information that is available without undue
cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from financial
analysts and governmental bodies (if
available), as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information THEHE  EEEVERERUAREER
is taken into account when assessing BEDEEZIEINE - BEERATER

whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

e an actual or expected significant o TRTEAEAMINB(KA)LAFEA
deterioration in the financial AR B B R E =L

instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external e NS EERBRETEEZERL -
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. WERAZE - BEAERENES
a significant increase in the credit B KRIBIEN

spread the credit default swap
prices for the debtors;
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the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
(@) Financial assets (continued)
(iv)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

° existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes
that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group
assumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
(@) Financial assets (continued)
(iv)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if (i) the financial
instrument has a low risk of default (i.e.
no default history), (i) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term
and (iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a financial instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood
definition.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

(v)  Measurement of ECLs

The measurement of expected credit loss,
either on a lifetime or 12-month basis, is a
function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default taking into consideration for
time value of money. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data
adjusted by forward looking information.
As for the exposure at default, for financial
assets, this is represented by the assets’
gross carrying amount at the end of each
reporting period.

=
=
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the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

(@) Financial assets (continued)

(vi)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following
as constituting an event of default for
internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates
that receivables that meet either of
the following criteria are generally not
recoverable.

o when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the counterparty; or

° information developed internally
or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
IRAMB®RE

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BREFBERGE)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued) SWMITAE)

(a) Financial assets (continued) (a) ZHEEE)

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets (Vi) FESERER S HEE

At each reporting date, the Group MNEREER - REE IR AT AR
assesses on a forward looking basis HIRBHEKAIIRNEREESR D
whether financial assets carried at EEERE - ERE—EAXZEEES
amortised cost are credit-impaired. THEEMNRRRESRENGHTETF
A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ FEAN  RlemEESCBEEERE -

when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is HemEEEERENBERBENTH
credit-impaired includes the following a8

observable data:

e significant financial difficulty of the o BITASERARARENR
borrower or issuer;

e a breach of contract such as a o BRAEY) - PIINEL S EERE -
default or past due event.

(viij)  Presentation of allowance for ECL in (Vi) TEARE BT R R 22 B R E BE 15
the consolidated statement of financial B
position
Loss allowances for financial assets LABE SR At EM S R E ERE 1B BHE
measured at amortised cost are deducted WEENREAZED G -
from the gross carrying amount of the
assets.

(x)  Write-off (x) s
The gross carrying amount of a financial WM EERAIKEMAIR @R EEK
asset is written off (either partially or in ANEENBEmAzE (D25 @
full) to the extent that there is no realistic M o WHIAREBERBEBALEEE
prospect of recovery. This is generally the WA KB ELEEHANIRES RIAES
case when the Group determines that the WY HMERIE Y —RRIE R o AR - A
debtor does not have assets or sources EENEHENSREESEEEKE
of income that could generate sufficient BHTIE METFAEFKE EKSEE
cash flows to repay the amounts subject HFRfF

to the write-off. However, financial assets
that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply
with the Group’s procedures for recovery
of amounts due.
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the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

(b)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

(i) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of an entity after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

(i) Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method except
for contingent consideration recognised
by the Group in a business combination,
which shall subsequently be measured
at fair value with changes recognised in
profit or loss.

(i) Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s
obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE-Z--—F+-A=+—HLEFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation
on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for
the principal portion of lease liabilities results in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign
currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise, except for exchange differences
on monetary items receivable from or payable to
a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of
the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income
and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the
date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of foreign exchange reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement
or an associate that includes a foreign operation of
which the retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Employee benefits
(i)  Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

(i)  Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss when the services are rendered by the
employees.

(iij) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable, will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the regular
internal financial information reported to the executive
directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group’s business components and for their
review of the performance of those components.

Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Company’s
parent.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

U

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees
of the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
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the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE-Z--—F+-A=+—HLEFE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the managements are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Management has also exercised
judgment in determining the timing of realisation
of the assets and settlement of the outstanding
payables and committed contractual payments
during the operation of the Group and preparation
of cash flow forecasts. However, because not all
future events or conditions can be predicted, and the
COVID-19 pandemic has created and may continue
to create significant uncertainty in macro economic
conditions, actual results might differ from these
judgments and estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties

()

Impairment assessment of receivables

The provision rate of receivables is made based
on assessment of their recoverability and
aging analysis of receivables as well as other
quantitative and qualitative information and
on management’s judgment and assessment
of the forward-looking information. At end of
reporting period, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between
historical observed default rates, forecast
economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and of forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of
customer and counterparties’ actual default in
the future.

The economic downturn and uncertainties that
have arisen as a result of COVID-19 pandemic
have made these estimates more judgemental,
which the Group has taken into account in its
determination of applicable expected credit
losses. Further information on the impairment
assessment on receivables are provided in note
34(a).
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the year ended 31 December 2021
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

(i)

(iii)

Fair value measurement of financial asset
at FVYPL

The fair value measurement of financial assets
at FVPL are categorised within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy and determined by
referencing to the latest market transactions
involving the financial assets. The fair value of
the financial assets at FVPL are disclosed in
note 33.

Amortisation of serial program rights

The amount of serial program rights recognised
as direct costs for a given period is determined
using the revenue forecast computation
method. Under this method, the amortisation
of serial program rights and the accrual of
participations and residuals are based on the
proportion of the revenue recognised for such
period for each individual drama series to the
estimated total revenue of that drama series (i.e.
the total revenue to be received throughout the
life cycle of the drama series).

The management of the Group regularly
reviews the basis of the amortisation and will
adjust the amortisation method when the
expected changes in the revenue of the drama
series arise.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

(iv) Impairment assessment of serial program
rights

The Group carries out a serial program rights
review on a project-by-project basis at the end
of each reporting period and makes provision
for obsolete projects. Net realisable value of
serial program rights is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses.
These estimates are made with reference to
both internal and external market information,
for example, future income to be received from
licensing of the broadcasting rights to television
channels and online media platforms taking into
consideration of the distribution and licensing
agreements entered into by the Group and
the current market environment. Changes in
assumptions used in this assessment, including
the estimated future income, may result in
impairment being made in the consolidated
financial statements. The management of the
Group reassesses the estimation at the end of
each reporting period.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
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the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE-Z--—F+-A=+—HLEFE

6.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”) that are used to make
strategic decisions.

The Group has the following reportable segments
which are managed separately as each business
offers different products and services and requires
different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s
reportable and operating segments:

- Program production and related services
(“Program Production”)

Program Production segment provides film
and television program original script creation,
adaptation, production and licensing and
related services.

- Concert and event organisation and related
services (“Concert and Event Organisation”)

Concert and Event Organisation segment
provides organisation services, such as
music concerts, prize presentation ceremony,
automobile shows, university alumni and other
performance events.

- Mobile application development and operation
and related services (“Mobile Application
Development and Operation”)

Mobile Application Development and Operation
segment provides electronic platforms for
entertainment contents consumption and
e-commerce, such as online store. This
segment also provides online program
production, online advertising and promotional
services, mobile application development and
related services.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

- Artist management and related services (“Artist
Management”)

Artist management segment provides agency
service for the artists for arrangement of
different performance activities.

Inter-segment transactions are priced with
reference to prices charged to external parties
for similar order. Central revenue and expenses
are not allocated to the operating segments
as they are not included in the measure of the
segments’ profit that is used by the CODM for
assessment of segment performance.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

6. ZEEHE (K

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(a) Business segments (a) XKD
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-E-—F+=-A=+—HLEE
Mobile
Application
Concert Development
Program and Event and Artist
Production Organisation Operation Management Total
EEER BBEREF
GiEE% EBHER MERNEE BARRE wst
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
ARETT AR®TRT AR%®Tn AR¥TT AR¥ETR
Revenue from contracts with BP&N W
customers 40,410 265 13,632 5,000 59,307
Represented by: PATFIRERTR -
Recognised over time R—BEmRER
— Provision of event organisation  — i2tEEIE
services BR7% - 265 - - 265
— Provision of artist management ~ — 2t A 4542
services R - - - 5,000 5,000
— Provision of online advertising ~ — R4 LB
services - - 4,510 - 4,510
Recognised at a pointintime A —{ERMHLRER
— Sale of script copyright — HEEIA R 40,410 - - - 40,410
~ Sale of mobile live - HERHEERE
broadcasting app JEEESY - - 9,122 - 9,122
Reportable segment revenue from  REIMNIE S 2
external customers A 285 ke 40,410 265 13,632 5,000 59,307
Reportable segment profit/(loss) A £ % & A,/
(E18) 20,667 (590) 9,528 3,181 32,786
Interest income FIEHA 4 - 2 1 7
Interest expense FIERZ (101) (12) - (12) (125)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets [ EAEIRE (979) (147) - (147) (1,273)
Depreciation of property, plant mE - BELRE
and equipment e (437) - @ - (439)
Amortisation of intangible asset & EE S - - (919) - (919)
Reportable segment assets EHHPEE 187,803 18,148 32,548 5,108 243,607
Addition to non-current assets FRGEERE
(note 1) (Hizt1) 9 - 8,464 - 8,473
Reportable segment liabilties AEHHPEE (99,961) (10,325) (2,035) (6,708) (119,029)
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SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

Business segments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

6. ZE®E(E)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
A SRR

for the year ended 31 December 2

BE-_Z-_—H+-A=+—HLEE

(@) HHBoE(H)

HE_Z-ZF+-A=+—HLFE

Mobile
Application
Concert Development
Program  and Event and Artist
Production  Organisation Operation  Management Total
wieer BIERER
RS BBER ORBMEE EIN S Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RM,B’OOO RMB’000 RMIB'OOO
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
Revenue from contracts with RP&#z e
customers 18,276 1,156 13,632 12,600 45,664
Represented by: ARSI BIBRR
Recognised over time R—BiRERED
— Provision of event organisation ~ — 12t EEIENHR
services % - 1,156 - - 1,156
- Provision of artist management  — 1R HEE AL LR
services % - - - 12,600 12,600
— Provision of online advertising ~ — 2B FES
services - - 13,632 - 13,632
Recognised at a pointintime ~ RA—{ERFEERER
— Sale of script copyright — M EBIA R 18,276 - - - 18,276
Reportable segment revenue from  REINFE S 2
external customers BEE G 18,276 1,156 13,632 12,600 45,664
Reportable segment profit/loss) A 2D EEF],/
(B18) 5,205 (330) 11,139 10,829 26,843
Interest income FIEMA 4 - 3 1 8
Interest expense FERY (5,182) (25) - (25) (5,232)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets [ EEERE (979) (181) - (181) (1,341)
Depreciation of property, plant mE - BEREE
and equipment e (607) - (1) (179) (787)
Reportable segment assets 2R FEE 165,410 23,647 26,904 1,353 217,314
Addition to non-current assets FRBEENE
(note 1) (Hizt1) - 315 5 315 635
Reportable segment liabilities AEHHHEE (108,427 (9,442) (6,533) (5,180) (129,582)
Note: Bt -
(1) Non-current assets include property, plant and (1) FERDEEBEVE BERRE CHAEE
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible EREFAE -
asset.
FEAEERERAT T FFEHRS
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SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b)

6. ZE®|E(E)

Reconciliation of reportable segment (b) TEFHFSBUE - 8% - BEREBZYHER
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTIT
Revenue &
Reportable segment and consolidated A 2H B RERE W
revenue 59,307 45,664
2021 2020
—E-—F T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Profit before income tax RRETSBLATR R
Reportable segment profit A 25 EmF 32,786 26,843
Other income: EAA -
— Interest income — RS UA - 1
Other gains or losses: Et iz B 1R -
— Exchange loss —[E A k518 (678) (12)
Unallocated corporate expenses: AN ARIAY
— Auditor’s remuneration it Gk (589) (845)
— Directors’ emoluments —E=5Me (2,553) (2,650)
— Legal and professional fee —EERBEXER (1,825) (959)
— Salaries and other benefits for key —FTEEERITHAE
management and administration staff e REMER (1,266) (1,519
— General operating expenses ——MREERX (450) (727)
Consolidated profit before income tax FRET1S I ATAR & m A 25,425 20,132
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SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
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6. ZE®E(E)

Reconciliation of reportable segment b) TEFR/BUE  EBxFE BEREBZHER
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities (&)
(continued)
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFTT
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets &"*Bﬁ? 243,607 217,314
Unallocated corporate assets: 51% NAIEE :
— Property, plant and equipment —%%~M%&% 133 284
- Bank balances and cash — RIS MR 305 298
— Financial assets at fair value through —RARBEFAEBRZ
profit or loss TREE - 5,000
— Others —HAth 440 179
Consolidated total assets MEBERE 244,485 223,075
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Liabilities Ef‘
Reportable segment liabilities AE2WmHEaE 119,029 129,582
Unallocated corporate liabilities: D EE’E AIAE :
— Accruals and other payables *E#%%&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ
A 4,069 3,678
- Loans due to shareholders —RIGRERHER 22,690 21,287
- Loans due to a director — R —BEENER 3,189 1,178
Consolidated total liabilities meBEesE 148,977 155,675
FEAEERERAT T FFEHRS
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(c) Geographic information

The following table provides a geographical
analysis of the Group’s revenue from external

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. ZE®|E(E)

(c) HEESR

TREHASEIIND TP REAIBEIT

customers:

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTIT
(note) (note)
(K1) (K15)

Hong Kong BE
— Sale of script copyright — BB AR ki 13,508 7,427
— Provision of event organisation services —RLEBE RS 265 -
— Sale of mobile live broadcasting app —HEBRHERERER 9,122 -

PRC B
— Sale of script copyright — BB ARk 26,902 10,849
— Provision of event organisation services — IR EE PR - 1,156
— Provision of online advertising services — A FESRG 4,510 13,632
— Provision of artist management services —RRHBARLRS 5,000 12,600
59,307 45,664

Note: Geographical region of customers is based on
the location at which the goods and services
are provided.
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(d) Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2021,
revenues from four customers (2020: four

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
A BB HRE

for the year ended 31 December 2

BE-_Z-_—H+-A=+—HLEE

6. ZE®E(E)
d FRXEEFHNER
BE-T_—

FH-A=+—-RHILFE  XKa

maEF (224 IREP)NRECH

customers) with whom transactions have BASERFRWEAI10% © FIBNT -
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue for the
year. Details were as follows:
2021 2020
—E—F —ETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
Customer I: ESS
— Program Production — BB &E 14,151 N/AD
Customer II: ZPI
— Program Production — 5B ®1E 13,508 7,427
Customer III: 2RI -
— Program Production — 5B ®1E 12,100 10,849
Customer IV: BRIV :
— Mobile Application Development and — BB EREFFREN
Operation B 9,122 N/AD
Customer V: BPV:
— Mobile Application Development and — BB EREFHFREAN
Operation B N/A® 10,318
Customer VI: ZPVI:
— Artist Management — 8 AL N/A0 9,387
48,881 37,981
Notes: Wit -
0] The corresponding revenue in the year ended 0] HE-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HLFE "

31 December 2020 for Customer | and IV did
not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of
the Group.

(ii) The corresponding revenue in the year ended
31 December 2021 for Customer V and VI did
not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of
the Group.

%\)E'I&IVE’JHTEHSZ@IH BRI RSB ERED

10%A I o

(ii) HE-_T——

FH-A=+—RALFE &EF

V Ko VB AR R M 3 A S BR AN R (B AR M 2 O

10% A I »
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the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

7. REVENUE

Revenue of the Group represents revenue generated
from (i) program production and related services; (ii)
concert and event organisation and related services;
(i) mobile application development and operation
and related services; and (iv) artist management and
related services. The amounts of each significant
category of revenue recognised during the year are as

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. WA

AEREUAIE()ER B BUE RARBIARTS ¢ ())RIEE KA
BN LARRIRTY : (BB RARTOREMES &
MHERY © RMBALLEBMABBERBEEZH
B » MERFERH) T R USRI M T

follows:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Program production and related income £ B RE R ABRE A
— Sale of script copyright — B B AR 40,410 18,276
Concert and event organisation and REE REEE N RAERRA
related income 265 1,156
Mobile application development and operation % & & FAFE - #5335 FNE & &
and related income HEREU A 13,632 13,632
Artist management and related income EYNERYSTEET N 5,000 12,600
59,307 45,664
8. OTHER INCOME 8. HuulgA
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R AREF T
Interest income from bank deposits RITIFRZFBHA 7 9
Sundry income TR A 2 13
Rental income AU A 135 127
Government subsidy RGN 83 264
227 413
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for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HttKBERER
2021 2020
—E-—F bl = =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMEF T ARBT T
Gain on disposal of property, plant and LEWE - BB K& M=
equipment 3 -
Exchange (loss) gain i 5 (F518) e (678) 3
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EB AR 2 e - 34
(675) 37
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. BRETEHADEF
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREF T
Profit before income tax is arrived BR PRTAS A AT 7
at after charging: KRR -
Staff costs (note 11) BIMA(HF11) 8,244 7,744
Auditor’s remuneration (note (a)) B (A5 (a) 589 845
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BE RREITE (HitE)
equipment (note (a)) 439 822
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE(A:230)
(note 30) (note (a)) (Hit(a) 1,419 1,524
Amortisation of intangible asset mREERIE(ES) (HitE)
(note 8) (note (a)) 915 -

Note:

(@) Included in “administrative expenses” for both years. (a)

wist
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the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

STAFF COSTS 11. BEIRA
2021 2020
—E-—F bl = =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBT T

Staff costs (including directors) comprise: BINAN(BIEER)BIE
Wages and salaries TEKF® 7,420 7,287
Short-term non-monetary benefits REFEEIEER 79 111
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes — RIKIEHFHEI % 745 346
8,244 7,744

The Group operates/participates in the following
pension and post retirement plans:

0

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and
regulations in the PRC, the Group participates
in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes (the “Schemes”) organised by the
local government authorities whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to
the Schemes based on certain percentages
of the eligible employee’s salaries. The local
government authorities are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees. The Group has no other obligations
for payments of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of employees other than the
contributions described above.
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2021:

12. EEFHM
WEIEEEHMOT -

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
A SRR

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

BE_Z--F+-A=t—HILEFE:

Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other benefit
Fees benefits schemes Total
#FeR BIKER
we Hitt g F FHEIf @st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®T R AR%F AR%T
Executive directors HITEE
(note (i) below) (X))
Mr. Philip Jian Yang SRl ks
(note (iv) below) (XK1 v) - 1,088 - 1,088
Ms. Yang Jianping BTt - 505 - 505
Non-executive directors HHITEE
(note (i) below) (TFXHiz2()
Mr. Ge Xuyu BEFEE - 299 15 314
Mr. Wang Yong TBEE - 199 - 199
Mr. Yang Shiyuan BittEAE - - - -
Independent non-executive BUIHTESE
directors (note (iij) below) (FXHT i)
Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRIDGE A - 149 - 149
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen ERRR A - 149 - 149
Ms. Fu Yuehong BRI+ - 149 - 149
- 2,538 15 2,553
FEAEERERAT T FFEHRS
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the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes:

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 12. EEFHM(E)
Year ended 31 December 2020: BE—E-—EF+-—A=+—HIEE:
Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other benefit
Fees benefits schemes Total
ek RINEF
we HAbtgH| SHEIER wmEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFTT ARBEFT ARETT
Executive directors HITEF
(note (i) below) (X))
Mr. Philip Jian Yang elp e
(note (iv) below) (TFXHzz(v) - 1,117 - 1,117
Ms. Yang Jianping BEELLT - 504 - 504
Non-executive directors HUTEE
(note (i) below) (TFXHiz()
Mr. Ge Xuyu BEFEE - 320 16 336
Mr. Wang Yong TBEE - 213 - 213
Mr. Yang Shiyuan B AE - - - -
Independent non-executive BUIHTEE
directors (note (iij) below) (X Hz2 i)
Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRIDE A - 160 - 160
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen EBRRIR ST & - 160 - 160
Ms. Fu Yuehong BRIt - 160 - 160
- 2,634 16 2,650

(i)

(i)

)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of
the Company or its subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Philip Jian Yang is also the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company.
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13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, three (2020: three) were directors of
the Company whose emoluments are included in the
disclosures in note 12 above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2020: two) individuals were as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

13. EEBEFMAL

AEBREBESFMHALH  =R(ZZ-FTF
B)VERRBESE  BEZE @HE%WLXMT&WE’J
WEF  HEHEME(ZZT-ZF  WE) AL 2 H B
N

2021 2020
—E—F —ETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTT
Wages and salaries IE&%?% 1,046 1,224
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes — RIKIEFFHEI 3% 24 28
1,070 1,252
Their emoluments were within the following band: BE 2 FINER AR
2021 2020
s —E-FF
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
AE AEK
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 2 2
14. FINANCE COSTS 14. MBRAE
2021 2020
s —ZT-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREF T
Imputed interest on trade payables B ZENFIBZHEFE - 5,005
Interest on lease liabilities (note 30) HEEERNS(H7230) 138 253
138 5,258
FEAEERERAT T FFEHRS
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the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSES 15. FiB8FiAX
2021 2020
—B-—F —ETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREEF T
Current tax — HK BNEARHIE — BB
— provision for the year — F AR 1,485 30
— underprovision in prior years —BEFEREIE 8 -
Current tax — the PRC BNEAFR IR —
— provision for the year —FREE 436 31
— underprovision in prior years —BEFERETE - 15
Income tax expenses FriSfif s 1,929 76
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong RBEEBFGSHOMBHFESHESET - 5ERK

Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the
Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity
is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of
the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is
25% for both years. The income tax expenses can
be reconciled to the profit before income tax per the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

EEEREE2HEBETETEIES.25% T R AT
W M2 B BB T E 2 HFIBII%16.5% B R 8k
ﬁm R & /A% HI )15 5 =& %Fﬁﬂmﬁl*
B2 . HORAE B LA16.5% S — TR REUMNTL R
It AEREEETERZEEFSE MEM¢W§2
BEBIT 2 A ERTEFIRS 25% U K2 H B T
LA _E 2 5T FERR R S FIR16.5%:1E - RIFFEDE
FriSRE([EMERE D REEMABAN - RME
FE o REMENTRE25% o FTEHE Sl Eix
AEZRHEMEEE2EWERITIOERIERHRAS
A& FIETERAA T ¢

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AREF T
Profit before income tax R PTAS A AT 7 25,425 20,132
Tax charge at the domestic tax rate of 25% 1R A F7 R 25%
(2020: 25%) (ZEZZF : 25%):tE
HIAF X 6,356 5,033
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries RE A B RE R A R FT B A 7
operating in other jurisdictions TRME 2 & (719) (845)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A~ AIHIFR B 2 2 TR & P £
purposes 561 518
Tax effect of income not taxable for BAERBI S 2 B2
tax purposes (408) )
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERRIBBEMBTE 261 2,238
Effect of tax income at concessionary rate LAMBEM R A ERIBRANZE (137) -
Underprovision in prior years BAFERETR 8 15
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised Eh 5 il K iEs2 15 18 518 (3,993) (6,880)
Income tax expenses FrigHif X 1,929 76
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is
based on the following data:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

16. BRER

AR S NN A A B BT TR 8 A
TR -

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Profit for the purposes of basic earnings per ~ B EREARZF|M 5 2% F)
share 23,561 20,003
2021 2020
—E-—F T -TF
’000 ‘000
TR T
(Restated)
(&%)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares i@ A% i F 15 # 296,795 246,788

Note: No diluted earnings per share is presented as there
were no potential ordinary shares in issue for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of the calculation of basic and diluted
earnings per share has been adjusted for the share
consolidation that every five issued shares of the
Company were consolidated into one share of the
Company. Comparative figures of the weighted
average number of shares for calculating basic and
diluted earnings per share have been re-presented
with the effect of share consolidation on 15 July
2021.

Brat - BEESREEERN A2 —F R T
ZEFT AT - ALFETEEECETEBRR -

HE-_Z- " FR-_ZE-_FF+_A=+—HIF
E - RABEEREAREERANME - LT@RME
FHYEEREARARREETREEHE—BRAR
REBRHOROEMHERAR BE T - —F+
B+HERETROHEHNTE  EEBIHFAETR
BEARREE R NG IO B EH T -

REMEERARAT T GFEERS
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the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. Y% BMERRZRE

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Leasehold Office Computer Furniture Motor
improvements  equipment  equipment  and fixtures vehicles Total
RENEEE T EfRE GAREE RE a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Cost; A
At 1 January 2020 RZ2-%F-F-H 1,749 1,561 9,113 918 3,824 17,165
Additions HRE - - 37 - - 37
Exchange realignment 8% (19) Q) - - - 1)
At 31 December 2020 and RZEZEF+-A=+-ARK
1 January 2021 “E--%#-f-H 1,730 1,559 9,150 918 3,824 17,181
Additions HE - - 42 - - 4
Disposal/written off HE /M - (12 - - - (12)
Exchange realignment ERRE (12) ) - - - (13
At 31 December 2021 A\ZE--%+-f=1-H 1,718 1,546 9,192 918 3,824 17,198
Accumulated depreciationand ~ EiHFERFEEE :
impairment loss:
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-T5-A-A 621 1,561 8,913 918 3,758 15,771
Charge for the year FRZH 603 - 153 - 66 822
Exchange realignment ERRE (22) 2 - - - (24)
At 31 December 2020 and RIEZEF+ZA=1-BR
1 January 2021 I 1,202 1,559 9,066 918 3,824 16,569
Charge for the year FRFEI 437 - 2 - - 439
Disposal/writien off LE /i - (12) - - - (12)
Exchange realignment ERAE (12 ) - - - (13
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ-5+ZA=1-H 1,627 1546 9,068 918 3,824 16,983
Net carrying amount: REFE
At 31 December 2021 \ZE-—F+t-f=1-H 91 - 124 - - 215
At 31 December 2020 RZE-RET-A=+-H 528 - 84 - - 612
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

INTANGIBLE ASSET 18. EFEEE
RMB’000
AREFIT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—F—H—H -
Additions NE 8,431
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=ZHA=+—H 8,431
Accumulated amortisation: Rt -
At 1 January 2021 RZE=Z—F—H—H -
Charge for the year FARZH 915
915
Net carrying amount: BREE
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=-ZA=+—H 7,516
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZEF+-A=+—H -

Intangible asset represents the Mobile APP which
was acquired during the year ended 31 December
2021. The Mobile APP has finite useful live and is
amoritsed on a straight-line basis over 5 years. It
will be tested for impairment whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
management performed impairment assessment
on intangible asset of each cash-generating unit
with aggregated carrying amount of RMB7,516,000
in accordance with HKAS 36. The management
estimated the recoverable amount of those cash-
generating units of which these intangible asset have
been allocated. The recoverable amounts of those
cash-generating units are higher than the carrying
amount of these intangible asset and accordingly, no
impairment loss has been recognised.

BVEERBE T —F+T_A=+—RHIFE
BANBYRARET BBEARTABRAMAF
Hi - RAFAEAOEEE - 2 3R el E M PR
EITRERI

HE_Z-_ T _A=1T—RHLFE BEE
RIBFEEZESTEAFEBRLAETMEAARE
7,516,000t SR EEBMNMWETLEE#ITRE
FE c EREMTHEENEEESKEMLSFH S
EABMMAKECE - WERSEEEMMHII
EleEaRNEEREFEENREE - Bt - WHERE
RBEEE °

REMEERARAT T GFEERS
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s to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTG R M 5

the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

19. SERIAL PROGRAM RIGHTS 19. EEBIME
Serial program Adaptation
rights right Total
EEBINRE R imRE #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2020 N_ZE_FF—H—H 107,687 - 107,687
Addition for the year i ARE - 4,533 4,533
Exchange realignment P& 5 % - (244) (244)
At 31 December 2020 and =
1 January 2021 + ﬂ +—HR
T —%—H—H 107,687 4,289 111,976
Exchange realignment M 5 - (122) (122)
At 31 December 2021 MZT_—%F
+=—A=+—H 107,687 4,167 111,854
The serial program rights shown above included two X T EERREREERAEBRERSRE

ZHEUS E’Jﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ@ BEIE R M ENE B RE
D RBZ—FR-F-FFF_A=1—

television drama series obtained by the Group under
co-financing arrangements and belonging to the

Program Production segment, with carrying amounts
of RMB27,785,000 and RMB79,902,000 respectively
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Group did not recognise any serial program rights
as direct costs for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: nil) in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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19.

20.

SERIAL PROGRAM RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

The Group carries out a net realisable value review
on a project-by-project basis at the end of each

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

B EHEK

for the year ended 31 December 2

l\‘/T\

BE-_Z-_—H+-A=+—HLEE

19. EEBIRHE (&)

AEBRESERSHERKZERBETIEREA
BEHN  MELBRABRERRB FEBHHE - ~AAFE

reporting period and make provision for obsolete if SIS EERRE CATZRFERNEKREE -
necessary. The Directors the Company assessed that WAFEWEBRREMRE(ZZS_ZF  £8) o
the net realisable value of each of the serial program
rights are higher than their carrying amounts, hence
no impairment (2020: Nil) was recognised during the
current year.
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20. BAAEFABENEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2021 2020
—E-—F bl = =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T AREFTT
Unlisted equity investment (note (a)) JE_ETRRRAEISE (M7t (@) - 5,000

Note:

(@)

As at 31 December 2020, the balance represented
the remaining 6.25% equity interest of Capital Land
Digital Entertainment Co. Ltd. (“Capital Land”), after
the loss of control from disposal during the year
ended 31 December 2019. Management classified
the investment on its initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss as management considers the
investment is held for sale in the near term.

During the current year, the Group disposed the
entire unlisted equity investment at RMB5,000,000.

st -

RZB-ZF+-A=+—H0 SREEREE_
—NE+ A=+ RULEFERETHEREE %H’fié
BRIEBR AR BMEERAR(TFIEDHT
F6.25% M HE - N EIZER A RE BT
& MEREENENSERANFREDERRANE
st AEE -

FAAEELEREFLTREREARR
5,000,0007T *

PEHAZERERAR T —FFERE
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s to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTG R M 5

the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE-Z--—F+-A=+—HLEFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. EZREMEKRTE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Trade receivables, gross B S rNG ISR 24,520 9,171
Less: impairment allowance B ORERE (1,257) (1,110)
Trade receivables, net B 5 EIGRIE R 23,263 8,061
Prepayments and deposits (notes (i) to (i) AR B RIE® (B0 2 (i) 82,534 66,828
Other receivables, gross H A e R I 4R 5 11,043 12,753
Less: impairment allowance B ORERE (270) (63)
Other receivables, net H b pe I B 558 10,773 12,690
116,570 87,579

Notes: Wis

At the end of the reporting period, the balances of
prepayments and deposits are mainly represented by the
following:

)

(i)

(il

The balance included prepayment to event
organisers of approximately RMB15,164,000 (2020:
approximately RMB15,711,000) under Concert
and Event Organisation segment for the purpose of
concert to be held in the coming years.

The balance included prepaid service fees to actors
and performers of approximately RMB16,781,000
(2020: approximately RMB16,781,000) in relation to
performing in the Group’s mobile live broadcasting
platform.

The balance included prepaid service fees of
approximately RMB47,080,000 in relation to program
production (2020: RMB28,710,000).

The Directors of the Company assessed that there is
no material recoverability issue for the prepayments and
deposits and the Group did not record any impairment
of prepayments and deposits during the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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EHREEEBE REBERS IR AKRFEEITH
EReREIEMNRAAIMNNENRBEBHARE
15,164,000 (ZZE =FF : #HJ AR ¥ 15,711,000
JL) e

EHREEAENAEERHEEFTARENEE R
BAZEMRBEEL ARE16,781,0000 (= =F
F HAREE16,781,0007T) °

EHEEEHESER I EZEMNREERNARE
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21.

22,

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21.

(CONTINUED)

The aging analysis of trade receivables (net of
impairment losses), based on invoice dates, as of the

end of year, is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
IRAMB®RE

for the year ended 31 December 2

BE-_Z-_—H+-A=+—HLEE

B 5 R HEAERFEOR ()

RERE S RUFIEIBRRERR) RER B K

FRESDATIAT

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-THF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR¥ETT

Within 30 days 30RR 3,736 7,760
31 to 90 days 31E90K 12,061 -
91 to 180 days 91E180% 3,881 -
181 to 365 days 1812365 3,585 301
23,263 8,061

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the
accounting policy stated in note 4. The credit period
granted to trade debtors ranges 0-90 days (2020:
0-90 days) from the invoice dates. Further details on
the Group’s credit policy and credit risk management

are set out in note 34(a).

REBERBH AL G S ERERBERE - BUK
BRRZEEMERZAMEN FOENR(ZE_F
F:020K) - FRAKEEERRLEERARE

ER)E— T BH AN FE34()

TRADE PAYABLES 22, BSREARE
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on REXRE HEMNPFIBIZEZAHNESR DT T -
invoice dates, as of the end of year, is as follows:
2021 2020
s —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
91 to 365 days 91E365K 1,850 -
Over 365 days (note) 365K A (H1at) 62,954 73,496
64,804 73,496
Represented by: 5
Current portion BIHAES 7 64,804 24,596
Non-current portion FEENHAER - 48,900
64,804 73,496
hEAEZERERAR ~—T—FEERE 196
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BE-_T—_—F

+ZA=t+—HLEFE

22. TRADE PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

Note:

Included in trade payables over 365 days as at 31
December 2021 was the remaining balances of
RMB61,104,000 (2020: RMB71,604,000) in respect
of purchase of serial program rights which was
payable by instalments until end of 2020. At the
date of approval of these financial statements, the
Group is still negotiating with different TV stations
and platforms for initial broadcasting of the serial
program, the Group has obtained consent from the
vendor to defer the settlement of certain payables but
no later than 31 December 2022 in case distribution
of broadcasting right is delayed.

23. OTHER PAYABLES

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTG R M 5

the year ended 31 December 2021

22, BSEMNEGE)

o

RZZE-—F+-A=1+—H ' RIKRA3GSKIUALHD
ZSENBBREREAEEENRENGREARE
61,104,0007( = =ZF4F : AR¥71,604,0007T) *
ERFERREE TS TFRAD I - RES
PHmERAEBRE  AEBNEETRAMNERE LT
BRRZEERNEINETT  ASEDESHEHERR
B WEBITEMGELEE BRI NETESEMNR
HEMNER-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HXf-

23. HibE{FRE

2021 2020

—EB-—fF —E-THF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AREEF T

Accruals and other payables (note) FEETE A R E AT IE (M 5E) 37,104 37,207
Deposit received BdzE 137 137
37,241 37,344

Notes:

At end of reporting period, the balance of accruals and
other payables are mainly represented by the followings:

)

(i)

An amount of approximately RMB9,047,000
(2020: RMB9,047,000) included in other payables
represented payable to other investors of serial
program rights in relation to licensing of broadcasting
right under Program Production segment.

An amount of approximately RMB5,781,000
(2020: RMB5,951,000) included in other payables
represented payable to creditor in relation to concert
organisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES BHEE

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT

Contract liabilities arising from Program HEREEEZEHARE
Production 12,899 12,650

Contract liabilities arising from Concertand BB & K REhEREL
Event Organisation BHAEE 1,296 1,333

Contract liabilities arising from Mobile BEEREFHNRENESES

Application Development and Operation ZENEaE - 881

Contract liabilities arising from Artist BARKEEZEHNEE
Management - 505
14,195 15,369

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount
of contract liabilities are as follows:

Program Production

Deposits received by the Group in respect of the
second round non-prime time broadcasting right of
serial program is recognised as contract liabilities until
such right is eligible to be shown on platform after the
first round showings on TV platform.

FTEANABESRN—RNATERDT

B B R1E
REBREBBIHE — & IFE W BRIE R

REERRANAE EEERAERTE LRE
ZENAEREFaERRBLL

REAESENERAT —T-—FFEHE 198
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the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—H+-A=1+—-HALFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Concert and Event Organisation

A deposit is received by the Group before organising
any concert and event.

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregated amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the Group’s
existing contracts is RMB14,195,000 (2020:
RMB15,369,000). This amount represents revenue
expected to be recognised in the future which is
expected to occur over the next 36 months.

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24.

BRaEE)
REEERESEM

AEEREREIMREE JOEBRIREUZE -

RZZEZ—F+—A=+—8 ' "BEFEERE
AHETHHBHNEANRZERNESEAAR
#14,195,000L(ZE=ZFF : AR% 15,369,000
JL) ° e BRRIEA A& (FEHIR R 2R361E A L)
HERERR IR 2

2021 2020
—B-—fF —ETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Balance as at 1 January R—A—Bz#&% 15,369 14,069
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ~ EAAFEEHERT AFETE L
recognising revenue during the year that BENRRBIRSNAEERD
was included in the contract liabilities at
beginning of year (1,386) -
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of MEFINEGEESIMREEEE
receipt of serial program right transfer fee BERBHSNAELM
from customers 249 -
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of WEA FESERERAEL
receipt of online advertising fee B &M - 881
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of IWEREE A a0 B AL
receipt of artist management fee B &M - 505
Exchange realignment e 5 SR B (37) (86)
Balance as at 31 December R+-A=+—B2%&&% 14,195 15,369

The first round broadcasting on TV platform was
delayed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Therefore, the deposits received by the Group in prior
year in respect of the second round non-prime time
broadcasting right was not recognised as revenue
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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25. DEFERRED TAXATION

At end of the reporting period, the Group has
not recognised deferred tax assets totaling
RMB5,394,000 (2020: RMB10,754,000) in respect of
certain accumulated tax losses as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity. Tax losses amounting to
approximately RMB1,996,000 (2020: RMB1,403,000)
may be carried forward indefinitely. The remaining tax
losses will be expired as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

25.

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

ESERIR

RARERR  AEBELELE T RAHBABHRE
RIELHRIBEERTT ARKES394,000T(ZF=-F
F: AR®10,754,0007T) - RE AR HERBEIEF]
ERER N ERE - AR R R AR i A A B A S
18 - BHIBEBRHARKE1,996,000t(ZT-FF 1 A
FR#51,403,0007T) A R HAAE R 87 T IREREM
BT

At At
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
RZBZ—-F RIZT_ZTF
+=ZA=+—8 +=ZHA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Year 2021 20214 - 1,700
Year 2022 20224 4,936 11,880
Year 2023 20234 14,163 15,509
Year 2024 20244 539 539
Year 2025 20254 879 6,402
Year 2026 20264 73 -
20,590 36,030

FEAIEERARAT T FFE®RS
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26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. WA
Authorised and issued share capital EERBBITRA
2021 2020
“B--F b o %3
Equivalent to Equivalent to
Number HK$°000 RMB’000 Number HK$'000 RMB'000
e RER o AER
2R TEr  ARETR #A TEL  ARETR
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of BREMBE0.05BT
HK$0.05 (2020: (ZZ2_Z2f:
HK$0.01) each 0.017%7) 2 Z@M  1,600,000,000 80,000 67,024 8,000,000,000 80,000 67,024

Issued and fully paid TETREBRLR

Ordinary shares LiEk

At beginning of year RER 1,581,577,559 15,816 13,188 1,423,513,043 14,235 11,788

Issue of shares under ~ RIEREE/TRR

placing (note &) (Hita) - - - 158,064,516 1,581 1,400

Issue of shares under  RIBRERNHETRY

consideration shares  (#2b)
(note b) 75,000,000 750 622 - - -

Share consolidation B A (Hitc)

(note ¢) (1,325,262,048) - - - - -

At end of year REXR 331,315,511 16,566 13,810 1,581,577,559 15,816 13,188

Notes: Kt -

(@)  Pursuant to the Company announcement dated (@) *ETJ%{F’RET@,HH?%:T TF—A+HZRAE AR
on 10 January 2020, the Company entered into ﬁéﬁ%ﬁ%?ﬂ'ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%’ ST R - $ETJ§WE§T§%
the subscription agreement with the subscriber 7 ARREEBREREBE KX E17158,064,5160%
in relation to the subscription of shares. Pursuant foﬁi’” DT - RBEATRIRM0.06258T o Fit
to the subscription agreement, the Company has REFHEOR_ZS_TF-—A-1T=A%K - REF
conditionally agreed to allot and issue 158,064,516 IEZ?)’T?%%\IE@%E?]#@JQO 00078 7T °
shares to the subscriber at the subscription price of
HK$0.062 per share. The above subscription was
completed on 23 January 2020. The net proceeds
from the subscription amounted to approximately
HK$9,790,000.

(o)  On 17 June 2021, pursuant to an agreement b R_F_—FAATEH REZSREERDT
entered into between Idol Entertainment Limited (the (TE7 ) - ARBRIERFGEABHEBER DA
“Vendor”), the Company and Beijing Yiju Creative (TZEAE D) (—HEREFEAPIKIN AT - W5
Technology Limited (“Yiju Creative”), a company ARAIREFZENBAR)([ET I HhiE
established under the laws of the PRC and an indirect ([#Zw=a]) > BERAGEREREALES B EER
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the BHERRHEAREAEENMAEE  BiE(ET
“Purchaser”) (the “Agreement”), the Purchaser has BIE)EER AR KERMABEE(BERE
conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor has E1)  REAARSK14,0000007T - REETAR
conditionally agreed to sell all assets pertinent to a 4,000, OOOEEﬁi“é“H*EB?M%ETﬁ%u%EiH%ﬁﬁﬁ’U
Mobile APP including, among others, its business, AR #4,000 OOOTLE’JTE/E}EE%EE EAEE S AR
ownership, operating rights and Intellectual Property 10,000,000TC AN A 7l B B B T BT E SRR E
Rights (the “Target Asset”) at the consideration RR50.167% 7T Bid 8 & 2 1775,000,00088 (£ & srl:opsl
of RMB14,000,000 in which the amount of SEN - HWRBFER - T —F XA+ EB5m -
RMB4,000,000 out of the consideration was set off
against the deposit in the amount of RMB4,000,000
which had been paid by the Purchaser to the Vendor
under an operation agreement, and the amount
of RMB10,000,000 out of the consideration was
satisfied by the allotment and issue of the 75,000,000
consideration shares at the issue price of HK$0.16
per consideration share by the Company to the
Vendor. The acquisition was completed on 17 June
2021.

(©)  On 15 July 2021, every five issued shares of the © WM-ZT-—FtA+HA ARAEEFARDETR
Company were consolidated into one share of the DEARAT—RIRD

Company.
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27. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 27. FEREZR

Yiju Creative 80% owned by the Group has material
non-controlling interests (“NCI”). Summarised (HFT fRiERs]) ©

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
A BB HRE

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

financial information in relation to Yiju Creative before BB S ER 2SI AT ¢

intra-group elimination are presented below:

FAE(HAREEHEES0%) HAERNIERER
BERS BRI BEEE AL IHATD

Yiju Creative SBAE
2021 2020
—E-—F T -FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFTT
Revenue Wz 19,116 23,749
Profit for the year F R F 6,697 21,129
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNE2ERZLEE 6,697 21,129
Profit and total comprehensive income DEEEIEERESD R EEE
allocated to NCI (note) Wk BRE ([ 5F) - -
Cash flows generated from (used in) ETEEFTS (FTA)
operating activities REmE 6,901 (1,461)
Cash flows used in investing activities KREEDMARESRE (4,030) @)
Net cash inflows (outflows) BEARACRH)F58 2,871 (1,463)
FEHAEERERAT T FFEHRE
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27. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. R ()

(CONTINUED)

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBET T

As at 31 December W+=-—A=+—8
Non-current assets EREEE 7,550 4
Current assets MBEE 37,570 28,029
Current liabilities MENE R (104,655) (94,265)
Net liabilities BEFE (59,535) (66,232)

Accumulated non-controlling interests (note) ~ Z&t3F3EMAE RS (ML) - -

Note:

As Yiju Creative had suffered losses in operation in prior
years and needed additional capital to sustain its business,
the Group had continuously provided the additional capital
contribution to Yiju Creative since 2016. The Group had
agreed with the NCI that the NCI had no obligation to
contribute additional capital to Yiju Creative for the losses
incurred, in return, the NCI confirmed not to share any
profits arising from Yiju Creative until the additional losses/
capital contribution borne by the Group had been fully
recovered (the “Arrangement”).

As at 31 December 2020, the accumulative losses
attributable to the NCI were RMB14,788,000. Under
the Arrangement, the Group had made additional
capital contribution to Yiju Creative and borne solely the
accumulative losses, including those attributable to NCI of
RMB14,788,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the profit for the
year attributable to the NCI was RMB1,339,000. Under
the Arrangement, the Group had been compensated from
the profits, including the profit attributable to the NCI of
RMB1,339,000.

During the year, no dividend was paid to non-controlling
shareholders (2020:Nil). The proportion of equity interest
and voting rights held by non-controlling interest is 20% as
at 31 December 2021.
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28. RESERVES

(a)

Reserves of the Group

The following describes the nature and purpose
of each reserve within owners’ equity:

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter
22 of the Cayman Islands, share premium
of the Company is available for paying
distributions and dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its Memorandum
and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distributions or
dividend payments, the Company is able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

Other reserve

It represents the fair value of the share-based
payments over the consideration received.

Merger reserve

It represents the difference between the
nominal value of shares issued by the Company
and the aggregate fully paid registered
capital of subsidiaries pursuant to the Group
Reorganisation.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

28. f#f&E

(a)

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
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REERE

TXEEEAERBE TS #EBECLEERA
®o

KR aE

REFASHERARE(KIER)F22T  HAR
B ERE KK A SR AT I %7518
RHREEIHZED  ARBNENAESE

RAMPARZRET - BARBZBROEE
RERBRR DR MKERS -

Aftf#E

Hig A SERONRAEREKREZ
EE e

BOHARE

HIEEARR ST MERREBEBESAN
BARMGEEMEN B RANESR -

REMEERARAT T GFEERS
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28. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Reserves of the Company

28.

Movements in the Company’s reserves are as

follows:

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE TG TR M 5

the year ended 31 December 2021

s (&)
(b) AATREE

AATGHEZ BBT -

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
BB E =40 F st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARBETIT ARBT T
Balance at 1 January 2020 RZE-ZEF—HF—H
pa 158,096 (121,317) 36,779
Loss for the year FANEE - (4,808) (4,808)
Issue of shares under placing RIS BITRG
(note 26(a)) (H15#26(a) 7,282 - 7,282
Balance at 31 December 2020 W_ZE-_ZTF+_- A
and 1 January 2021 =+—RAKRK-ZE-—F
—A—BHz&H% 165,378 (126,125) 39,253
Loss for the year FANEE - (2,436) (2,436)
Issue of shares under RBERERMDEITRD
consideration shares (Hizt26(b))
(note 26(b)) 3,788 - 3,788
Balance at 31 December 2021 W _Z—-—%+_ A
=t+—HZ&% 169,166 (128,561) 40,605
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29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

29. AQFHMBEMRRE

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

THE COMPANY
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETHF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
it ARET T AREFIT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—RENBRRNKE —* ~
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUH B R R HI B 76,265 70,342
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 76,265 70,342
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables 5 K H AW IR 3,570 6,145
Prepayment TERRIR 493 179
Bank balances and cash IRITHB MRS - =
Total current assets REBEEHAE 4,063 6,324
Total assets EEHAE 80,328 76,666
Current liabilities REaE
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R A A ET IR 2,489 2,287
Tax payables FEI TR 36 28
Loans due to shareholders e TR ERAE R 20,690 21,237
Loans due to a director BT —RESENER 2,698 673
Total current liabilities RBAERAE 25,913 24,225
Net current liabilities RBAEFE (21,850) (17,901)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 54,415 52,441
NET ASSETS EEFE 54,415 52,441
Equity attributable to owners of AAREEAELER
the Company
Share capital & 26 13,810 13,188
Reserves (Gt 28 40,605 39,253
TOTAL EQUITY R 54,415 52,441
N Represents amount less than RMB1,000 * e N ARE1,0007T

On behalf of the board of directors

BRI
Philip Jian Yang

RREEE

PEAIRZERERAR

BRF

Yang Jianping
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30. LEASES

The Group leases offices in several places. The
leases typically run for a period of one to three years.
Lease payments are renegotiated every one to three
years to reflect market rentals. For certain leases, the
Group is restricted from entering into any sub-lease
arrangements.

Information about leases for which the Group is a
lessee is presented below.

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. #HEE

=% - HENRT

AEERE THHAERD
BHE - mETHEMS

DHEZHE -

i
£

=
i

o fHEf— =
TEIBER AR B T
5 B4 PR Il 5T <2 AE AT

oA —

BRAKBEAFREAZHEEFBZIWT -

(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FHREEE
Properties
AMB'000
ARETT
At 1 January 2020 R—HA—H 2,507
Additions PIN=T . 944
Depreciation charge for the year (note 10) FARFTESHME10) (1,524)
Exchange realignment M 4 S B (37)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZZBZZF+-A= ‘1’ S|
k=T —fF—f— 1,890
Depreciation charge for the year (note 10) FRITEZ (T 0) (1,419
Exchange realignment bEE 5, 8 B (14)
At 31 December 2021 R+—RA=+—H 457
(i) Lease liabilities iy HEAE

At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2020

R-ZEBE-—F R—E_FF
+=—A=+—H +—-RA=+—8H
Present Present
value of value of
minimum  Minimum minimum Minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHE KEEE SEEE SEHE
NRBE R R E 3%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RM‘B’OCp RMB’000
AR TR ARETRT ARETIT ARETIT
Within one year —FNR 540 571 2,124 2,215
After one year but within —FREMER
two years - - 501 532
540 571 2,625 2,747
Less: total future interest BT ARRF BRI
expenses Kz (31) (122)
Present value of lease liabilites &R &RE 540 2,625
Analysed for reporting BHRERGD
purpose as:
Current liabilities mEIaE 540 2,124
Non-current liabilities ERENBE - 501
540 2,625
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30. LEASES (CONTINUED) 30. HE(E)
(iii) Amount recognised in profit or loss (i) RIBFHPREEZRE
2021 2020
—E-—F T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREF T
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14) HEBENE(Hit14) 138 253
(iv) Amounts recognised in statement of cash ivy RESRERPERZNE
flows
2021 2020
—E-—% T -FTHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREF T
Total cash outflow for leases HERS ML LT 498 1,072
FEAEERERAT T FFEHRS
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

31.

(@)

In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the
following significant transactions with related

parties during the year:

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELZRS

@)

Brit E4r e MMk Bt B8 PriR R 5 R As
BRON  REANAEERMEFBUTEARR
5

2021 2020
—EC-F CZZ-TH
Related party relationship Type of transaction RMB’000 RMB’000
BELEF REEH ARETT ARETT
Shareholder A (note) ~ BRRA(H1E) Salaries e 75 75
Shareholder B (note) ~ BxERB(#7:t) Salaries e 75 75
Director A EZEA Lease payment HAERK - 570
Non-controlling —ElREARZ Sales HE
interests A of a FEIER A
subsidiary 2,435 3,226
Non-controlling —HREARZ Purchase REE
interests A of a AR A
subsidiary - 3,981

Note: The shareholders are the controlling
shareholders of the Group.

et - BER AR RIERAR -

The amounts due from non-controlling interests ) ERHBARZIEERESTIBEAELF - %
of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and ERRERBEEXIR —FAIE - ZEHE
repayable on demand or due within 1 year. The 15 S EUGRIE AR 1,648,000 ( —ZE=F
balance includes the receivable from trade of F : AR¥4,450,0007T) © EHBRATEEH R
RMB1,648,000 (2020: RMB4,450,000), net of BEE -
impairment loss provided.
The loans due to the controlling shareholders ) REZEBRBEERSEEE - 28 RN ERE
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on BENXN—FAEE] -
demand or due within 1 year.
The loans due to a director are unsecured, 0 XN —ZEZERREERR  2ERNEKF
interest-free and repayable on demand or due BEIN—FANZNE -
within 1 year.
The remuneration of directors and other e ZEEREMFEZEEEXNERFARZEHHH
members of key management during the year ™
was as follows:
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTIT
Wages and salaries TERFG 3,774 4,119
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes BRI FIEH S 3 45 52
3,819 4171
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32. SUBSIDIARIES

The particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are as follows:

32. MELQH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
B FHmE

for the year ended 31 December 2

l\‘/T\

BE-_Z-_—H+-A=+—HLEE

Particulars of

AARIR—E-—E+_A=+—HBHNFEWBA
BEIFCINE

issued and
paid up
Country share capital/
and date of Place of operation and registered Percentage of
Name incorporation principal activity capital ownership interests
AL ERK EEWRR ROREHRE
8 A TEXH HMEARFE FRERAEDL
Directly Indirectly
B i
New Talent Media Company PRC PRC, Investment holding HK$71,270,000 - 100%
Limited 25 Dec 2013
IRBERUERERA Rl hE - REER 71,270,000/ 7T
=5
+-A-+%A
Starry Knight Entertainment PRC PRC, Program production RMB3,000,000 - 100%
Co., Ltd.* 3 Sep 2009 and event organisation
I RAERGBR L E R FE R - B EREE AR #3,000,0007T
AR AR ZTTNEF i
NALR=H
Beijing Joy Star Production PRC PRC, Program production RMB3,000,000 - 100%
Co., Ltd.* 27 Dec 2006 and event organisation
IRAFEBZE U B FE R - B BEREE AR #3,000,0007T
BRAF “ERRF ESi
TZAZ++tH
Beijing New Image Media PRC PRC, Program production RMB3,000,000 - 100%
Co. Ltd.** 23 Feb 2005
I RE S ER AR L ERE Rl HE - E R BE AR™3,000,0007T
AR ZTThE
—A-t+=H
Beijing Great Wise Media PRC PRC, Program production RMB3,000,000 - 100%
Co., Ltd.* 17 Jul 2003
IERRBEE I EE FE B - B E B AR #3,000,0007T
AR —TT=F
+A++A
Beijing Emphasis Media Co. Ltd.* PRC PRC, Program production RMB6,000,000 - 100%
17 Jul 2002 and event organisation
IREREDREHEER LR FE R - B BEREE AR #:6,000,0007T
—TT_F g
+A++A
FERIZERERAT T FFEEHRS
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32. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. BT (&)

Particulars of

issued and
paid up
Country share capital/
and date of Place of operation and registered Percentage of
Name incorporation principal activity capital ownership interests
HMELERK EEWER ERITRESRE
5 A TEXB HEMEARFE FrIERBD
Directly Indirectly
E# &
Beijing Yiju Creative Technology ~ PRC PRC, Provision of mobile RMB1,260,000 - 80%
Limited* 3 Nov 2014 application development
and operation services
and pro gram production B
TRSERIERBERA i FE  REBRSEARF  AKK1,260,0007
—E-mE HEEAEA KA Y
+—HA=H 1E
CCH Entertainment Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong, Event HK$10,000 - 100%
9 May 2018 organisation and artist
\ management .
HEEEREFR AR 300 BB EBERREA 10,000 7T
—E-)N\F e
AANA
Creative China Concerts Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong, Concert and HK$100 - 90%
4 Jul2018 event organlsatlon . o
PREIEEEARAR & i R EREREREH 100%7T
=N
+AMA
Horgos Zongheng Infinite Cultural  PRC PRC, Program production RMB5,000,000 - 100%
Media Co., Ltd.* 29 Dec 2020 5 B
E@@%Eﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁw LEHEAR T l . Bl - EFE SME AR #5,000,0007T
/L\ A o — 7 —=
T= H +hA
Hainan Zongheng Infinite Cultural  PRC PRC, Program production RMB5,000,000 - 100%
Media Co., Ltd.** 8 Jan 2021 - B
EEMEER L EEERAT EP!f_ . HE - E R BE AR #5,000,0007T
—ANA
CCH Film Production Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong, Program HK$10,000 - 100%
15 Sep 2021 production o
GEEECZ 20 LI &5 DAY 10,000%7%
AATESR
- For identification purpose only. BRI -
# The entities are the PRC Contractual Entities which BRATHEAGNER  RAARAZENBE AR K

are deemed to be and accounted for as wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, details of which
are set out in the Report of the Directors of the Annual
Report and Note 4(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. These entities constitute the whole of
the Group’s operations in 3 operating and reportable
segments of the Group: (i) program production, (ii)
mobile application development and operation and (i)
artist management during the years.
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33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33.

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
B FHmE

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

l\‘/T\

TMITARAABEFEZHE

The following table shows the categories of financial TRITRMEARERO SR T AER
instruments recognised at end of reporting period:
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTIT
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial asset at fair value through LT BT A B m 2B EE
profit or loss
— Unlisted equity investment measured — AR EF ABRNIELT
at FVPL MR E - 5,000
At amortised cost LRSS R
- Bank balances and cash — RIS MR 6,126 11,379
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 M EMERFIE 34,036 20,751
— Amounts due from non-controlling — FEYGEE AR e BB
interests 1,747 4,639
Financial liabilities SEAas
At amortised cost FEIR T A SR
— Trade payables —BSEMNHIE 64,804 73,496
— Other payables — H b T RIE 37,241 37,344
— Loans due to shareholders —Kﬁﬂx%m%fm 22,690 21,237
— Loans due to a director — R —BEENEK 3,189 1,178
Lease liabilities HERE 540 2,625

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
include bank balances and cash, trade and other & -
receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
interests, trade and other payables, lease liabilities,

RIZE1 7 °9/N

loans due to shareholders and loans due to a

director.

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of
these financial instruments approximates to its fair

value.

mm&%Z%%&E
RAERE
FEAIEZERERAR

AEFENEBIABERITA ﬁ%&fﬁ
B 5 M EAMBKFOR - BUIRIERESFKIA
BHNMEMEMNFE  HEAE -
RN—BEEER -

RISIRRE KR

ZETRTAZEMERR

— R
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the year ended 31 December 2021
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33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. ERIARAAEFEZHE(E)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements ARETE

The following tables provide an analysis of financial TERRHTEVIEREBIZAABEFEN M ITA
instruments that are measured at fair value on a AT *ETF’A/‘ETETE%%KE’JEF TRE—MRES
recurring basis subsequent to initial recognition at R HEZTE I FREEFF A=+
fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the BUEEE % F-E&RF-HETEER -

degree to which the fair value is observable. There is
no transfer between level 1, level 2 and level 3 during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in - BB AHEBERERNTEBHAYUIEG
active markets for identical assets or liabilities E’J*HHQE%E BERERTISHRE(CREH
that the entity can access at the measurement ) o
date.

- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted — B RMABBEEEAEXBENAEESEE
prices included within Level 1, that are B AR (B —RABENRERIN) -

observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.

- Level 3 fair value measurements are those — B=HAnERERREBELIEATERM
derived from valuation techniques that include SHIERERZEEXNEBEH ASECIAE
inputs for the asset or liability that are not RZBASE) 2 HERMEL -
based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

Fair value as at  Fair value as at

31 December 31 December Fair value
2021 2020 hierarchy
RZEZ—F ZECTHF
+=A=+—-H ‘f'_ﬂ_—i— H
ZRANRE ZANE DABEEBR
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFIT
Financial assets TRIEE
Unlisted equity investment BARERTABEMNIELT
measured at FVPL iR & - 5000 Level 33 =4
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33.

34.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements (continued)
Unlisted equity investment measured at FVPL

As at 31 December 2020, the unlisted equity
investment represents retained interests in Capital
Land. The fair value is determined by reference to
the latest market transaction involving the financial
instrument which is also the consideration from the
Group’s disposal in subsequent period. At such,
the Directors of the Company considered that the
fair value of the retained interest is approximately to
RMB5,000,000 as at 31 December 2020.

During the year, the Group disposed the entired
unlisted equity investment.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments in the normal course of the Group’s
business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk
and currency risk.

(a) Creditrisk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, bank balances and amounts
due from non-controlling interests. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

33.

34.

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

EMIARAABEFEZHEGE)

STEBZH LHRERE

R= E_TFEF_A=1T—H  FLHERERERE

KL R R E *“ﬁﬁ s ARENDBEFRZERT
AMSI NSRS MEE @ A AEBRERE
HRZHESHZAE - Bt - ARREFRA
RERGNANER-_ZT_FF+-_A=1+—BH4
7 AR #5,000,0007T °

TR NEBLERRFE LHRERE -

B E b E
AEESRMTARAEEER —RERTELNE

TERMRAEERR RBHESCER FXRERME
R o

(@) FERBRBRETE

EERREASENSTFIEREGHEL
%ﬁ$%@ < XEBEK - AERENEERR
TRRNE S MEMERIRR - IRITERNE
WO R s FUR » AN B E R A (AR
mek EAE BN REE SR EER
MEERE -

PEHAZERERAR T —FFERE
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade balances individually.
In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

In respect of trade and other receivables, the
Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of
each debtor and significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At
the end of reporting period, 36% (2020: 66%)
and 67% (2020: 83%) of trade receivables
was due from one debtor and two largest
debtors respectively. 54% (2020: 46%) and
100% (2020: 100%) of other receivables was
due from one debtor and five largest debtors
respectively.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.
Trade receivables are assessed individually for
impairment assessment based on the Group’s
internal credit rating, historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate. In this regard, the directors
of the Company considered that the credit risk
for trade receivables is significantly reduced at
the end of the reporting period.

Creative China Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2021

34.

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RS RR M 5E

the year ended 31 December 2021

B b B (])

(a)

FERRKRERE ()

RBEERRRERE  AEEEEECZIK
B fEEBEEERRE  EEFHEEME
1EAZF - ARERERINRAE S M A B ET -
AN - REEBE S EHRIBEREEBHRR
AETEBIBERG - BT E - ARBAES
RAEAEBENEERBRE KIERE

RESREMERFENS 25BN EE
ERFEIZSEBABABEOEE  mA
EEYENEFEEANRRE  TEELSE
K EEEFRAR - RBFEHER  EHENGIA

H136% (=T —ZTF : 66%) M67% _7_2
F:83%)DRIKRE—BEFARMEEAE
A EMERRIERNE54% (T =T F

46%) K2 100% (ZZEZFF : 100%) 2 sk 8
—BEBARTEHEKREBA

BESEUSE

?ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬂgﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁ AEBCRAEEUG
WELEUFORMABCTTE - IR HFEME
E)Eﬂéﬁiﬂﬁﬁéﬁ E ) L C/SEPEE-9 NN

SEONIMBEEFR - BEEEERERES
BERBERNG  YHERANFERE - Eig
AR A R i ¥R & BT AT DA KR R 77
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables

Management measured the expected credit
loss of other receivables by using 12m ECL.

Management has a credit policy in place where
individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s background, past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific
to the customers as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customers
operate. Generally, debtors with balances that
are more than 30 days past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted.

With strict credit control and monitoring of
exposures of trade and other receivables to
credit risks on an ongoing basis, management
believe the Group’s credit risk exposure to trade
and other receivables has been appropriately
mitigated.

Amounts due from non-controlling
interests

For amounts due from non-controlling interests
with gross carrying amount of RMB1,826,000
(2020: RMB4,639,000), the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of amounts due from
non-controlling interests based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The directors of the Company
believe that there are no significant increase
in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

Bt b B ()

FERRKRERE ()

At ERHE

ﬁqfiﬁéﬁﬁ 128 AR EEEE 2 H R
RIBNEREEEE -

EREHETEERR B EEFTEBET
TEOMAEPETEAERE - BLFh
REREFHESR  BESNRBAELRER
MRS WEREFPHARBERNMRER
ﬁ@%ﬁﬁ&m%@ﬁ%iﬂﬂ@ﬁ%ﬁ%% o —ARm
- BB B BI0RH BB A KB RERER
Eﬂ E—FHEREZ A BB REHRER

B EREEEH MSEERE S REMREK
FEHEERROKO - EEER 7%$%l%1
féf%&ﬁi\ﬁﬂﬂ’iﬂél NEREERBREEERE -

FEWFEFEIR s ST

PAARREE AR 1,826,000 (— T - F4F ¢
AE@M 639,0007T ) B & U FE 12 i HE 25 RRIR T

CRRNREFEERNBELERE - BEK
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the year ended 31 December 2021
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. BERRERE(E)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Bank balances

For bank balances, no allowance for impairment
was made since the directors of the Company
consider the probability of default is negligible
as such amounts are receivable from or placed
in banks in Hong Kong and Mainland China
having good reputation.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

FERRKRERE ()

RITHEH

SLRTTAERRM S - AN ARSI E HiF
MREEMPEAARFBEBORT AR
AESERRENMTREEEN - ML EIELR
BB -

AEBENAIEERRFTROFERIE TR
Al :

Internal credit rating Description

PR 1S ERPAR B

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any
past-due amounts

{iWE HFFEHNRBRK - AW EF@I7RIE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays but usually settles after due dates

Bl BEBALTER  BE—RREBAB RN

Doubtful There have been significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition through information developed internally or external
resources

it BBARHINDEIRZIZNER - FERR B VIRERIARE X
tE 38 N

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired

E1a BEBEETEELREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

ki ERBENEBABRBRENR  MASETEEZE R OKS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
A SRR

for the year ended 31 December 2

BE-_Z-_—H+-A=+—HLEE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 34. HIXRBREE(E)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (a) FEERRGE)
(continued)
The table below details the credit risk TREAEEEZZEREEFEIHNE
exposures of the Group’s financial assets, BEEMEERRFE
which are subject to ECL assessment:
External Internal 12mECL or Gross carrying amount
creditrating  creditrating  lifetime ECL RELE
12AARHEERR 2021 2020
MPEEFR APEETR A2HEHEEFR “E--F CZTCEF
RMBOOD  RIBI00
ARETT  ARBTR
Tradke receivables BRRWE NATER  Lowrisk Lifetime ECL (not credit 23,759 8,410
impaired)
el SHBHEEER
(FEERE)
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit 761 761
impained)
Big SHBHEEER
(FEERE)
Other receivables EfRWEE NA Low risk 12mECL 11,043 12,753
TER el 12EABHEERR
Amounts due from non-controling  JEAUGEERIERFE N/A Low risk 1omECL 1,826 4,639
interests TER ERR 12ERREEEEE
Bank balances RiTEH Baad-Aa3 N/A 12m ECL 6,087 11,312
TER 12EABHEERR

FEAIEZRERAT —T-—FFE®RE 218
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 34. BMEEREE(E)
(a) Credit risk and impairment assessment (a) FEERRGE)
(continued)
The following table shows the movement in TRATRDHEHEERBENESE  CIRIES
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade (st BB S EWRIE - HAi eI & &
receivables, other receivables and amounts U IESE RS KE S SR IBFER ©
due from non-controlling interests under the
simplified approach.
Amounts due
from non-
Trade Other  controlling
receivables Trade receivables interests
under lifetime  receivables under 12m under 12m
ECL (non- under lifetime ECL (non- ECL (non-
credit  ECL (credit credit credit
impaired) impaired) impaired) impaired)
128 ARH
2HEHEE 2HBEHFE  12@AEE GEEEGE
BRE(FEE BR(GERE) FEFECGEE FERE)ET
HE)ETES HTESZ ERE)ERT EUHEER
e ByFE HttERRE ERNE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETE ARETR ARETR
As at 1 January 2020 RZEZTF—-H—H 590 761 - -
Impairment losses recognised for new SRR E1E ERZRE
financial assets originated B 349 - 63 -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMEAH (590) - - -
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-FF+-A=t1—H 349 761 63 -
Change due to financial instruments AR =F=—F— [ —A%R
recognised as at 1 January 2021 SRMTEMLRE
— Impairment losses recognised —BHRRESSE 328 - 202 79
- Impairment losses reversed —EBRERESSE (349) - - -
Impairment losses recognised for new FtERATHT & B8 EREZRE
financial assets orginated B 168 - 5 -
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—F+-A=1+—H 496 761 270 79
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the parent company’s board when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels
of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following tables detail the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its non-
derivative financial liabilities. The tables reflect
the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal cash flows.

34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

B E R EE (&)
(b) RBESER
$$@7BﬁTZ1I%UZ&%§%%E§Q/féi@ﬁfﬁ
T BREETEHRSBKRENBEETIN
J?EH?‘E,Hﬁfﬁiﬁa/\ HE e 55 Aﬁ_iﬂfﬁﬁ‘ﬁfimz

ETEREKFER  ARSBAREFS 2
o AEBNBRRRERERERBESHFR
REBEZHNNEREBER - ﬁﬁ{%ﬁ?&ﬁ%%‘fﬁ
TRBIMGIECHBBEAEABEER
B AENREHRBESFER -

TRAMAEETESRABEZRHARELE
HER - RERRBEAEEAEEEZRFH
HAEESRAGBEIARTRRERE - RBE
?E%'JE\&$§EE§MLE ©

Total Within More than
contractual 1 year or 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted repayable less than
amount cashflow  ondemand 2 years
BHRNE 0 —£#%
REAE RERELE NERKEE BRMER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTR  ARMTR ARMTR  ARETR
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—-&+=-B=+—-H

Trade payables B IENFE 64,804 64,804 64,804 -
Other payables HA TS 37,241 37,241 37,241 -
Lease liabllities HEAR 540 571 571 -
Loans due to shareholders BN TRENER 22,690 22,690 22,690 -
Loans due to a director BN T-—REZNER 3,189 3,189 3,189 -
128,464 128,495 128,495 -

FEAIZERERAT —To—FFE®RS
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RS RR M 5E

the year ended 31 December 2021

34. MBEREE(HE)

Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REBEE @M ()
Total Within More than
contractual 1 year or 1 year but
Carrying  undiscounted repayable less than
amount cash flow on demand 2 years
BRANR —ER —F
FEE Rensgf REREER BMEFRA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETRT  ARETRT  ARETR
At 31 December 2020 R-E-S&+-A=+—-H
Trade payables B S EMRFE 73,496 73,496 24,596 48,900
Other payables ity ER50R 37,344 37,344 37,344 -
Lease liabllities HEAR 2,625 2,747 2,215 532
Loans due to shareholders FER TR ER 21,237 21,237 21,237 -
Loans due to a director R F—2EZNEN 1,178 1,178 1,178 -
135,880 136,002 86,570 49,432
Interest rate risk () RIEE
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing HRAEBEVESEAFEEEREE  AKE
assets and liabilities, the Group’s income ABAWARLER S REB LN TS ER
and operating cash flows are substantially HE o
independent of changes in market interest rate.
Currency risk (d E¥ER

The Group is exposed to currency risk on
certain of its financial instruments which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which
they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
is primarily HK$ and USD and their principal
amounts in the foreign currency are stated
below.

AEEmENEERBRAEEETERTA
REEZEEMINEEE AN 2 EHEEHE -
ELNREBRNEE TR /BITRET - MAS
KAHENTIZSRIIRAT -

2021 2020
—E-—F bl =

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Assets BE 4,831 7,889
Liabilities afE (5,709) (4,4195)
(878) 3,474
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(d)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

ARE BF R

for the year ended 31 December 2
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 34. BERRERE(E)
Currency risk (continued) BEERE (&)

2021 2020

—E-—-F —E-FF

US$’000 US$'000

ExTr ExT

Assets 4 4

Liabilities (850) (850)

(846) (846)

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group’s profit for the year and
accumulated losses in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates
to which the Group has significant exposure at
the end of reporting period. A negative number
below indicates a decrease in profit and
increase in accumulated losses where the RMB
weakens against the relevant currency. For a
strengthening of the RMB against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and accumulated losses,
and the balances below would be positive.

TRIRAEBEF R R Rt EBRANEE
EREPRAREAIMNERE RS IR REE )
MELNBRNES - TRABBBERMHEARE

HKD BT
usb e

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to each of the
group entities; exposure to currency risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that
all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant.

REMSERE BN KRFTHESE
me MARBREBEEAE - ¥5F R 25t
EBESEHERNSZETE M I RZERER
E2 -
At 31 December 2021 As at December 2020
RZZZ-F+=8 RZZBZTE+_A
Effect on Effect on
profit for profit for
Increase in the year Increase in the year
foreign and foreign and
exchange accumulated exchange  accumulated
rate losses rate losses
HER HER
AR A
SHEER REER HMNERE X Sy
&0 V&8 gl M2
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
5% (36) 5% 146
5% (270) 5% (276)

GURMED T IR N RS IR E R ) 7 B

E?‘EE Iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\$&.%§ﬁ‘; o FIRFRER

ﬁE ﬁﬁ"“ﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁf’@“%{(tﬁzf'T)%’E#’f

Z‘k‘ko

PEAIRZERERAR

A T

R -FFERS
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34.

35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(d) Currency risk (continued)

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes
in foreign exchange rates over the period until
the next annual reporting date. Results of
the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on
each of the group entities’ profit or loss for the
year and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into RMB at
the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting
period for presentation purposes.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
equity attributable to owners of the Company of
RMB95,663,000 only, comprising share capital and
reserves.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts,
which includes the loans due to shareholders and the
loans due to a director, cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves. The Group’s
risk management reviews the capital structure actively
and regularly. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing
ratio. The ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total equity. Net debt is calculated as total debt less
cash and cash equivalents.

The Group was in a net debt position as at 31
December 2021. The Group’s gearing ratio, as
calculated by dividing the Group’s net debt by the
Group’s total equity, as at 31 December 2021 is
approximately 20.68% (2020: 16.35%).
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35. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State
A SRR

for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

35. EAXREE(HE)

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as RRERR - EEBELERNT -
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFTT
Debt (%7 25,879 22,415
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREeEEY 6,126 11,379
Net debt BEBIFRE 19,753 11,036
Equity s 95,508 67,494
Net debt to equity ratio B FREE LR 20.68% 16.35%
FEAEERERAT T FFEHRS
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the year ended 31 December 2021
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. BMEEDELNSEHR

Shareholders’ Director’s Lease
loans loans liabilities Total
BRREX ESEX HEEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARBEFTT ARETT
(note 30)
(Hf30)
At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZF—F—H 8,105 1,254 2,574 11,933
Changes from cash flows: RenegE
Proceeds from shareholders’ REREET
loans 26,856 - - 26,856
Repayment of shareholders’ BEREET
loans (12,750) - - (12,750)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEMHESE - - (1,072) (1,072)
Total changes from financing BERSREZHAT
cash flows 14,106 - (1,072) 13,034
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXGH s wE
changes 974 (76) (74) (1,124)
Other changes: Hib2g
Interest expenses FERE - - 253 253
Addition of lease liabilities MIEHEAR - - 944 944
Total other changes HinZees (974) (76) 1,123 73
At 31 December 2020 and RZBZZE+-A=1—H
1 January 2021 k=Z&-—-%—-A—H 21,237 1,178 2,625 25,040
Changes from cash flows: Reng#
Proceeds from shareholders’ RERERER
loans 2,000 - - 2,000
Proceed from director’s ROEEEHN
loans - 2,044 - 2,044
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERE - - (498) (498)
Total changes from financing BERSREEHAT
cash flows 2,000 2,044 (498) 3,546
Effect of foreign exchange rate EEREE  HE
changes (547) (33) (16) (596)
Other changes: Hin2s)
Transfer to other payables BRZHMENTIR - - (1,709) (1,709)
Interest expenses FERE - - 138 138
Total other changes HuZees (547) (33) (1,587) (2,167)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-A=1+—H 22,690 3,189 540 26,419
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38.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

37.

=AN =4

wRE BT ER
for the year ended 31 December 2
BE-Z-_-H+-A=1+—-RALFE

BREE

REBNRERRAEBATEAEIE :

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-THF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREET T ARBET T

Contracted, but not provided BRT4) - R ARETIE R R 25,300 52,300

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Acquisition of shareholding interests in a
subsidiary involving the issue of consideration
shares under specific mandate

On 1 December 2021, Beijing Chuangju Shi Dai
Cultural Communication Limited (the “Vendor”), the
Company and Beijing Emphasis Media Company
Limited (the “Purchaser”), an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the equity
transfer agreement, pursuant to which the Vendor
has conditionally agreed to sell and the Purchaser
has conditionally agreed to acquire, 10% equity
interests of Yiju Creative at the consideration
of RMB2,112,900, which will be settled by the
allotment and issue of the consideration shares by
the Company to the Vendor or its nominee(s) at the
issue price on the completion date. The transaction is
completed on 31 January 2022.

38.

BREPRER
WEEESRRESHRERTRERS

NZZE-—F+-F—H  tRABERCERE
BRARER]) - ARAEAFRERNREES
RARIIEAR] AAAR—HEEZENBAR)
RIN TRREEEDE Bl BEABKRHERELES
BEEFBERHERESZRAZ10%EE  REAAR
#2,112,9007C * BEHAAFRTHKBHAMETR
FHRBALETERENETREROHFRE
o WX HERBE-_—F—H=+—H5K o

REMEERARAT T GFEERS
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clal Summary
SE

A summary of the consolidated results and assets, AEBBETRARMBRFEENGAEEEREE  BF  Ex
liabilities, equity and non-controlling interests of the Group NIl EZ &5
for the last 5 financial years is set out below:
Year ended 31 December
BZE+=-A=+—HLEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—E—+F —T-N\F ZE-NF TTF ZBZ-F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARETRT ARETT ARBTT AR%¥Tx
Continuing
operations
RESULTS E
Turnover ] 20,085 15,365 48,124 45,664 59,307
Profit/(loss) before BRETSRATE R,
income tax (E18) (79,980) (68,014) 45 20,132 25,425
Income tax (expense)/credit  FTSH(FIs),”
iige) 189 (4,627) (260) (76) (1,929)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREH, (E8) (79,791) (72,641) (219) 20,056 23,496
Attributable to: &G -
Owners of the Company RATHEB A (73,292) (72,286) (95) 20,003 23,561
Non-controlling interests IR A (6,499) (355) (120) 53 (65)
(79,791) (72,641) (215) 20,056 23,496
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—T—+F —T-)N\F ZT-NF —ZTTF ZBZ-F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARETRT ARETT ARBTT AR¥TxR
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND ¥E - &R
NON-CONTROLLING TR RS
INTERESTS
Total assets BEME 129,965 130,299 188,816 223,075 244,485
Total liabilities BfEesE (24,389) (90,558) (150,852) (155,675) (148,977)
Net assets BEFE 105,576 39,741 37,964 67,400 95,508
Non-controlling interests FERE A T (3,179) (3,116) 154 94 155
Equity attributable to the RATHEBA
owners of the Company JE{h R 102,397 36,625 38,118 67,494 95,663

The above summary does not form a part of the
consolidated financial statements of the Company.
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